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Established in 1996, Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. is a leader in the
packaged drinking water and beverage industry in the PRC. Our
major products include packaged drinking water, tea beverage,
functional beverage, juice beverage and agricultural products. The
Company was transformed from a limited liability company into a
joint stock company with limited liabilities in June 2001 and listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in September
2020 (stock code: 9633. HK).

We believe in offering natural and healthy products and insist on
using high quality raw materials. All of our packaged drinking water
products are sourced from quality natural water sources containing
natural mineral elements. We possess industry-leading equipment,
manufacturing capabilities, strong supply chain management
capabilities and rigorous quality assurance systems.

We have established dual growth engines, packaged drinking water
and beverage and set up a nationwide sales network covering all
provinces, municipalities and prefecture-level administrative divisions
across China. We implement a multi-brand strategy, have long-term
visions for our brands and strong brand communication capabilities,
and have built a super brand in the PRC soft beverage market.

2 / BRIREHHERAE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

4 2024 Annual Report



Bx

DEFINITIONS

[2023FERRAE |
“2023 AGM”

[2024F ERRAE |
“2024 AGM”

[REER R ERE ]
“Articles of Association”

or “Articles”

34

“Board”

[HE
“China” or “PRC”

[ZAnE S BRILER ]
“Company” or “Nongfu
Spring”

[ DB IR B2 =]
“Company Law” or “PRC
Company Law”

[HERRAR R
“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”

[{gEER<FA)]
“Corporate Governance
Code”

[E=]
“Director(s)”

[mER]

“Domestic Shares”

[ZIRBE ]
“Global Offering”

[BEEAMRE
“Hong Kong Public
Offering”

F Rz 2024 Annual Report

RAFN20244E5 521 B BRMEEBREAS
the annual general meeting of the Company held on May 21, 2024

AARHR20256 208 (2B =) BRMNFERREAZ
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, May 20, 2025

ARATR LT B EERB A RER (&R
the articles of association of the Company, as amended, which was effective on the Listing Date

RARESS

the board of Directors of the Company

REARKNE  SAFEREMS - TEEEE  RFRAE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this annual report, Hong Kong, Macau and

Taiwan

EXILRBMARAT - R199649 A26 RiRET BIERR I 2 BN AR AR
Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. (XL R HERAT), a joint stock company with limited liabilities established
under the laws of the PRC on September 26, 1996

FEARKMBARE - ETRHER] « s AEK M SR
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (R % A F £ F1[E A &)3%), as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

ABCETRANDFE T ARE - HERRTERELEE

has the meaning ascribed under the Listing Rules and refers to Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang

CETRBDHIERCIK R EE AR

Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

RRARES

director(s) of the Company

RAFRAFEREEARBOATHLER - UARBREILHE

ordinary Shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO0.1 each, which are

subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi

BEAREEREREE

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
RIEFRERENRBRBARGHRGHZEEE(ZNLLAT  EESRFBEREE
EFBBRERMEBTBRRALRE (TR 2R ENRE Pt h X AE)

the offering of the Hong Kong offer shares for subscription by the public in Hong Kong (subject to adjustment

R 5 E )R

as described in “Structure of the Global Offering”) at the offer price (plus brokerage, SFC transaction levies
and Hong Kong Stock Exchange trading fee), on and subject to the terms and conditions described in the

Prospectus and the application forms

RXWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 3
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= DEFINITIONS

[ERPREE

“International Offering”

[ A& M =kl #1m
“Group”, “the Group”,

“we” or “us”

THAR ]
“H Share(s)”

[ &8 ]

“Hangzhou Youfu”

&%)
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[(&#E LRI IS
[{EmRAN]
“Hong Kong Listing

Rules” or “Listing Rules”

[ B B3P IR0 B33 A
“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange” or “Stock

Exchange”

(BYE=7
“independent third
party(ies)”

[BREBHESR 175
“Purchasing Framework

Agreement”

[ EL 7 B 3 I 080 AR A
HEZR 17555 |

“Basic R&D and Test
Service Framework

Agreement”

BXRIREHBERAS] NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

B B SH P AR IR S B B FA SR I SE BIRIMNABE R 22 5 77 2 R AE K BIR AR IR 58 144A RS R BB 50A R
MEMERREASEREUBERREECEREVLERARBERN

the offering of the international offering shares by the international underwriters at the offer price outside
the United States in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S and in the United States to
qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A or any other available exemption from the registration

requirements under the U.S. Securities Act

ARBIREMBRR(FIEXEMT - BARAREEA—RAZRMBLRF]) » SHXEFRE - AIHAR
AR REREITE A BB R AR A BRI = M2 S B AR - B E AR R AR A R A B AR

the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more of its subsidiaries, as the content
may require), or where the context so requires, in respect of the periods before the Company became the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were subsidiaries of the Company at

the relevant time

RARRAHHREEAREKOITHRII EHIINER - LVETEE - WHREBKRZM LT
overseas listed foreign Shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO.1 each,

which are traded in HK dollars and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

MNRREEEERAR AT 12009412 A14 AR IEFBIAEK M 2 BRETAF]
REEENRRIAERMEELERE

Hangzhou Youfu Enterprise Management Company Limited ({1l KB 2E R AR A7), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on December 14, 2009, which is a shareholder of

CEEREATES

Yangshengtang and wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan as of the Latest Practicable Date

FEEERFIITTHE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

BBMERSMARATES EMRA - KRBT - fFts AR R

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended,

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEMERHBR AT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

KIEH— 6 BERBMESHA - WIHAARBEALTHAL
party(ies) who are not connected persons of the Company as far as our Directors are aware after having

made all reasonable enquiries

RAF 202058 A12H B8 4 = 5] U AERBIE R &
the purchasing framework agreement entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang on August 12, 2020

NN AIFR20206°8 A 12 H BE A4 5 o K 2 BB A B & 4 2 R B IR 7T T T S o9 ELHER B SR AR AR TS HE 22
i

the basic R&D and test service framework agreement entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang and
its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research on August 12, 2020

4 2024 Annual Report



[R&ATEA]

“Latest Practicable Date”

[
“Listing”

[EH B
“Listing Date”

[<EESFA ]
“Model Code”

[T EREBAE 2R 12 8
“New Purchasing

Framework Agreement”

[ 587 EL R Y 3% B AU PR A%
HE2R %

“New Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework
Agreement”

[ B ERE AR

“Over-allotment Option”

[BRER ]

“Prospectus”

r4.

“province”

[#RE R
“Reporting Period”

[AR#]

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[ B4
“Share(s)”

F Rz 2024 Annual Report

£ DEFINITIONS

202554 B21H - BIZARF RIS ENATpLAEE AR P T IR &2 AT1T H B
April 21, 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained

in this annual report prior to its publication

HARPA B BEE ST E IR B
listing of the H Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

ARATHRNE BB LM REERBEERNB A - /20206F9H8R (28 =)
Tuesday, September 8, 2020, the date on which our H Shares are listed and from which dealings therein are

permitted to take place on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

CEMARADMIERC FTHEIT AEFETE SRR HHFLESTRI
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers under Appendix C3 to the Listing

Rules

ANAFEE A B ERBIEL R B EN2022F 12 A14R BE R AT HIREIEL 2
the purchasing framework agreement renewed and entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang on

December 14, 2022 based on the original Purchasing Framework Agreement

RAREBEZRE2EMBRABEERANEYARAELRHE LBURBERGROER - B
20224F12 A14 H S8 I AT 3L A0 ELRE A 2 S iR R FSAE 2R

the basic R&D and test service framework agreement renewed and entered into by the Company with
Yangshengtang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research on December 14, 2022
based on the original Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement

ARRRTERBHEAEREE - ABEZRBAA(RKEREHERE) RIZERSHHETE - BEALQF)
AR E B 31T 4 $£58,234,60008 BN - LA(E R EE) M EEE R EBES IR (WHE) (B
BIRMER)

option granted by the Company to the International Underwriters, exercisable by the Joint Global Coordinators
(on behalf of the International Underwriters) pursuant to the International Underwriting Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company may be required to allot and issue up to an aggregate of 58,234,600 additional H Shares
at the Offer Price to, among other things, cover over-allocations in the International Offering, if any (as defined

in the Prospectus)

KRR EBAFAREMN2020F8 A25H FIEMRIRER
the prospectus issued by the Company on August 25, 2020 in connection with the Hong Kong Public Offering

B HINNEME - ERERRIFETRBNEREENEED
a province or, where the context requires, a provincial level autonomous region or municipality, under the
direct supervision of the central government of the PRC

202441 A1B 52024412 A31 A Hif
the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024

PEVEEEBARE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

RARRAH EREEAREOATH EEAR
ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO.1 each

BXRIURZBEMRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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= DEFINITIONS

!
“Shareholder(s)”

[HEAR]

“subsidiary(ies)”

(&=

“Supervisor(s)”

(=g

“Supervisory Committee”

[BEE]
“Yangshengtang”

[EEE£E ]
“Yangshengtang Group”

[BEERABEYHEM]
“YST Natural Medicine

Research”

[ %]

LL7AY

[ESGESZ=PN

holder(s) of the Shares

BREBBEGIFE22E( A RHEHDMI R FTERE

has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 1 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the law of Hong

Kong)

RRAEESE
supervisor(s) of the Company

RNRRESEE
supervisory committee of the Company

BEEERAT - BM1998F3F12BRIBFREVAEKR I AREELRA - HEKEAIITHE - AIERKRR
WHEMREE T ERE (BIEEEERB.38B EBMMAE(RERRETETERA) HENREER
1.62%)

Yangshengtang Co., Ltd. (&4 Z B[R A 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC
on March 12, 1993, which was a Controlling Shareholder and wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan (including
98.38% direct interest and 1.62% indirect interest through Hangzhou Youfu, which is wholly owned by Mr.

Zhong Shanshan) as of the Latest Practicable Date

BEEZRAMBAR
Yangshengtang and its subsidiaries

AL EAERAENNEMBRAT - R19994F10 528 ARBEFEAEKR L2 AREI AT HEREA
TR REEENZENRBALR

Zhejiang Yangshengtang Natural Medicine Research Company Limited (418 4 % XA B4R 5 FT A IR &
7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on October 28, 1999, which is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang as of the Latest Practicable Date

ADt
percentage

6 / BXRIWREZBAERAS] NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD. 3} 2024 Annual Report
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SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 9633)

LISTING DATE
September 8, 2020

REGISTERED OFFICE AND HEAD OFFICE

No.181 Geyazhuang
Xihu District
Hangzhou, Zhejiang
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room F, 6/F, CNT Tower
338 Hennessy Road
Wan Chai

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.nongfuspring.com

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman and General Manager)
Ms. Wu Limin

Mr. Xiang Xiansong

Mr. Rao Minghong (appointed on May 21, 2024)

Ms. Han Linyou

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi
Ms. Xue Lian (resigned on May 21, 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang
(resigned on March 17, 2025)
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob
Mr. Lu Yuan

RXWSRBHHBMAST NONGFU SPRING Co.,LTD. /7
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SUPERVISOR COMMITTEE

Ms. Yu Minyu (Chairman)
(appointed on May 21, 2024)
Mr. Liu Xiyue
Mr. Jiang Xiaodong (appointed on May 21, 2024)
Ms. Liu Min (resigned on May 21, 2024)
Mr. Rao Minghong (resigned on May 21, 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Linyou
Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie (retired on February 13, 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Stanley Yi Chang (Chairman)
(resigned on March 17, 2025)

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Mr. Lu Yuan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lu Yuan (Chairman)
Mr. Zhong Shanshan
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman)
Mr. Lu Yuan
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

(resigned on March 17, 2025)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Han Linyou
Ms. Wu Limin

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Hangzhou Yangbatou Branch
Agricultural Bank of China Hangzhou Branch

China Construction Bank Zhijiang Branch

Bank of China Zhejiang Branch

China Everbright Bank Hangzhou Branch

4 2024 Annual Report



BREEERD
[EE ST AN BT P

BRAb T 488 P 1R D SR A AT

EBPRIR
AT E 1857
B KEI401E

FEIEEER

I RMBRRABEEMEIEET
a3

Emm

SHfG [

BRI 779
ZEZR L3R E FTIE4E

RIMEELRT

LK EISAT
MEGEAD
A B S E B R ERED
BB

BIFOBXR2EI79%
R — o7&

BREE

REGHMEBR(FREBER)

FREY

TR

ke

5T 3136657 2 B A EBEE

HAR B 048 B & 5B
EBPREBEEELHR AT
HE

T

SR ANER1835

AR LTITMIE1712-1716F

F Rz 2024 Annual Report

AF]E R CORPORATE INFORMATION

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISOR

Eric Chow & Co. in Association with Commerce & Finance Law Offices
3401 Alexandra House

18 Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

PRC LEGAL ADVISOR

Jingtian & Gongcheng

34th Floor, Tower 3, China Central Place
77 Jianguo Road

Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

OVERSEAS AUDITOR

Ermnst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

DOMESTIC AUDITOR

Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP

Tower B, China Resources Building, 1366 Qianjiang Road
Shangcheng District

Hangzhou, Zhejiang

PRC

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17M Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

RXWSRBHHMAST NONGFU SPRING o, LTD. /9
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BZ12A31BILEE
Year Ended December 31,
2020F 20214 20226 2023%F
2020 2021 2022 2023

AREBEL AREBEEL ARKEEL ARKEER
RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million

Wegs REVENUE 22,877 29,696 33,239 42,667 42,896
e GROSS PROFIT 13,508 17,656 19,095 25,407 24,916
B TSR AR A PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 6,986 9,354 11,050 15,688 15,788
FTigfiEY Income tax expense (1,709) (2,192) (2,555) (3,609) (3,665)
EERF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 5,277 7,162 8,495 12,079 12,123
NEEA AEEET Profit attributable to
owners of the parent 5,277 7,162 8,495 12,079 12,123
ARET ARET AR ARET AR¥T
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
SR EAZF Earnings per share 0.483 0.637 0.756 1.074 1.078
BZ12A31BILEE
Year Ended December 31,
2020F 20214 20224 2023%F
2020 2021 2022 2023

AREBEL ARBEEL ARKEEL AREKEER
RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million

BEE Total assets 25,859 32,896 39,255 49,137 53,160
BeE Total liabilities 10,367 12,154 15,171 20,566 20,873
BEREE Total equity 15,492 20,742 24,084 28,571 32,287
Be RiRITHEH Cash and bank balances 9,119 14,784 15,211 24,125 10,722
RE(BE),/EEFE  Curent (iabiities)/assets, net 2,367 6,247 3,760 8,585 (913)

10 / BXILRBEHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD. 44§ 2024 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EMEELIR

C024FHREXRILNERTFEAN—F o F
I R E T S ERFINEERES -
2024 F AR B RGBS AR 42,806 5
BT Hh2023FER0.5% @ BEEIBIE R
IRIFTE28.3% M1 THBILKTF » 2024F A&
BSNREAARGEFBEAEARE12,1238
B (kB — N EEEERBNIBREAA
R¥12,036 B 8 7r) + BH2023F EAFEF o

ERAEE024FEEEN  EFZH
ERRDTEERITH04FEREAES
FRRBEEZ2024F12 A31H IEFE R
ReREFRAREO 767 (KR EHA
R¥8547TABTT) ©

2024%F - REERB LR T AAER - &
IR R B AR TR AR AN IR EE - RR ISR AE mm T
REBEXTELMENZSR - B 58MEEE
AMERWE - RMERTERRURELDH
KEMERME - ZANERKAKERD
MEXRZET=AANKETE 258K
RAKERWE NBT21.3%  EBINARE
TEIBRKAKTSEERE—NUE - &
EHARFFIELEHE LRI ALER -
HE—TEE T RXIUREREKRILMED
EARIRBHES o FE - HPIRRSEE
mEXHELHBEENRAMEE - APER
KBTS EEBRBAEAL - RRBRBIRE
MESAREBEREZRON —@N51ZE - K
K B SEEERERMERINTNRES
TIRIFT - AR TRAOIFRILEE -

S - PTG EEE R E A PR BERE
wrt - EREESEEER - EEAR - BEA
RINEFITEFR B AN AR EER LR
RPN R IR A A T AR B
HEIREBEENEF L REAIFAAY -

F Rz 2024 Annual Report

Dear shareholders,

2024 was an extraordinary year for Nongfu Spring. Our brand
experienced unprecedented assault and trial. The Group recorded a
total revenue of RMB42,896 million in 2024, representing an increase
of 0.5% as compared to 2023. Overall profit/loss ratio maintained its
industry-leading position at 28.3%. Profit attributable to the owners
of the parent amounted to RMB12,123 million in 2024 (RMB12,036
million after deducting one-time non-operating gains and losses),
remaining generally flat as compared with 2023.

In light of the Group’s operations in 2024, the Board will recommend
the distribution of a final cash dividend of RMBO0.76 per share for
the year ended December 31, 2024 at the forthcoming 2024 annual
general meeting (the “2024 AGM”) of the Company (amounting to a
total dividend of approximately RMB8,547 million).

In 2024, the Company was under sustained and organized
smearing attacks for a long period of time, and our brand image
went through a historical test. This rummaging public opinion
attack nevertheless proved the superiority of Nongfu Spring’s water
sources and product quality. Even though the market share of our
packaged water products declined for 3 straight months and the full
year corresponding revenue was down for 21.3%, our packaged
water products’ market share firmly stands at No. 1. Within the
Reporting Period, our water source at Huangshan, Anhui started
the initial operation, further solidifying our leading advantage in
wide distribution of quality water sources. At the meantime, our tea
beverage products gained more consumer reception and fondness
— taking a leading position in its product category, making it another
strong engine ensuring and advancing our groups’ growth. Going
forward, we will continue to pursue improvement and innovation
in product R&D technology and evolve toward a R&D oriented
enterprise in the beverage industry.

In addition, we will continue to deepen our efforts in agricultural
collaboration. We will leverage our successful experience in
facilitating rural revitalization and agriculture modernization through
cooperation and industrialization, in which we pioneered in Gannan
for navel oranges, in Xinjiang for apples, and in Hengzhou, Guangxi
for jasmine flowers etc., and expand the cooperation projects into
tea farming and other agricultural areas.

RXIWRBHHRAZ NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.  / 11
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Looking into the future, we will remain committed to the ambition of
becoming a world-class enterprise with international horizon, and
actively seek market development opportunities overseas, bringing
to the world more healthy products that are built on China’s bio-
diversity advantage. Looking through the 28-year history of Nongfu
Spring, | believe that our experience and capability acquired through
past competitions and the Nongfu Spring team’s core strength of
indomitable tenacity and bold innovation will be the cornerstone to
advance to overseas markets and will sustain us to a brighter future.

Last but not least, | want to take this opportunity to thank all our

employees, distributors, partners, and our farmer fellows — thank you
for striving together with us; thank you for marching along with us.

Zhong Shanshan
Chairman

Hangzhou, the People’s Republic of China
March 25, 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RERITERE

20247 - BIRRIRIB SR ARG E - R
EBRERDS  wEBRERME S IREE
EME - mEINTBAINA ~ AZBREEIE %
R FERRIR S - BBGETREE S - iR
NE - BhaE TTERRBZIEFESR -
BB EEIR T MR o RIBEIRSE R
BMEEER 2024 F REBRANEELE
(GDP)EE| A RHEE134.98 87T » BN W
1308 187T + b EFIERS.0% « BB ELR
EREBERIRE (I - 2024FHIHHE
REFEE  2FH2HERTEEBEARE
48.8B1BIL ' b EFIERE.5% ©
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MACRO AND INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

In 2024, the world’s development was encumbered by a complex
and challenging global landscape characterized by weak momentum
in world economic growth, escalating geopolitical conflicts and
intensified trade protectionism. Despite increased external pressures
and internal challenges, China’s economy demonstrated resilience
under pressures, overcame difficulties, and achieved steady progress
while successfully achieving its major development targets and new
breakthrough in economic aggregate. According to the National
Bureau of Statistics, China’s GDP for 2024 reached RMB134.9
trillion, breaking through the threshold of RMB130 ftrillion for the
first time, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.0%. China’s
economic aggregate firmly remained the second largest in the
world. In 2024, market consumption remained growing momentum,
with total retail sales of consumer goods reached RMB48.8 trillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 3.5%.

In 2024, the food and beverage industry in China picked up, with
the national total output of beverage amounted to 188.2 million tons,
representing a year-on-year increase of 6.3%. With the development
of diversified consumer demands, the beverage market has seen a
further increase in the number of new products. According to the
Article Numbering Center of China, in 2024, there was 21.639 million
new consumer products in China, representing a year-on-year
increase of 14.1% and involving 323,000 enterprises. In particular,
there was 496,000 new beverage products, representing a year-on-
year increase of 17.8%.

On July 1, 2024, the Regulation on the Implementation of the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests came into effect, aiming to create a safe and
reliable consumer environment, establish and refine a common
governance system for the protection of consumer rights and
interests where operators abide by the law, the industry exercises
self-discipline, consumers participate, the government regulates and
the society supervises. In October 2024, the State Administration
for Market Regulation has been soliciting opinions from society
on the “Dosage Forms and Technological Requirements for
Healthcare Food Filing (2024 Edition) (Draft for Comments)” and
the “Requirements on Usable Ingredients and Their Use for Filed
Healthcare Foods (2024 Edition) (Draft for Comments)”, which
involve the addition of healthcare foods in beverage dosage forms for
filing-based management, which is bound to promote the innovative
development of functional healthcare food and beverage.

RXWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 13
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2024 - NEFPEHESWFHT AR In 2024, the Group recorded annual revenue of RMB42,896 million,
42896 H B JT © W2023F K 0.5% » E  representing an increase of 0.5% as compared to 2023, among
o BESAKERNEEARUERLLT]  which, the proportion of revenue from packaged drinking water
BB7.0% - SRE S LazERH]  products to total revenue was 37.2% and the proportion of revenue
B62.0% o NEHIAEBENRFIREREEE from beverage product to total revenue was 62.0%. The following

AR B U ER TG AU s LE IR 4R table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue from each product
category and their percentage of total revenue for the periods
indicated:

BZ12A31ALLEE
Year Ended December 31,

202345 F
2023
AR (SRt rGn
(B&TT) ANt
Percentage
EmER RMB of total
Product Category (million) revenue
BESBKE R 15,952 37.2% 20,262 47.5%
Packaged drinking water products
REREHE 16,745 39.0% 12,659 29.7%
Tea beverage products
THEEER K i 4,932 11.5% 4,902 11.5%
Functional beverage products
SOTEREIEm 4,085 9.5% 3,533 8.3%
Juice beverage products
Hofth 7 n (3T 1,182 2.8% 1,311 3.0%
Other products (note)
&&F Total 42,896 100.0% 42,667 100.0%

Mzt EhE RFEBFEHRITKEE - S RmEKE Note: Other products primarily include other beverage products such as soda

B fEE AR - UNuEERE  FEE A EREE water beverage, sparkling flavored beverage, lemon juice beverages, coffee
HugrtlER MERSEER - beverage, plant-based protein beverage, and agricultural products such as

fresh fruits.
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Packaged drinking water products

Since the end of February 2024, our brand and sales have been
severely impacted in a negative way due to a surge of online attacks
and malicious defamation against our Company and its founder.
The buzz abated gradually in the second half of the year, but with
lingering effect on sales, particularly on packaged drinking water
products. In 2024, revenue from packaged drinking water products
of the Group was RMB15,952 million, representing a decrease of
21.3% as compared with the same period of last year, accounting
for 37.2% of the total revenue.

Since March 2024, we have revealed the truth to the public by
every possible means. In addition to official clarification, the Group’s
founder Mr. Zhong Shanshan stepped into the spotlight with
exclusive interviews in two episodes of CCTV Dialogue in August
and December 2024 and appearance at the media conference
in Ganzhou in November 2024. On these occasions, Mr. Zhong
Shanshan shared Nongfu Spring’s unremitting efforts of years in
agricultural business, directly responded to controversial issues,
struck back at internet violence, and earned the respect and
recognition of the public with facts and sincerity, demonstrating the
image of Nongfu Spring and himself in staying objective and truthful
to the public. During the Reporting Period, we remained devoted to
legal action to hold rumormongers accountable, with certain rumor-
mongering accounts prosecuted by the appropriate administrative
law-enforcement agencies, and the law-enforcement and judicial
authorities have also launched legal proceedings against certain
responsible entities with serious circumstances to pursue their
liabilities. In the future, our pursuit of justice will never cease.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRINGCO.,LTD. / 15
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In April 2024, we relaunched purified drinking water product, with
a view to help consumers more clearly distinguish between purified
water and natural water. Purified water, free of mineral elements,
offers a cleaner taste, while natural water, enriched with natural
minerals, is better suited for long-term consumption. We also
introduced the slogan “green bottle is a bit sweet and red bottle is
healthier (4%)fiA Bh& + AR f25E)”. Our purified water product is
made of the same high-quality natural water sources as our natural
water product. For the purified water, we’ve opted to offer only a
single package size of 550ml.

In December, to deepen consumers’ appreciation of our high-quality
water sources, we re-launched 380ml and 550ml| “Nongfu Spring”
packaged natural drinking water products with fresh new looks. The
new looks incorporated real-life pictures of the unique ecological
landscapes of Nongfu Spring’s 12 major water sources, vividly
showcasing the beauty and charm of such sources. This creative
update reinforced the “natural and healthy” brand philosophy, and
underscored consumers’ perception that every drop of Nongfu
Spring has premium-quality water sources with visual journeys. To
date, we have established twelve major water sources across the
country, including spring water from Mount Emei in Sichuan, Mount
Taibai in Shaanxi, Wuling Mountains in Guizhou, Huangshan in Anhui,
Wuyishan in Fujian and Damingshan in Guangxi, deep lake reservoir
water from Qiandao Lake in Zhejiang, Wanlv Lake in Guangdong,
Danjiangkou in Hubei, deep underground water from Manas in
Tianshan, Xinjiang, and naturally springing water and mineral water
from Changbai Mountains in Jilin and the Greater Khingan Mountains
in Heilongjiang.

4R 2024 Annual Report
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In January 2024, we launched a new 19-liter PET barreled “Nongfu
Spring” natural drinking water product. This product is also derived
from high-quality natural water sources, and the barrels made of PET
material are disposable packages, which are safe and convenient,
providing a better service experience for end customers and
consumers. In December, we made a new offering available in the
market, the 380ml “Nongfu Spring” Changbai Mountains Natural
Mineral Water ( [ /2XK|ILZR | 380mIZE & H X AR R IK), which was
originated from the water source of Changbai Mountains, relying on
the mountain treasures to serve the whole country and offering more
premium alternatives to consumers.

In February, we also launched a new product, “Nongfu Spring” edible
ice, for highlighting the advantages of natural water sources with
the product concept of “good water makes good ice (4F7K H 4F k).
Ice is made from water, the new form of edible ice has brought new
vitality to “Nongfu Spring” brand, and opened up a new scenario for
co-consumption of ice and beverages. Currently, “Nongfu Spring”
edible ice has been launched in multiple convenience store chains in
14 cities across China, attracting many young consumers to try and
experience the product and sharing it widely on new media.

During the Chinese New Year of 2024, we continued our tradition of
launching an anniversary edition of zodiac version of natural mineral
water (glass bottled) in Chinese year of “Dragon” and released
an animated advertisement called “The Girl Who Dances with the
Dragon ( {£E& %) )”, touching the national sentiments and
bringing good wishes to the hearts of the people.
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Tea beverage products

With superb taste and premium quality, the Group’s tea beverage
products were accepted and complimented by a wider group
of consumers, and continued to maintain rapid growth in 2024,
recording a revenue of RMB16,745 million during the Reporting
Period, representing an increase of 32.3% as compared with the
same period of last year, accounting for 39.0% of the total revenue.
During the Reporting Period, “Longjing Spring Tea (BEH#r%%)”,
the special offering of “Oriental Leaf (B 5#Z)” for the spring
season, made its third return, being recognized and sought after
by consumers with great loyalty. In the Chinese New Year holiday,
“Oriental Leaf (32 754%)” 900ml series relaunched Oolong Tea
and Black Oolong Tea flavors and expanded drinking scenarios
with the slogan of “Drinking Tea Together in Chinese New Year
(@BF—FIBIFZE)”, unfolding the appeal of Chinese tea to a
wider group of consumers. Since May, “Oriental Leaf (& J515
##)” expanded brand recognition to a larger extent through a
package of initiatives, including close partnership with the hit show
“Singer 2024”, revitalization of the original inspiration “Traditional
Chinese tea, marvelous Oriental Leaf (§4H P EIZS » SRR
)" proposed at the launching of “Oriental Leaf (3 75 #1%)”
in 2011, commercial cut-in during the countdown to CCTV’s live
broadcast of Paris Olympics opening ceremony, and high-frequency
advertising throughout the Games. Furthermore, “Oriental Leaf (52
JT15E)” embraced autumn with “Osmanthus Oolong (FEFE & EE)” in
September, a product dedicated to growing acclaim, to attract new
consumers.

4 2024 Annual Report



EEEWES T MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

[ 2% JIMESR S B 3 QR SRAT TR
RIBERBERFLER  BUEBARXBRIM
& o RAREREDBEEREET - BKERR
K BRFITHREOERAR o A EER
BB e RE - RE - GURE - I
FOKLED - [Fr SEEGRSEERL
iR LA TN B R B
M B BE - TR AL TR
P - EEERET QWIS RIT A B i
EORARMRr LI TBEKGER  BTEE
AEERIBE00E A o BBHAK - INRAR
B r |IERORKRRERA - BBET
EE BRI EENE - RTTRIEEE -

%R 2024 Annual Report

—+

“Tea 1 (%n)” also launched a new flavor named “Jasmine Lemon
Tea GRFANIEEIZEZ)” in the Reporting Period, which meticulously
selected high-quality jasmine tea, allowing the floral and tea aromas
to be harmoniously blended. It also meticulously selected imported
premium lemon juice with a perfumed lemon flavor, restoring the
refreshing taste of handcrafted lemon. The encounter of jasmine
and lemon created a wonderful blend of floral, fruity and tea aromas.
Along with the launch of the new flavor, “Tea m (Z%m)” continued to
tell the brand stories about the bottle illustrations, and carried out
the “Tea m New Arrival (33 L#7)” themed traveling exhibition in
the landmark shopping districts of nine cities including Shanghai,
Hangzhou, Nanjing, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Wuhan, Chongqing,
Xi'an, and Chengdu, which was closely associated with the “Flying
Adventure (FR7T&7#8)” story on the bottle of the new flavor, with more
than 5 million people participating. The new flavor deepened the
public’s perception of “Tea m(Zn)” as a fruit-flavored tea category,
and reinforced the illustrated stories of “Tea m(Z<m)” through field
activations to enhance the brand value.
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Functional beverage products

In 2024, the Group recorded a revenue from functional beverage
products of RMB4,932 million, representing an increase of 0.6% as
compared with the same period of last year, accounting for 11.5% of
the total revenue.

In March 2024, “Scream (4=04)” launched two new flavors, milk
calcium type and theanine type, adding “Scream Factors” on top
of electrolytes: theanine, source from plants and power of tea; milk
calcium, source from natural cow’s milk and power of milk calcium.
By replenishing electrolytes, Scream shall keep going, injecting new
vitality into the brand’s 20th anniversary classic packaging. We also
penetrated into the sports community in colleges and universities
to enhance the brand’s sports image through activities such as the
“Scream New Flavors on the Court (42037 0K 18)” basketball
campus tour sampling, providing consumers with more product
choices. In August, “Scream (420l)” brought back its plant-based
“Ginseng Mixed Fruit Flavor (A 2184 RK)” for a limited time after
a 20-year hiatus. The exclusive release of 10,000 boxes sold out
in just 7 days online, and it dominated Tmall’s functional beverage
new product rankings for 4 straight days. Targeting salarymen, the
product launched a social media campaign themed “I Just Want
Scream With Reborn Ginseng (£ 2 $ R 484 0l)”, and sparking
emotional resonance among the group.

4 2024 Annual Report
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WEHAN [ HET | GMm/KEREFI4 During the Reporting Period, “Victory (h= )" Vitamin Water
i EBHE - MARIPT The Color Run  launched a rainbow vitamin-themed promotion and collaborated
2024 | & 1E - BEVEPINEBHERE ALEM  with the well-known IP The Color Run 2024 to provide vitamin
B o RS =E B VBDEKE  supplements to young people who love outdoor sports. Meanwhile,
EAE]EY  MEHEEFAFEEHEZERBE for the third year, it organized the “V-Break Dance Battle (VBDEIE
RESEERESR  EIRNRIEEM o 1o - EEEAE)”, working with street dancers to continuously promote the
RMBEFEREESHELSHMEIBERE  trendy and energetic brand attributes within the street dance circle.
BEHREN A A | RIRE R - A7 AMEERER  Additionally, we collaborated with break-dancer Liu Qingyi to create
B EHG  ZERMESHER - %/t a dynamic brand video “Vitamins Anytime, Anywhere (5 5[5 1 1
EEmIRE IR o H 4 fth#5)”, which was released in July to coincide with the Olympic
excitement, showcasing the brand’s sporting genes and highlighting
the functional features.

R
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Juice beverage products

In 2024, the Group’s juice beverage products have been revitalized
through product innovation and upgrades, recording a revenue of
RMB4,085 million, representing an increase of 15.6% as compared
with the same period of last year, accounting for 9.5% of the total
revenue.

During the navel orange harvest season in Gannan in December
2024, our “Nongfu Spring 17.5°” fresh orange juice made its debut
in Sam’s Club and quickly became a bestseller. During the Spring
Festival this year, it topped the “New Products List” on the Sam’s
Club APP for several consecutive days and even reached the top
on the “Flavoured Juice List”. Benefiting from Nongfu Spring’s
investment in Asia’s largest integrated orange processing facility
in Xinfeng, Jiangxi, the product achieved juice extraction within 36
hours of harvest, presenting consumers with the freshest and most
natural fresh orange juice.

%R 2024 Annual Report
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During the Reporting Period, the “Farmer’s Orchard (ZXk R &)
completed the upgrading and return of its classic products including
100% tomato mixed fruit and vegetable juice and 100% carrot mixed
fruit and vegetable juice, in line with the current development trend
of pursuing cleaner and healthier juice products. It meticulously
selects high-quality large tomatoes matched with fresh-eating cherry
tomatoes, offering a rich, sweet and juicy flavor. It also meticulously
selects premium hybrid carrots that are extra sweet and flavorful.
The formula, raw materials, and process have all been upgraded.
No sugar or any additives are added, with O fat, O artificial flavors, O
preservatives and O artificial colors, the upgraded classic products
have gained keen attention and love from new and old consumers
since their launch for responding to consumers’ expectations with
better and healthier products.

The “Water Soluble C 100 (7X}&C100)” blended juice beverage
launched a new blood orange ([1#%) flavor in February to expand
the product flavor matrix and a Vitamin C-themed promotion has
also been initiated. Each bottle of “Water Soluble C 100 (/K)&
C100)” contains more than or equal to 100mg of Vitamin C, meeting
the daily requirement for an adult, and the blood orange flavor
representing the sunshine and fragrance brings vitality to the new
year.
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Other products

In 2024, the Group continued with the strategy of focusing on the
core items. Other products (mainly including soda water beverage,
sparkling flavored beverage, lemon juice beverages, coffee
beverage, plant-based protein beverage, and agricultural products
such as fresh fruits etc.) recorded a revenue of RMB1,182 million,
representing a decrease of 9.8% as compared with the same period
of last year, accounting for 2.8% of the total revenue.

During the Reporting Period, the “TANBING (7 R)" coffee launched
the sugar-free classic black coffee in 900ml large-sized bottle in
January. The product was made from dark roasted coffee beans
produced by Nongfu Spring’s own coffee roasting factory, with
0 sugar, O calories, 0 fat, O artificial flavors, and O instant coffee
powder, low in acidity and slightly bitter, pure black coffee with light
burden, roasted at over 200°C to bring out the full-bodied aroma
of the coffee and restore the original flavour of the coffee, which is
smooth and full-bodied. The launch of the product further expanded
the “TANBING (ixR)” sugar-free black coffee product matrix and
strengthened our brand image as a “sugar-free black coffee expert”.

We also introduced a fresh offering, “Coconut & Soy (#f&F)” plant-
based protein beverage, to the foodservice sector, featuring low fat,
zero trans fatty acid and coconut-soy complex plant protein, and
serving as a nutritious and tasty complement for any meal.

R&D and Innovation

The Group has been committed to the natural and healthy product
philosophy. As introduced above, in 2024, we continued to launch
more diversified product portfolios by meticulous sourcing of raw
materials and innovative production techniques, aiming to deliver
products with greater health benefits to meet consumers’ needs.

Meanwhile, we continue to deepen our efforts and explore new
frontiers in agricultural collaboration, achieving breakthroughs and
innovations along the way. Crossbreed fruit tree seedlings in nature
often carry multiple viruses. After years of dedication, we developed
virus-free navel orange seedlings in Gannan in 2023. Large-scale
propagation began in 2024, and we expect to supply virus-free
scions by 2025. These virus-free seedlings grow from a virus-free
state, resulting in stronger leaves and plants, higher fruit output,
greater disease resistance, and superior fruit quality and taste
compared to ordinary fruit trees.
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In our research to combat citrus yellow shoot disease, we
discovered through multiple studies that infected citrus trees
release volatile compounds distinct from those of healthy trees.
While these compounds remain indistinguishable by instruments,
dogs can detect the difference. As a result, we innovatively trained
working dogs to assist in identifying diseased trees. Experimental
data shows that trained detection dogs can identify infected trees
with an accuracy rate of 99%. In December 2023, in collaboration
with the China Working Dog Management Association and other
relevant bodies, Nongfu Spring established the first group standard
for Guidelines for Training and Using Working Dogs to Detect Citrus
Yellow Shoot Disease. By 2024, our team of detection dogs had
grown to 14.

Information system buildup

In 2024, to bolster and secure the Company’s strategic business
development and deployment, we employed the coding technology
to assign unique identities to each product, achieving comprehensive
sales, inventory and shelf-life management across the entire supply
chain, end-to-end from factories to distributors and retail outlets,
enhancing inventory turnover and ensuring product freshness,
thereby strengthening brand competitiveness. We refined the
application, technical and data architectures, and introduced Al
language models and intelligent algorithm modeling, enabling a highly
efficient, automated and intelligent marketing system operation,
boosting labor efficiency and productivity and ensuring stringent risk
management in operations.

Additionally, in 2024, the production and supply chain ends, guided
by the Company’s strategic development goals and the commitment
to superior customer service, integrated the artificial intelligence
(Al) technology into the existing digital and automated integration
systems that covered every terminal of the process from raw material
sourcing to production and sales, offering data-driven support to
decision-making by combining algorithms, solvers and computing
power. This digital transformation enabled smarter, more efficient
production and supply chain management, leading to improved
customer satisfaction, higher order fulfilment rates, and reduced
operational expenses.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following financial results are extracted from the audited
financial report of the Group prepared in accordance with the IFRS
Accounting Standards during the Reporting Period:

Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group recorded a revenue of RMB42,896 million in 2024,
representing an increase of 0.5% as compared with RMB42,667
million in 2023. In 2024, gross profit of the Group was RMB24,916
million, representing a decrease of 1.9% as compared with
RMB25,407 million in 2023. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s gross profit margin decreased by 1.4 percentage points
from 59.5% in the corresponding period of last year to 58.1%, which
was mainly due to the effect of the launch and promotion of purified
drinking water products newly launched to market, the increased
share of fixed costs resulting from the decreased sales of packaged
water products, and the increase in the prices of the raw materials of
juice.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

In 2024, sales and distribution expenses of the Group were
RMB9,173 million, representing a decrease of 1.2% as compared
with RMB9,284 million in 2023. Sales and distribution expenses
accounted for 21.4% of the total revenue, representing a decrease
of 0.4 percentage point as compared with 21.8% in 2023, which
was mainly because the logistics costs declined due to the change
of segment sales structure during the Reporting Period, though the
advertising and promotion expenses increased as compared with
the corresponding period of last year.

Administrative Expenses

In 2024, the administrative expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB1,962 million, representing a decrease of 9.3% as compared
with RMB2,162 million in 2023. Administrative expenses accounted
for 4.6% of the total revenue, representing a decrease of 0.5
percentage point as compared with 5.1% in 2023.

Other Income and Gains

In 2024, other income and gains of the Group amounted to
RMB2,129 million, accounting for 5.0% the of total revenue,
representing an increase of 15.6% as compared with RMB1,841
million in 2023, which was mainly due to the increase in government
grants received during the Reporting Period. During the Reporting
Period, exchange gains amounted to approximately RMB75 million.
As of December 31, 2024, the Group held HK$1,617 million, US$489
million and a small amount of other foreign currencies, which slightly
increased as compared with HK$1,536 million, US$462 million and
a small amount of other foreign currencies held on December 31,
2023.
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Finance Costs

During the Reporting Period, the finance costs of the Group slightly
decreased from RMB100 million in the corresponding period of last
year to RMB91 million.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the aforementioned changes, profit of the Group for
the year increased by 0.4% from RMB12,079 million in 2023 to
RMB12,123 million in 2024.

Dividends

Based on the Group’s overall performance in 2024, and having
accounted for, including but not limited to, the Group’s surplus,
overall financial condition and capital expenditures, the Board
proposed to declare a final cash dividend of RMBO0.76 per share
(inclusive of tax, amounting to a total dividend of approximately
RMB8,547 million) for the year ended December 31, 2024 at the
forthcoming 2024 AGM of the Company.

Long-term Bank Deposits, Pledged Deposits, Cash, Bank
Balances and Borrowings

As of December 31, 2024, the sum of long-term bank deposits,
pledged deposits, cash, and bank balances of the Group amounted
to RMB21,361 million, representing a decrease of 16.7% as
compared with RMB25,639 million as of December 31, 2023. The
total credit facility of the Group was RMB19,503 million and interest-
bearing borrowings amounted to RMB3,625 million as of December
31, 2024, representing an increase of 16.1% as compared with
RMB3,121 million as of December 31, 2023, with due repayment
of a total amount of RMB15,739 million as of December 31, 2024.
All of the borrowings are denominated in RMB. Among the total
borrowings as of December 31, 2024, no borrowings were charged
at a fixed interest rate (not including discount of bank acceptance
bills). The Group does not have any interest rate hedging policy.

Inventories

Due to the periodic stocking of agricultural raw materials, inventories
of the Group increased from RMB3,092 million as at December 31,
2023 to RMB5,013 miillion as at December 31, 2024. Accordingly,
inventory turnover days increased from 55.0 days as at December
31, 2023 to 82.3 days as at December 31, 2024.

Trade and Bills Receivables

Trade and bills receivables of the Group increased from RMB547
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB581 million as of December
31, 2024. The turnover days of trade and bills receivables increased
from 4.4 days as at December 31, 2023 to 4.8 days as at December
31, 2024.
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Trade and Bills Payables

As of December 31, 2024, the trade and bills payables of the Group
were RMB1,499 million, representing a decline as compared with
RMB1,770 million as of December 31, 2023. The turnover days of
trade and bills payables decreased from 33.8 days as at December
31, 2023 to 33.2 days as at December 31, 2024.

Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group (equaling
(interest-bearing borrowings + lease liabilities)/equity) was 11.6%
(during the Reporting Period, the Group has no minority equity),
representing a slight increase as compared with the gearing ratio of
the Group as at December 31, 2023 being 11.2%, mainly due to our
increased use of bills receivable financing.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group recorded net current liabilities
of RMB913 million, which was mainly due to our increase in long-
term (over one year) time deposit arrangements. As of December
31, 2024, the Group had long-term bank deposits of RMB10,631
million in Chinese Mainland, representing a significant increase as
compared with that of RMB1,511 million as at December 31, 2023,
among which, RMB10,631 million in long-term bank deposits could
be freely converted into cash as and when appropriate.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach for
its treasury policy to ensure that the Group’s liquidity structure
comprising assets, liabilities and other commitments is able to
always meet its capital requirements.

MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, there have been no material events
of the Group from December 31, 2024 until the date of this report.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As of December 31, 2024, the Group held HK$1,617 million,
US$489 million and a small amount of other foreign currencies. In
2024, exchange gains amounted to approximately RMB75 million.
The Group will closely monitor our foreign exchange risks and will
utilize appropriate financial instruments for hedging purposes when
necessary to help reduce foreign exchange risks.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB3,576 million as at December 31, 2024, mainly used for
construction of production plants and purchase of production
equipment.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at December 31, 2024, no assets of the Group were pledged by
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any significant
investments held, or any material acquisition or disposal of any
relevant subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the latest practicable date, save for the “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have
any existing plan for acquiring other material investments or capital
assets.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

From September 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date”) to December 31, 2024,
the Group has gradually utilised the proceeds from the initial public
offering for the intended purposes set out in the Prospectus.

The sum of IPO proceeds from the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and the net proceeds
from the full exercise of the over-allotment option (after deducting
underwriting fees and other related expenses) is approximately
HK$9,377 million. As of December 31, 2024, the Group has utilised
approximately HK$4,901 million of the proceeds for the intended
purposes set out in the Prospectus published by the Company,
accounting for 52.3% of all raised funds, and the remaining unutilised
proceeds are approximately HK$4,476 million. The balance of the
proceeds from the Listing will continue to be utilised according to the
purposes and proportions disclosed in the Prospectus.
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HFEmATER: See the table below for details:
#2024 E1L20244F
tHEE 12A31H 12A318 EAREAFEA
AREREE 2 ERCRAEE HRERTE BEERANEWE)
Actual net
Net proceeds amount Unutilised net Expected timeline
from the utilised upto amount up to for fully utilising
Listing December 31, December 31, unutilised
available 2024 2024 net amount (nhote)
(B¥EER) (B¥EE) (B¥ER)
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
MR RR 2,344 1,003 1,341 2026%F12A31H
Brand building December 31, 2026
BEHERE 2,344 371 1,973 2026%F12H31H
Purchasing sales equipment December 31, 2026
BEEERENIERE 1,875 1,439 436 20264F12H31H
Purchasing production facilities and December 31, 2026
building new factories
e IR 938 212 726 2026%12A31H
Strengthening fundamental capabilities December 31, 2026
EREN 938 938 0 @A
Repaying loans N/A
HARBDESMEM—REERE 938 938 0 MEA
Working capital and other general N/A
corporate purposes
45T Total 9,377 4,901 4,476  2026F12H31H

December 31, 2026
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Note: According to the 2023 annual report published by the Company on April
18, 2024, the balance of the proceeds from the Listing would continue
to be utilised according to the purposes and proportions disclosed in the
Prospectus. The expected timeline for utilizing unutilised net proceeds was
December 31, 2024. Due to the uncertainty of economic recovery in the
post epidemic era and the evolution of the new geopolitical situation, which
had certain impact on the Group’s operating environment, the Group has
adopted a steady and prudent development strategy in business expansion
and utilization of proceeds from the Listing. As a result, the overall progress
of the Group’s utilization of proceeds from the Listing has been delayed.
At the same time, thanks to the implementation of a prudent business
strategy, the Group maintained a relatively sufficient cash flows and
continued to utilize its self-owned capital for development of brand building
and purchase of sales equipment. In this regard, following the principle that
is in the best interest of the Company and shareholders as a whole, the
Board has approved a further extension of the expected timetable for the
utilization of proceeds from the Listing on August 27, 2024 and the gradual
utilization of proceeds from the Listing by the Company prior to December
31, 2026 for the purpose as disclosed in the Prospectus depending on the
market environment.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements are
prepared on a going concern basis.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are carried out primarily in the PRC, while
the Shares of the Company are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. The businesses operated by the Group are subject to the
laws of relevant jurisdiction in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the
year ended December 31, 2024 and as of the date of this report,
the Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in the applicable jurisdictions.
Specifically, as a manufacturer of packaged water and beverages,
the Group’s operations are subject to the applicable food safety and
environmental protection laws and regulations in the PRC. In 2024,
the Group did not have any material non-compliance with such laws
and regulations.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at December 31, 2024, the total number of employees of the
Group (including the Company and its subsidiaries) exceeded
20,000. In 2024, the total employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to RMB4,301 million. We have
formulated internal systems such as the Remuneration Management
Measures, Performance Management Measures and Long-term
Incentive Management System to implement the remuneration
management system of equal pay for equal work, ensure the
standardization of remuneration and performance management, and
continue to build up a competitive remuneration system in industry,
so as to provide the necessary safeguards for the attraction and
retention of high-quality talents.

The Group always believes that our long-term growth depends on
the expertise, experience and development of our employees. We
proactively optimize the talent selection and cultivation system in
order to improve the general competitiveness of our employees
and their sense of belongings to the Group. The remuneration and
benefits for employees of the Group are determined with reference
to the market standards as well as individual qualification and
experience, performance bonus and other incentive systems are
established. Performance bonuses are paid based on the Group’s
revenue and profit targets, as well as the performance of the
organisation in which the employee works and the performance
of the individual employee, and to recognise and encourage
outstanding contributions to the Group’s business. During the
Reporting Period, employees’ monetary income ranked among
the top level in the industry, making the overall remuneration policy
competitive.

In order to improve the Company’s incentive mechanism, retain
key employees and promote sustainable growth of the Company’s
performance, as approved in the extraordinary general meeting held
in January 14, 2022, the Company has adopted the employee share
incentive scheme in 2022 to incentivize management personnel and
core technical experts who play an important role in the Group’s
business performance and future development. According to the
employee share incentive scheme, the maximum number of H
Shares that the trustee can acquire and hold from time to time under
the employee share incentive scheme throughout the duration of the
employee share incentive scheme shall not exceed 5% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of adoption, and
without the approval by a special resolution at the general meeting,
the total number of H shares of the Company obtained by any
scheme participant through the employee share incentive scheme
shall not exceed 1% of the total share capital of the Company.
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In March 2022, the awards granted by the Company according to
the employee share incentive scheme correspond to 6,636,400 H
shares of the Company, accounting for 0.059% of the total issued
shares of the Company and 0.1318% of the issued H shares of
the Company. Pursuant to the provisions of the employee share
incentive scheme, the grant price under the grant of the awards is
30% of the average closing price of the Company’s H shares in the
120 Hong Kong trading days before the grant date, being HK$13.22
per award share, which has been fully paid by each of the scheme
participants before April 15, 2022. The 108 scheme participants
in the grant include Mr. Xiang Xiansong, Mr. Rao Minghong, Ms.
Han Linyou, the directors of the Company, and Mr. Liu Xiyue, the
supervisor of the Company, in which, the awards granted to Mr.
Xiang Xiansong correspond to 108,000 H shares of the Company,
the awards granted to Mr. Rao Minghong correspond to 99,000
H shares of the Company, the awards granted to Ms. Han Linyou
correspond to 90,800 H shares of the Company, the awards granted
to Mr. Liu Xiyue correspond to 99,000 H shares of the Company;
and one employee of Yangshengtang Group, the awards granted
correspond to 39,600 H shares of the Company (such employee
made significant contributions to the construction of the information
system of the Group during the participation in the connected
transaction project where Yangshengtang Group provided IT
services to the Group and was transferred to the Group in 2023). The
remaining 103 scheme participants are all employees of the Group,
excluding the Directors, Supervisors, other connected persons of the
Company and shareholders registered in the register of members
of the Company on the day before the listing of the Company’s H
Shares (being September 7, 2020). The employee share incentive
scheme is valid for 10 years, and as of the date of this report, the
validity period of the employee share incentive scheme has about 7
years left.
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In April 2022, among the granted awards, 2,610,000 awards have
met the conditions for the first tranche vesting and belonged to the
corresponding scheme participants, while the remaining 44,184
awards that did not meet the vesting conditions have become forfeit
shares. For details, please refer to the relevant content in the 2021
and 2022 annual reports of the Company.

In April 2023, among the granted awards, 1,708,200 awards have
met the conditions for the second tranche vesting and belonged to
the corresponding scheme participants, while 285,048 awards that
did not meet the vesting conditions have become forfeit shares.
In addition, 102,760 awards have become forfeit shares due to
the resignation and demotion of relevant employees. For details,
please refer to the relevant content in the 2023 annual report of the
Company.

In April 2024, among the granted awards, 1,837,234 awards have
met the conditions for the third tranche vesting and belonged to
the corresponding scheme participants, while 19,692 awards that
did not meet the vesting conditions have become forfeit shares.
In addition, 29,282 awards have become forfeit shares due to
the resignation and demotion of relevant employees. For details,
please refer to the relevant content in the 2024 interim report of the
Company.

As of the date of this report, out of the 6,636,400 awards granted by
the Company under the employee share incentive scheme in 2022,
an aggregate of 6,155,434 awards were vested and 480,966 awards
were forfeited. The Company had instructed the trustee to sell the
forfeit shares at the market price in the open market. The proceeds
from the disposal of the forfeit shares, after repaying the self-owned
capital contribution paid by the employees when subscribing for the
granted awards, will be retained by the trustee and incorporated
into the trust fund pool for further purchase of award shares during
the implementation of the employee share incentive scheme in the
future. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not grant any
new award.
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ERESELES BEE

Particulars of the interests of the Directors and Supervisors,

Jet]
(=
5B AR

B2 HEEERT R connected entity participants and other employee participants in the
YT - award shares granted and vested are set out below:
20245 R2024%
BEDHRM 1A18 12A31A
ERT /8 B EAT HABE  BEEN  BEER HABE
b5l IESE HRRG Jill: 337 HEE SENEE RUNYE gt
%%,/ 85 BFH RTER g8 CHEAHY WmE WNHREEYE MEUE  HEHE  HEHE HEYE
Weighted Number
average Number Number Number  of awards
closing price ofawards ofawards of awards shares
prior to shares shares shares  unvested
Number vesting date unvested vested forfeited asat
Name/Class of award during the asat duringthe duringthe December
of scheme Price of  shares Reporting Remaining  January1, Reporting  Reporting 31,
participants Date of grant grant granted  Vested date Period  vesting date 2024 Period Period 2024
(&%) () (%) (&) (%) (&) ()
(HKD)  (shares) (HKD) (shares) (shares) (shares) (shares)
(1) (F3r2)
(note 1) (note 2)
RRREE) 202053298 1322 108,000  2022%4A29H 45080 & 32,400 32,400 0 0
Xiang Xiansong March 29, 2022 2023547280 » Ni
(Director) 202454 A30R
April 29, 2022,
April 28, 2023 and
April 30, 2024
BRL(ES) 202053298 1322 99,000  2022%4A29H 45080 & 29,600 29,600 0 0
Rao Minghong March 29, 2022 2023547280 » Ni
(Director) 202454 A30R
April 29, 2022,
April 28, 2023 and
April 30, 2024
Et(ES) 202053298 1322 90,800  2022%4A29H - 45080 & 27,368 27,368 0 0
Han Linyou March 29, 2022 2023547280 » Ni
(Director) 2024544308
April 29, 2022,
April 28, 2023 and
April 30, 2024
AEh(EE) 202053298 1322 99,000  2022%4A29H 45080 & 29,630 29,630 0 0
Liu Xiyue March 29, 2022 202354 F288 Nil
(Supervisor) 202454 A30R
April 29, 2022,
April 28, 2023 and
April 30, 2024

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 35



A

g
i
Tl
ol
=
%

<

pa

E2 #T MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

20245 R2024%
BEHRM 1A18 12A31A
ERT /8 B EAT HABE  BEEN  BEER  HABE
BolIEES HER S il 337 HEE SENEE RUNIE gt
#/ER BFH BTER g8 CREAY UnE MBBEEH OHEHE  4EHE HEHE HERE
Weighted Number
average Number Number Number  of awards
closing price ofawards ofawards of awards shares
prior to shares shares shares  unvested
Number vesting date unvested vested forfeited asat
Name/Class of award during the asat duringthe duringthe December
of scheme Price of  shares Reporting Remaining  January1, Reporting  Reporting 31,
participants Date of grant grant granted  Vested date Period  vesting date 2024 Period Period 2024
(%) () (%) (&) (&) (&) (%)
(HKD)  (shares) (HKD) (shares) (shares) (shares) (shares)
Cial (Fzr2)
(note 1) (note 2)
FEHRAZRE 202053F298 1322 132600  2022%4A29H 45080 & 39,800 39,800 0 0
AR (M) March 29, 2022 202354 F288 « Nil
Five individuals with 2024544308
highest emoluments April 29, 2022,
during the Reporting April 28, 2023 and
Period (note 3) April 30, 2024
BEgpsag 202053298 1322 39600  2022%4A29H 45080 & 12,012 12,012 0 0
(Mizk4) March 29, 2022 2023545288 Nil
Connected entity 2024544308
participants (note 4) April 29, 2022,
April 28, 2023 and
April 30, 2024
EftER2RESH 2020%3F298 1322 6,067,400  2022%4A29H 45080 & 1,715,398 1,666,424 48,974 0
Other employee March 29, 2022 20234288 » Ni
participants in 202454 4308
aggregate April 29, 2022,
April 28, 2023 and
April 30, 2024
B5Total 6,636,400 1,886,208 1,837,234 48,974 0
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Notes:

1) The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately prior to April 30,
2024, i.e. on April 29, 2024.

) The forfeit shares during the Reporting Period will be cancelled directly
and disposed at the market price in the open market by the trustee under
the instructions of the Company. The proceeds from the disposal of the
forfeit shares, after repaying the self-owned capital contribution paid by the
employees when subscribing for the granted shares, will be retained by
the trustee and incorporated into the trust fund pool for further purchase of
award shares during the implementation of the employee share incentive
scheme in the future. There were no awards lapsed during the Reporting
Period.

(t©)] Among whom, the persons who hold awards do not include the Director(s)
or Supervisor(s) of the Company.

(4) The employee was originally an employee of Yangshengtang Group and
was re-designated to the Group in 2023.

In March 2025, the Company granted the 2025 awards according
to the employee share incentive scheme, which correspond to
8,118,400 H Shares of the Company, accounting for 0.072% of the
total issued Shares of the Company as at December 31, 2024 and
0.161% of the issued H Shares of the Company as at December 31,
2024. Pursuant to the provisions of the employee share incentive
scheme, the grant price under the grant of the awards is 30% of the
average closing price of the Company’s H Shares in the 120 Hong
Kong trading days before the grant date, being HK$10.20 per award
share, which has been fully paid by each of the scheme participants
before April 15, 2025. The 144 scheme participants in the grant
include Ms. Wu Limin, Mr. Xiang Xiansong, Mr. Rao Minghong, Ms.
Han Linyou, the Directors of the Company, and Mr. Jiang Xiaodong,
the Supervisor of the Company, in which, the awards granted to
Ms. Wu Limin correspond to 326,000 H Shares of the Company,
the awards granted to Mr. Xiang Xiansong correspond to 181,600 H
Shares of the Company, the awards granted to Mr. Rao Minghong
correspond to 181,600 H Shares of the Company, the awards
granted to Ms. Han Linyou correspond to 90,800 H Shares of the
Company, the awards granted to Mr. Jiang Xiaodong correspond
to 59,200 H Shares of the Company; and 9 employees of
Yangshengtang Group, the awards granted correspond to 636,000
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WE2 5 HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

H Shares of the Company. While these persons are neither directly
appointed nor employed by the Group, they comprise experts
and senior technical professionals from various fields providing
strong support and expert advice to the Group in online marketing,
plant construction, research and development governance and
administration. The Group believes granting awards to these persons
will motivate them to make greater contributions to the Group,
thereby contributing to the long-term development of the Group.
The remaining 130 scheme participants, to who the total awards
granted correspond to 6,643,200 H Shares of the Company, are
all employees of the Group, excluding other Directors, Supervisors
and other connected persons of the Company. Ms. Wu Limin, Mr.
Xiang Xiansong, Mr. Rao Minghong, Ms. Han Linyou and Mr. Jiang
Xiaodong, being Directors/Supervisors, are connected persons
of the Company and the granting of the incentive shares to these
persons constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the grant of the incentive shares
to these persons constitutes part of the remuneration package under
the service contracts entered into between the Company and them,
such grants are exempted from the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.73(6) and Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules.

The awards granted to the abovementioned participants shall be
vested according to the following timetable (for the avoidance of
ambiguity, the “trading day” in the following table refers to the
common trading day of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange):

SR 55 IR ZE LB
Vesting arrangement Vesting time Vesting percentage
E—HRE 202654 ARIE— 2 5 A 1/3
First tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2026 1/3
FE_HERB 20274 AfIE— A 5 A 1/3
Second tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2027 1/3
E=HRE 202854 AR — X 5 H 1/3
Third tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2028 1/3
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OUTLOOK

In determining the key tasks for 2025, the Central Economic Work
Conference emphasized the crucial deployment of “vigorously
boosting consumption, improving investment returns and stimulating
domestic demand in all fronts”, prioritizing the promotion of
consumption boosting initiatives. Looking ahead to 2025, the
advantage of China’s super-large consumer market will remain
unchanged, the underlying conditions for and general trend of
positive consumption growth will remain unchanged, and the
consumer market will sustain its steady growth pattern.

Due to the public opinions disseminated online in 2024, the Group’s
brand reputation and sales of packaged drinking water products
have been adversely impacted. Nevertheless, we are confident and
capable to embrace opportunities and meet challenges with our
incomparable comprehensive strength and unwavering commitment
to the path of righteousness. Learning from this event, we will
enhance our senses of crisis and danger, boost our risk resistance
capabilities, and prepare ourselves for potential dangers even in
peacetime, thereby achieving steady progress in the long term.

We adhere to the philosophy of establishing factories close to
water sources, acquiring premium water sources and building
leading production equipment. In 2024, the new water source site
in Huangshan, Anhui, was put into use, which has further reinforced
the leading position of Nongfu Spring in the layout of premium water
sources. The Group’s future business growth is firmly underpinned
and safeguarded by its layout of premium water sources and high-
caliber production capabilities.

We will continue to increase our investment in the agricultural
industry, regarding it as the foundation to restructure the industrial
value chain. We will promote and apply the successful experience
of promoting rural revitalization and agricultural modernization
through cooperation in industrialization in projects like Gannan navel
oranges, Xinjiang apples, and Guangxi Hengzhou jasmine flowers
to tea plantations and other agricultural cooperation projects, so
as to achieve a win-win situation of increasing farmers’ income and
creating corporate revenue.

In addition, we will continue to strengthen our exploration of overseas
markets, develop the Group’s excellent products into overseas
markets, realise “going global” and become a first-class international
enterprise, and open up new space for growth for the Group.
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DIVIDENDS

Relevant resolution has been passed at a meeting of the Board held
on March 25, 2025, and the Board proposed the distribution of a
final dividend (the “Final Dividend”) of RMBO0.76 (tax inclusive) per
share for the year ended December 31, 2024, with a total amount
of approximately RMB8,547 million. If such profit distribution plan is
reviewed and approved by shareholders at the 2024 AGM to be held
on Tuesday, May 20, 2025, the Final Dividend will be distributed no
later than August 27, 2025 to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Saturday, May 24,
2025.

The Company will not be liable for any claim or dispute over the
withholding mechanism arising from any delay in, or inaccurate
determination of the status of the shareholders.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have a pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The Board may declare and pay dividends after taking
into account results of operations, financial condition, cash flow,
operating and capital expenditure requirements, future business
development strategies and estimates of the Group and other factors
as it may deem relevant. Historical declarations of dividends of the
Company may not reflect our future declarations of dividends.

The allocations to the statutory common reserve are currently
determined to be 10% of the Company’s after-tax profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the fiscal year determined in
accordance with PRC accounting rules and regulations. When the
accumulated allocations to the statutory common reserve reach 50%
of the registered capital of the Company, it will no longer be required
to make allowances for allocation to the statutory common reserve.
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As one of the core development concepts of Nongfu Spring,
sustainable development was further consolidated and deepened
in 2024 through the governance, management and practices of
environment, social and governance (ESG) issues of Nongfu Spring.
The Company has established a solid three-level governance
structure for sustainable development with the Board acting as the
top leader, the Office of Public Policy & Sustainable Development
assisting the Board in managing the ESG issues, and various
functional departments and subsidiaries implementing specific
ESG practices. In 2024, the Group has closely aligned with its
corporate development strategy by extensively soliciting and carefully
considering advices and suggestions from stakeholders through
multiple means. It has continuously refined its ESG management
practices, advancing with steady and resolute progress on the path
of sustainable development.

° Nongfu Spring has always integrated support for rural
revitalization and social reciprocity into its corporate
development strategy. Focusing on three key areas of
“industrial revitalization, technological empowerment and
ecological restoration” to facilitate the realization of the vision
of “prosperous farmers making strong China”. Anchored in
four core philanthropic domains of “disaster relief, poverty
alleviation, educational improvement and support for public
sports”, we practice our social responsibilities under the
guidance of the Community Investment Policy, enhancing
public welfare and spreading goodwill through tangible actions.
During the Reporting Period, we leveraged regionally distinctive
agricultural products such as navel oranges, apples, tea
leaves and jasmines to drive agricultural modernization to tailor
strategies to bolster rural specialty industries, support local
farmers in increasing incomes and contribute to comprehensive
rural revitalization by implementing standardization,
systematization and contract-based partnerships.
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‘&7 ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

In the governance aspect, Nongfu Spring upholds high
standards of corporate governance principles, establishes a
robust risk management framework, and conducts regular risk
assessments that include ESG matters and ongoing audits to
comprehensively enhance the Group’s compliance and risk
response capabilities. We continuously implement internal
policies such as the Anti-Corruption Policy, the Whistleblowing
Policy, the Code of Business Conduct for Employees of
Nongfu Spring and other internal rules, with the aim of clarifying
the requirements on business ethics for all employees and
business partners from the institutional level. Through periodic
anti-corruption training for staff and promotion for external
partners, we foster a culture of integrity and an ethical business
environment. During the reporting period, 100% of employees
signed the Code of Business Conduct, and anti-corruption
training achieved full coverage across all employees and
partners.

In the environmental aspect, Nongfu Spring sets and
continuously updates environmental goals based on internal
policies, such as the Policy on Environmental Climate
Changes, and a sound environmental management system,
and has established a comprehensive set of sustainability
commitments across four dimensions, i.e. water use intensity,
energy consumption intensity, carbon emission intensity
and packaging material sustainability. Guided by these
commitments, Nongfu Spring proactively copes with risks and
opportunities arising from climate change while responding to
the Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations. As
at the end of the Reporting Period, except for the newly built
plants, Nongfu Spring and all plants under its management
have been accredited with ISO 14001 Certificate.

B Nongfu Spring has incorporated climate change risks
into its overall risk management strategy with the Board
as the highest governance authority, identified climate
change risks and developed response measures on
the regular basis in accordance with the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework.
During the Reporting Period, we were committed to
improving energy structure and energy efficiency, and
conducted Scope 3 greenhouse gas inventory, laying
a foundation for greenhouse gas emission reduction
across the entire value chain. During the Reporting
Period, we proactively addressed the emission pressures
arising from business changes, and implemented diverse
initiatives to promote energy conservation and emission
reduction, steadily advancing towards our 2030 energy-
saving and emission-reduction targets
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Nongfu Spring focuses on two main aspects of
“protection of water sources and conservation of water
resources”, integrating the concept of sustainable water
consumption in every link of the value chain. Every
drop of Nongfu Spring has its source, and each newly
developed water source undergoes rigorous selection
and evaluation processes by our team, with the principle
of “protective development” consistently embedded
throughout our operations. During the Reporting Period,
operations successfully commenced at the Huangshan
Water Source in Anhui Province, and the launch of the
“Xin’an River Source Edition” of Nongfu Spring set a
model for transitioning from “joint water conservation
(—7KFH )" to “shared regional prosperity (—ig£=)".
We regularly conduct water source protection activities
and showcase conservation achievements to the public
through source exploration initiatives. Additionally, we
continue to implement sustainable water use practices
through three key areas: water-efficient design, water-
saving upgrades, and water-saving management at the
operational stage.

Supported by a robust environmental management
system, Nongfu Spring invests continuously in the
development and application of technologies for treating
wastewater, waste gas, and solid waste. During the
Reporting Period, we improved wastewater management
through “facility optimisation and process upgrades,”
optimised waste gas emission management through
“stringent monitoring and technological modifications”
and increased the utilisation rate of food raw materials
through measures such as “sending food waste to third
parties for recycling and reuse” and “adjusting production
processes” to minimise waste generation at the source.

Nongfu Spring is committed to reducing packaging
materials and adopting lightweight packaging while
actively exploring recycling mechanisms and reuse
opportunities for packaging materials at the design,
production, and usage stages. During the Reporting
Period, 99% of plastic packaging for water and beverage
products was recyclable, with steady progress towards
achieving 100% recyclability by 2025. Simultaneously,
we are conducting research on the reserve of new
environmentally friendly packaging materials, such as
bio-based polyester, to support the development of a
circular economy.
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For employees, Nongfu Spring upholds a “people-oriented”
philosophy and the value of “respecting and cherishing talents”,
strictly adhering to internal policies and systems such as the
Talent Development and Employment Policy and the Employee
Occupational Health and Safety Policy and is committed to
fostering a workplace environment that is equal, inclusive,
compliant, and diverse. In order to achieve organisational
transformation and business objectives, we have focused on
strengthening system development and steadily advancing
human resources reform. During the Reporting Period, Nongfu
Spring’s total employee benefit expenses (including directors’
remuneration) reached RMB4,301 million, placing us at a
leading level in the industry. In addition, we achieved our
annual labour targets of 100% staff training coverage and zero
major safety incidents.

For products, Nongfu Spring upholds the philosophy of
developing natural and healthy products and actively responds
to the “three reductions and three healthy conditions”
campaign promoted by the government. We have established
a nutrition and health R&D management structure to facilitate
the implementation of nutrition and health management
initiatives, while strengthening our R&D team to enhance
health R&D capabilities and continuously introducing new
products, with the core objective of “meeting consumer needs
and safeguarding consumer health” to build a diversified
product portfolio. In addition, during the Reporting Period,
we established a new Tea Procurement Department and
conducted quality audits covering all first-tier suppliers and
extending to second-tier suppliers, aiming to create natural
and healthy products using high-quality raw materials. During
the Reporting Period, all of Nongfu Spring’s products passed
rigorous quality management system certifications, achieving
a 100% qualification rate in national-level random inspections
and 100% approval in third-party reviews and certifications,
while making comprehensive efforts to ensure product quality
and safety by strengthening management across the raw
material supply, production, marketing, and after-sales service.
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As a responsible enterprise, Nongfu Spring is devoted to evolving
into a pioneer and leader of sustainability, upholding the core
concept of sustainable development while continuously providing
natural and healthy products. Looking ahead, Nongfu Spring will
take proactive measures to adapt to the changes of the times,
actively respond to the market, and further improve and optimise the
system for boosting sustainable development and governance. We
will faithfully fulfil social responsibilities, striving not only to achieve
our own sustainable development goals but also to create greater
sustainable development value for all stakeholders, and jointly
promote the sustainable prosperity and development of the industry.

The Company’s 2024 Sustainability Report has been released on the
same day as this Annual Report, and please refer to the report on
the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company
for more details.
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The Company is committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance which, it believes, is crucial to the development of the
Company and safeguarding the interests of the shareholders of
the Company. The Company has adopted sound governance and
disclosure practices, and will continuously improve these practices
and establish a highly ethical corporate culture.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the best practices on corporate
governance, and had complied with all the code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended
December 31, 2024, save for the deviations from the code provision
C.2.1 under Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code disclosed
below.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 under Section Il of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman of the board and chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established
and set out in writing. Mr. Zhong Shanshan is the Chairman of the
Board and General Manager of the Company. As the founder of the
Group, Mr. Zhong Shanshan has extensive experience in the drinking
water and soft beverage industry and is responsible for the overall
management of the Company’s business strategies and operations.
He has been mainstay to the growth and business expansion of the
Group since the Company’s establishment in 1996. The Board is of
the view that vesting both roles of Chairman and General Manager
in Mr. Zhong Shanshan is beneficial to the management of the
Company.

In addition, the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operation of the senior management and the Board, which
comprises experienced and high-caliber individuals. Therefore, we
consider that the Board has a fairly strong independence element in
its composition.

The Board shall review the structure from time to time to ensure that

the structure facilitates the execution of the business strategies of
the Group and maximises effectiveness of its operation.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company works out the Regulations on Securities Transactions
by Directors, Supervisors and Related Employees by applying the
Model Code. The Company has made specific enquiries with the
Directors and Supervisors and all of them confirmed that they had
been in compliance with the requirements for securities transactions
of directors and supervisors set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As of December 31, 2024, the Board currently consists of nine
Directors, including five executive Directors (namely, Mr. Zhong
Shanshan (Chairman), Ms. Wu Limin, Mr. Xiang Xiansong, Mr. Rao
Minghong and Ms. Han Linyou), one non-executive Director (namely,
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi) and three independent non-executive Directors
(namely, Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, Mr. Yang, Lei Bob and Mr. Lu Yuan).
On March 17, 2025, Mr. Stanley Yi Chang tendered his resignation
as an independent non-executive Director, a member and chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee
of the Company due to his personal health reasons, details of which
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 17,
2025. In order to fill the vacancy in the position of the independent
non-executive Director, on April 15, 2025, the Board nominated Mr.
Gu Zhaoyang (E&ZAF5) as the candidate of the independent non-
executive Director of the Company’s eighth session of Board. His
term of service will commence from the date of approval at the
2024 AGM until the expiry of the term of the eighth session of the
Board, and shall be eligible for re-election upon expiry of the term
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
proposed appointment is subject to the approval by the shareholders
of the Company at the 2024 AGM. As far as the Company is aware,
except for the non-executive Director Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, who is the
son of Mr. Zhong Shanshan, the Chairman and General Manager,
there is neither financial, business, family or material/related
relationship between other members of the Board and the General
Manager, nor significant relationships between Directors, Supervisors
and senior management that need to be disclosed.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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MAJOR RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for and has the general power over the
management and operation of our business, including determining
our business strategies and investment plans, implementing
resolutions passed at our Shareholders’ general meetings, and
exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the
Articles of Association. The Board also assumes the responsibilities
for developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the
Company on corporate governance, risk management and internal
control and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board shall represent the long-term interest of the Company
and the interest of shareholders and related parties when making
scientific and strategic decisions, be effectively supervised and
evaluated when controlling corporate resources and conducting
operation management and maintain effective stimulation and
supervision over the senior management when duly delegating its
power to the senior management. The Board is the core of the
Company’s corporate governance framework and its role is clearly
separated from that of senior management. The Company clearly
defines the responsibilities of the general meeting, the Board, the
Supervisory Committee, and senior management. The general
meeting is the highest authority of the Company, and the Board is
responsible to the general meeting. The Board has established three
special committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Please see below
for the composition and responsibilities of each committee. Each
committee shall provide its recommendations to the Board based
on its respective terms of reference. The decisions of the Board
on such recommendations shall be final, unless otherwise clearly
stated in the terms of reference of these committees. In addition, the
Company has also set up the Office of Public Policy & Sustainable
Development as a working organ of the Board to assist the Board in
identifying and monitoring the Company’s sustainable development
risks, formulating sustainable development strategies, tracking
sustainable development performance and disclosing sustainability
— related information. The Supervisory Committee supervises the
performance of duties by the Board and senior management as well
as the financial activities, risk management, and internal control of the
Company. Under the leadership of the Board, senior management
is responsible for implementing the resolutions of the Board and for
daily business and management of the Company, and reports to the
Board and the Supervisory Committee.
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Every member of the Board (including the independent non-executive
Directors) has the right to access documents and relevant materials
of the Board, to consult the Company Secretary on regulatory and
compliance matters and to seek external professional advice when
necessary to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board. The Company Secretary advises all Directors on the
requirements under the Listing Rules and other applicable provisions
to ensure the Company’s compliance with and maintenance of
excellent corporate governance. The Board believes that the
implementation of the above mechanisms during the Reporting
Period is effective.

The Company has a general manager (the “General Manager”). The
roles of the Chairman of the Board and General Manager of the
Company are performed by Mr. Zhong Shanshan. The Chairman of
the Board is responsible for ensuring that the Directors perform their
duties properly and ensuring discussions on material matters take
place on a timely basis. The power and authority to carry out daily
operations and implementation of the strategies and directions set by
the Board are delegated to the management team of the Company
(the “Management”). The Management assumes accountability to
the Board for the operation of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Board revised the Articles of
Association, the Rules of Procedures of Shareholders’ General
Meetings, the Rules of Procedures of the Board and the Rules of
Procedures of the Supervisory Committee in accordance with the
updates of the relevant laws and regulations and the Listing Rules
as well as the practice of the Company, in order to improve and
standardize the relevant provisions to implement and safeguard the
effective enforcement of the Corporate Governance Code. During
the Reporting Period, the Board regularly reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the domestic and overseas regulatory requirements
and its implementation of various internal corporate governance
rules and policies, and reviewed the Company’s compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and the disclosures in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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As approved by the Board meeting held on January 26, 2024,
Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie has resigned as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company with effect from February
13, 2024, and the Board has appointed Ms. Han Linyou to be
the sole company secretary of the Company with effect from
the same date as she was qualified to act as the company
secretary of the Company as required under Rule 3.28 of the
Listing Rules.

In March 2024, Ms. Xue Lian resigned as a non-executive
Director of the Company due to family reason, Ms. Liu Min
resigned as a Supervisor and the chairman of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company due to changes of her work,
and Mr. Rao Minghong resigned as a Supervisor of the
Company due to adjustment of work. In order to fill the above
vacancies, on May 21, 2024, with the approval of the 2023
AGM, Mr. Rao Minghong was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company, Ms. Yu Minyu was appointed as
the shareholder representative supervisor of the Company.
On the same day, Mr. Jiang Xiaodong was elected as the
employee representative supervisor through the employees’
democratic election procedure of the Company, and Ms. Yu
Minyu was elected as the chairman of the eighth session of
the Supervisory Committee of the Company with the approval
of the fifth meeting of the eighth session of the Supervisory
Committee. The terms of the above persons will take effect
from May 21, 2024, consistent with the terms of the eighth
session of the Board and the Supervisory Committee.

Mr. Rao Minghong obtained the legal advice referred to in
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on May 20, 2024, and Mr. Rao
Minghong confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
Director.

For details of the above personnel changes, please refer to the 2023
annual report dated April 18, 2024 and the announcement dated
March 26, 2024 of the Company.
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In March 2025, Mr. Stanley Yi Chang tendered his resignation
as an independent non-executive Director, a member
and chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee of the Company due to his
personal health reasons, details of which please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated March 17, 2025. In
order to comply with the relevant requirements of the Listing
Rules, the Board will use its best endeavors to appoint suitable
candidates to fill the vacancies of independent non-executive
Director, member and chairman of the Audit Committee and
member of the Nomination Committee within three months
from the date of resignation of Mr. Stanley Yi Chang.

In order to fill the vacancy in the position of the independent
non-executive Director, in April 2025, the Board nominated Mr.
Gu Zhaoyang (E8%AF5) as the candidate of the independent
non-executive Director of the Company’s eighth session of
Board. His term of service will commence from the date of
approval at the 2024 AGM until the expiry of the term of the
eighth session of the Board, and shall be eligible for re-election
upon expiry of the term in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The proposed appointment is
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at
the 2024 AGM.

In March 2025, the Company published the announcement
on “Resignation of Supervisors, Proposed Appointment of
Supervisors”, Ms. Yu Minyu and Mr. Liu Xiyue resigned as
Supervisors of the Company due to changes of their work and
Ms. Yu Minyu also resigned as the chairman of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company. Their resignation took effect
from the date of the 2024 AGM when the new Supervisors to
be elected officially assume their duties. Prior to that, Ms. Yu
Minyu and Mr. Liu Xiyue will continue to perform their duties
as Supervisors, and Ms. Yu Minyu will continue to perform her
duties as the chairman of the Supervisory Committee.

In order to fill the vacancies in the positions of the Supervisors
resulting from the resignation of Ms. Yu Minyu and Mr. Liu
Xiyue, the Supervisory Committee nominated Ms. Wang
Yuan and Ms. Fan Jinghan as the candidates of shareholder
representative Supervisors of the eighth session of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company. Their appointments
will be subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the
2024 AGM of the Company, and their term of office as a
Supervisor shall commence from the date of approval at the
2024 AGM until the expiry of the term of the eighth session of
the Supervisory Committee, and shall be eligible for re-election
upon expiry of the term in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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For details of the above personnel changes, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated March 17, 2025, March 25,
2025 and April 15, 2025.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company held 6 Board meetings
and 1 general meeting. During the Reporting Period, the attendance
record of each Director at the Board meetings and general meetings is
as follows:

EHEERRE
EHESRRE
Meetings attended/
Meetings eligible to attend
EZgER BREXE
Board General
E=x Directors meetings meetings
HiTES EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BB L Mr. Zhong Shanshan 6/6 1/1
RFGE T Ms. Wu Limin 6/6 1/1
RRHL L& Mr. Xiang Xiansong 6/6 1/1
EERAAT S 4 (A202455 A21 HEZE)  Mr. Rao Minghong (appointed on May 21, 2024) 3/3 1/1
Mt Ms. Han Linyou 6/6 1/1
FHTES NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Zhong Shu Zist 4 Mr. Zhong Shu Zi 6/6 1/1
Bt (20245 A21 AEHT) Ms. Xue Lian (resigned on May 21, 2024) 3/3 1/1
BYEHITES INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Stanley Yi Chang%t £ Mr. Stanley Yi Chang
(202593 B17HEHE) (resigned on March 17, 2025) 6/6 1/1
BREEE Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 6/6 1/1
BIREE Mr. Lu Yuan 6/6 1/1

REZSEZHME - ARASMEERELE
AEMERREAFNEFZHMERNE
e MITES R RFNPTESTIR * U
RRREHAREBERNKESEENE
R tMEMESHEEEEHR T IAZENERA
RETHFEMNGSER - MIRESLANES

FZEFEROER ©

BRIFRKHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

At Board meetings, the senior management of the Company reported
the information regarding business activities and development of the
Company to all Directors on a timely basis. The executive Directors
also often communicate with the non-executive Directors for their
opinions on the Company’s business development and operations. If
any Director has conflict of interests in any proposed resolution to be
considered at the Board, such Director shall abstain from voting on
such resolution.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors. During the Reporting Period, the Company
arranged orientation training for the new Directors, Supervisors and
senior management of the Company to enhance their understanding
of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code, and to
improve their professional judgement and decision-making ability.
Besides, the Office of the Board has provided all Directors with
relevant training, guideline and materials regarding the corporate
governance. They have also made timely updates on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance all
Directors’ awareness of good corporate governance practices.
The Board ensures the Directors, upon reasonable request, to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance,
at the Company’s expenses. The Directors confirmed that they
have complied with Code Provision C.1.4 under Section Il of the
Corporate Governance Code on directors’ training. During the
Reporting Period, new Directors attended orientation training and
all of the Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending training courses, conducting business
research or reading materials on corporate governance and related
topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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BERDNREERG - 20245FE£E S According to the records kept by the Company, the Directors
TRBIE R R E received the following training and updates in 2024:

HRIBEES

BEER S

smER, TEERRHAAM
HBER R HERENER
23K HRE REEE
Reading or

watching data

or information

regarding

Directors’

Training and/or responsibilities
seminars and/or and/or corporate

conferences governance
and/or forums and other
participated in related topics
BITES EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
SRR STE Mr. Zhong Shanshan y N
RN+ Ms. Wu Limin N Vv
MRS E Mr. Xiang Xiansong \ V
AR SE A Mr. Rao Minghong N N
BRIt Ms. Han Linyou N N
FHTES NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Zhong Shu Zi%t 4 Mr. Zhong Shu Zi N Y
BYFHTES INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
Stanley Yi Chang?t 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang N N
o Fabivaa Mr. Yang, Lei Bob v V
BIREE Mr. Lu Yuan N Vv
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee of the Company
consists of three independent non-executive Directors, including
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, Mr. Yang, Lei Bob and Mr. Lu Yuan with
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang serving as the chairman. In March 2025,
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang tendered his resignation as a member
and chairman of the Audit Committee due to his personal health
reasons, and the Board will fill the vacancy as soon as possible. For
details, please refer to the section headed “Changes of Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” under “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to inspect,
review and supervise the Company’s financial information and
reporting procedure for financial information. These responsibilities
include, among others:

o advising the Board on the appointment, renewal or
replacement, dismissal of the external audit agency;

° reviewing and supervising the independence and objectivity
of the external audit agency and the effectiveness of the audit
procedures in accordance with applicable standards;

° formulating and implementing policies of non-audit services
provided by the external audit agency (if any);

o serving as the main representative between the Company and
the external audit agency to monitor their relationship;

o reviewing and monitoring the completeness of the Company’s
financial statements, annual reports and accounts, interim
reports and quarterly reports (if they are prepared for
publication), and reviewing significant financial reporting
opinions contained in the financial statements and financial
reports;

° reviewing the Company’s financial control system, and risk
management and internal control systems;

° having discussions on the risk management and internal
control systems with the management to ensure that the
management has performed their duty to establish effective
systems;
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considering major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters on its initiative or as delegated by
the Board and the management’s response to these findings;

ensuring coordination between the internal audit department
and the external audit agency;

reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on financing
and accounting;

reviewing the Explanatory Letter on Audit submitted by the
external audit agency to the management, any material
questions raised by the external audit agency to the
management in relation to accounting records, financial
accounts or internal control system and the management’s
responses on these material questions;

ensuring proper channels have been established by the
Company for the employees to report or raise concerns on
potential improprieties in financial reporting, internal controls or
other matters in a confidential manner, and reviewing relevant
arrangements from time to time to ensure fair and independent
investigations and appropriate follow-up actions have been
taken by the Company to address these matters;

reporting to the Board on relevant matters within the scope of
the Audit Committee’s duties;

reflecting the Company’s extent of compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and disclosures in the Corporate

Governance Report; and

other duties and powers authorized by the Board of the
Company.
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During the Reporting Period, two meetings were held by the Audit
Committee. The attendance record of the committee members at
the meeting during the Reporting Period is as follows:

BHEEERE

EHEERRE

Meetings

attended/Meetings

=% Directors eligible to attend
Stanley Yi Chang t 4 (£ /&) Mr. Stanley Yi Chang (Chairman) 2/2
BE@kE Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 2/2
FIREAE Mr. Lu Yuan 2/2

RFERE - BfZ8etlEgz LB
EHE E2024F6 A308 [F/51E A By HAR
& WEREEERMETRA - AR
HERBELZAEE -

HEZEBIJITER  BAZ8208HLE
E#HZE2024F 12 A1 AL FEMEFELE
NG WRAAAREETHEEARNEE
BEFFTE - WIHHFTO R - FiTEE
FEHARNEBE 2024 F AR E R MNP BT
TEENT T &% WRAARFTNMFEERKR
B EIERRAIER - th RN ERRERE
TEIE o FWirT L B @B EH2024F FEA
WRER THESSEZRERLKESM
EHAUFEREBEE) BAF025FEF
Bl NERTAD - KRBT KETMESHT
(Emst & Young) &R &]2025%F £ 895 BN
ZERAD - B LSRR P BN 2217 M9 2024 5
ERERE EHE - FAIEE o

REZESE

HE2024F12A31H  ARAIMERZEZE
FH-RESHEN - BE—RBRITESER
MEEURMABULIERITEERIRLE -
Stanley Yi Chang %t 4 - 48 B BR ST AR R (T
EfE ° 2025937 - Stanley Yi Changft£E
BAAREREGRTRAEZESZERK &
FERERBERBAE - FFEB2HLRF
EREIPEESRE I -[EF - BEERS
BEBAEETZE -
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended June 30, 2024,
and confirmed that the applicable accounting principles, standards
and requirements have been complied with, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the annual result announcement of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and believes that the Company has complied
with all applicable accounting standards and regulations and made
sufficient disclosures. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
Group’s risk management and internal control for 2024, finding
that there had been no deficiency in material risk control nor any
weakness in material risk control. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the remuneration of the auditors for 2024 and recommended the
Board to re-appoint Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP as
the domestic auditors of the Company for 2025 in the PRC and Ernst
& Young as the overseas auditors of the Company for 2025, subject
to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming 2024 AGM.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2024, the Nomination Committee of the
Company comprised three Directors, including one executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhong Shanshan; two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lu Yuan and Mr. Stanley Yi Chang,
with Mr. Zhong Shanshan serving as the chairman. In March 2025,
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang tendered his resignation as a member of the
Nomination Committee due to his personal health reasons, and the
Board will fill the vacancy as soon as possible. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Changes of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” under “Corporate Governance Report” in this
annual report.
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The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee of
the Company are to formulate the nomination procedures and
standards for candidates for Directors, and to review and make
recommendations on candidates, selection criteria and procedures
to directors and senior management members of the Company.
These responsibilities include, among others:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board in line with the Company’s corporate strategies;

o conducting researches and making recommmendations on the
criteria, procedures and methods for selection of directors and
senior management members;

o identifying qualified candidates for directors and senior
management members in an extensive manner;

° evaluating candidates for directors and senior management
members and making suggestions on the evaluation and
recommendations on appointment to the Board;

° assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

° making recommendations to the Board on matters related to
the appointment and reappointment as well as succession
planning of directors and senior management members, in
particular, chairman of the Board and the general manager;

o reporting to the Board on its decisions or recommendations,
unless otherwise restricted by laws or regulations; and

° other duties and powers granted by the Board.

The nomination procedures of the Directors are as follows: the
Nomination Committee shall firstly propose a list of candidates for
Directors, which shall then be submitted by the Committee to the
Board for review; the Board shall then submit the relevant proposal
to the general meeting for approval.
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The examination procedures of the candidates for Directors are: (1)
the Company recommends talents to the Nomination Committee
according to its management requirements; (2) the Nomination
Committee considers and reviews the candidates recommended
by the Company, and may, as required, widely search for the
candidates for directors and senior management within the
Company and its wholly-owned and holding (joint-stock) enterprises
as well as in the talent market; (3) collecting information about the
primary candidates, such as occupation, educational background,
professional titles, detailed work experience and all part-time
experience, and forming written materials; (4) seeking consent
from each candidate before nominating him/her as a candidate
for director or senior management members; (5) convening the
Nomination Committee meeting and conducting qualification review
on the primary candidates based on requirements for directors and
senior management members; (6) providing suggestions and related
materials of the candidates for directors and senior management
members to the Board prior to the election of new directors and
appointment of new senior management members; (7) carrying
out additional follow-up works in accordance with decisions and
feedbacks of the Board.

In order to ensure a diversity on the Board members and improve
the Company’s corporate governance, the Company has adopted
the Board diversity policy, pursuant to which, apart from complying
with relevant requirements under the relevant laws, regulations
and rules (including but not limited to the Company Law, the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association), the Company should
also consider various diversity factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, culture and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service, etc. when
designing the Board’s composition. The Nomination Committee
shall make final recommendation on the appointment to the Board
based on the merits of the candidates and contribution they may
bring to the Board. Meanwhile, the Company’s diversity policy also
includes monitoring, reporting and reviewing system to ensure the
effectiveness and successful implementation of the policy. The
Nomination Committee believes that, with the strict implementation
of the Board diversity policy, the composition of the Board has
satisfied the diversity policy in terms of gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and/or length of service. The Nomination Committee will review
the policy on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness and make
recommendations to the Board on any amendments to the policy
when necessary.
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As of December 31, 2024, the Board consists of two female and
seven male Directors. The Board is satisfied with its gender diversity
and will continue to maintain a diverse Board. In the future, gender
will continue to be fully considered in the selection and development
of nominees on the basis of maintaining at least one female Board
member. The Nomination Committee and the Company’s Human
Resources Center will also pay attention to maintaining and
strengthening the concern, selection, and development of high -
potential female talents, and nominate and recommend competent
and qualified candidates to the Board when necessary. For details
on gender diversity of employees, please refer to section “EMPLOYEE
ENGAGEMENT” of the Group’s “2024 Sustainability Report (ESG
Report)”, to be released on the same day as this Annual Report.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meeting during the Reporting Period is as follows:

BHEEERE

EHEERRE

Meetings

attended/Meetings

2= Directors eligible to attend
EMMEE(EE) Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman) 1/1
BIREAE Mr. Lu Yuan 1/1
Stanley Yi Changt 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 1/1

RBEME  REZ B2 AEBEEZ LT
BRTHRLBESVNENEEABNER -
RERFEFGMEZ LB ERHEIRE
3 FEESNSREEABAGERENE
BER  BXRAMBAERES - BUIFRIT
BEEREARBELMN - BAQRZETE
EEAFZELBIENREER - F2HEF
EWME—BUIFNTES 2B IIERERIT
FEREHEE
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
assessed and reviewed new proposed directors and senior
management members at the relevant meetings, and confirmed that
the Board of the Company has satisfied the indicators of the diversity
policy, the new directors and senior management members are
qualified with the relevant qualifications, professional knowledge and
ability to perform their duties, and the candidates for independent
non-executive directors are independent and do not have any
relationship with the Company that affects their independence.
For relevant disclosures, please refer to the relevant disclosures
under “Report of The Directors — Confirmation of Independence by
Independent Non-Executive Directors”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Remuneration Committee consists of three Directors, including
one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhong Shanshan and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lu Yuan and Mr.
Yang, Lei Bob, with Mr. Lu Yuan currently serving as the chairman.
The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company are to formulate and review the remuneration policies and
schemes for the Directors and senior management of the Company.
These responsibilities include, among others:

o advising the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
framework for directors and senior management members,
and the establishment of a standardized and transparent
remuneration policy formulation procedures;

° formulating and advising the Board on the remuneration
packages for directors and senior management members of
the Company;

o reviewing and approving the compensation payable for
the loss or termination of the office or appointment of the
executive directors and senior management members, and
the compensation arrangements with regard to the dismissal
or removal of directors due to their misconduct, to ensure the
compensation shall be fair, reasonable and not excessive;

° examining assessment criteria, performance evaluation
procedures, remuneration and rewards and punishment
policies for directors and senior management members and
submitting these policies and procedures for the Board’s
approval;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management members, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments (such as any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment);

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors;

o examining the performance of duties by directors and
senior management members and conducting performance
appraisals and evaluations;
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o MEREAMNEEHEMMBEA(M(E e  ensuring that no director or any of his/her associates (as
B EHRBDFRETE ) NE2EBTH required by the Hong Kong Listing Rules) is involved in
o deciding his/her remuneration;

o TEEZERMEK  HARIMREY o studying and advising on the Company’s equity incentive plan
B R ETIIEIR s at the request of the chairman;

o MEZTeSWMHRTHESE  EBFH o  reporting to the Board on its decisions or recommendations,

SE S ESE IR I FTBR M T RE Rt S 3R unless otherwise restricted by laws or regulations; and
RIBRIN 3 K
s EFTREBNAMEFE - e other matters authorized by the Board.

NEREEIRE  FMEE & 81T:81X €% -  During the Reporting Period, one meeting was held by the
UTREZERHREHREEERBEN Remuneration Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meeting during the Reporting Period is as follows:

BHEEERH

EHEESRIH

Meetings

attended/Meetings

E= Directors eligible to attend
EREE(EE) Mr. Lu Yuan (Chairman) 1/
FEAiN e Mr. Zhong Shanshan 11
lEatas Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 11

R EHE - FMEZESCHEMEBEEZELEE  During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has

EMESENSREEABNGFNFS - ¥ considered and approved the remuneration packages, remuneration

B 77 2= A EL AbFERE F 1A - policies of directors and senior management members and other
related matters at relevant meetings.

62 / BXILRBEHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD. 44§ 2024 Annual Report



¥ EARIRE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

FHITESHER TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
mE Bz Bt B3 fE 5w B

Name Position Starting date Expiry date

Zhong Shu Zi%e & FEITES 201756 A21H 2026558 15H

Mr. Zhong ShuZi  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR June 21, 2017 May 15, 2026

REE &

EYNSE AR TN =R RSVt
WEBAE) MBI B EEL KGR E
R R 7R SR BB SMNSAZ AN © R BT
RENTRESEBHR(FREBER)
K Z ok &R E A B S R PR AR
BHBE T

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

The Company’s domestic audit agency, Pan-China Certified Public
Accountants LLP and overseas audit agency, Ernst & Young have
served as the independent external auditors of the Group. The
remuneration paid and payable by the Group to Pan-China Certified
Public Accountants LLP and Ernst & Young in respect of the services
provided during the Reporting Period is as follows:

FriRfit =z BR#% e REMER

Fees paid

Services provided and payable

(ARMBER)

(RMB million)

2024 [EIEEZ B IRTE 5.736
Statutory audit service provided for 2024

FEZBR TS 0.552

Non-audit service

ik - SERBURIS : B B IEESGR S HARKE -

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

Note: Non-audit services mainly include the consultancy services for ESG
reporting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for supervising the preparation of
annual accounts in order to give a true and fair view of the financial
position, operating results and cash flow of the Company during the
year. For the purpose of the preparation of the financial statements
for the Reporting Period, the Directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies, adopted applicable accounting principles, made
judgments and assessments that are prudent and reasonable and
ensured the accounts were prepared on a going concern basis. The
Directors have confirmed that the Group’s financial statements were
prepared in accordance with the requirements of laws and applicable
accounting principles.

The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Group. The review covered all the material aspects
of its internal controls, including the supervision of the financial,
operational and compliance affairs, as well as risk management.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the ability of the
Company to operate as a going concern. The statement of auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
Report.

4z 2024 Annual Report



B RRER
BRNEATIFEARES 2 T ERME
RERFEKE - RAEEE BRERREARS -
BEARRRARERELSE 2 HAT - Al
BEREBSE G FTIFENARRO TRER
RABFRRERMDBENE D 2T FRE
PITRBE D 2T - BRERE RS AT
AR MR ERFTH IER R R -

RElBFRBRREARE - EBNAFIFEARA
DZ=AERORIRE - BRERERE R
FI10BARTAZEEHE AR BRI IRE
WiIERRBEA  BREAEEE AETKEE
RECHRNEHBRRASHTEA - NEH
FIRRMADBAEMARE - WATEERRFIEER
RRBRAGEZE °

BRAZ®BEANFERSMEAEH
(r@mail.nfsq.com. cn)ﬁ&%é(% 571 -26699096)
AARFRREEBRIFEIESTERAE
REEW -

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

¥ EARIRE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company shall convene an extraordinary general meeting at the
request of shareholders who individually or collectively hold more
than 10% of the Company’s shares. However, prior to the date of
announcement of the resolutions approved at the general meeting,
the number of the Company’s shares individually or jointly held by the
above shareholders shall not be lower than 10% of the total number
of the Company’s shares with voting rights; should the shareholding
is less than 10%, resolutions passed at the extraordinary general
meeting would become invalid.

When the Company convenes a shareholders’ general meeting, the
shareholders who individually or jointly, hold more than 3% shares
of the Company, have the right to put forward a new proposal in
written form to the Company and submit it to the convener not
less than 10 days before the shareholders’ general meeting is held.
The convener of the shareholders’ general meeting shall, within 2
days after receiving the proposal, issue a supplementary notice of
the shareholders’ general meeting, announce the contents of the
interim proposal to inform other shareholders and submit the interim
proposal to the shareholders’ general meeting for deliberation.

The shareholders may put enquiries to the investor relations
working team of the Company or the Office of the Board via email
(ir@mail.nfsg.com.cn) or telephone (86-571-26699096) as stated in
this annual report.

BXRIFRHBERLSE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

In February 2023, the State Council of the PRC and the China
Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC”) published the
“Decision of the State Council to Repeal Certain Administrative
Regulations and Documents”( { B Fe B8 7 & 1E 280 1T BUA 48
M AFEREY ) and “Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas
Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies” ( (38X
EFRINEITHRSM EMEEAITHE) )(collectively, the “New
Domestic Regulations”), respectively, which came into effect on
March 31, 2023 (the “PRC Regulation Changes”). On the same
day when the New Domestic Regulations became effective, the
“Special Regulations of the State Council on the Overseas Offering
and Listing of Shares by Joint Stock Limited Companies”( {B7
BB AR BRR A RIRINEER D & 8RR E) ) and the
“Mandatory Provisions for the Articles of Association of Companies
Listed Overseas” (E3Esh F TR B ZRRNEIETK) (the “Mandatory
Provisions”) were repealed, and PRC issuers shall formulate their
articles of association with reference to the Guidelines for the
Articles of Association of Listed Companies ( {_ M AR Z2$E3]) )
issued by the CSRC. Subsequently, the Stock Exchange has made
corresponding amendments to the Listing Rules in response to the
promulgation of the New Domestic Regulations, among other things,
the articles of association of PRC issuers are no longer required to
include the Mandatory Provisions and other ancillary requirements,
with effect from August 1, 2023.

In light of the above, and according to the actual situation of the
Company, the Board approved a resolution on April 11, 2024 to
propose to make the proposed amendments to the Articles of
Association of the Company in order to (i) reflect the amendments
as required by the relevant laws and regulations as aforesaid and to
continue to comply with all the applicable regulatory requirements,
and (i) improve the governance practices of the Company. The 2023
AGM has considered and approved the amendment to the Articles
of Association on May 21, 2024. On June 21, 2024, the Company
has completed its registration and filing procedures regarding to
the amendment of the Articles of Association in Zhejiang Provincial
Administration for Market Regulation.

For details of the aforesaid amendment to the Articles of Association,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated April 12,
2024. The Articles of Association are written in Chinese without
an official English version. Therefore, any English translation is for
reference only. In case of inconsistency, the Chinese version shall
prevail.
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EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has adopted the Shareholder Communication Policy
to guarantee the continuous communication with shareholders
and also to review the policy on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness. Particulars of the policy are available at the website of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder Communication
Policy during the Reporting Period, and considers that the
Shareholder Communication Policy has been duly implemented and
effective during the Reporting Period.

The Company publishes updated information on its business
operations and development, financial data, corporate governance
practices and other information on its website for public access.
Meanwhile, the Office of the Board of the Company is responsible
for receiving enquiries from shareholders and investors, handling
relevant information requests and ensuring timely and effective
communication with shareholders and investors.

The investor relations of the Group in 2024 were effectively
carried out under the leadership and support of the Board and
the management. After issuing the interim results announcement
and annual results announcement every year, the Group will hold
a performance presentation meeting to fully communicate with
investors and analysts. In addition, we also maintain continuous and
effective communication with shareholders and investors by on-
site research, exchange meetings, attending investor forums and
investment summits, etc.
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PERFORMANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance by Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang of the
Non-competition Undertaking and confirmed that Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang have complied with the terms of such
undertaking during the year ended December 31, 2024. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang also confirmed to the Company
that they have complied with the terms of the Non-Competition
Undertaking.

The independent non-executive Directors were not aware of any
breach of the terms of the Non-Competition Undertaking by Mr.
Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang and therefore, no remedy
action was taken by the Company during the year ended December
31, 2024.

In accordance with the Non-Competition Undertaking entered
into between the Company and Mr. Zhong Shanshan and
Yangshengtang, if any of Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang
or their subsidiaries (excluding their listed subsidiaries and the
Group) are recommended or provided with Business Opportunities
which directly or indirectly compete with the Restricted Business in
the PRC during the term of the Non-competition Undertaking, the
New Business Opportunities should be recommended or introduced
to the Group. For details, please refer to the “Non-Competition
Undertaking” and “New Business Opportunities” mentioned in the
section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in
the Prospectus.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors of the Company (including
the independent non-executive Directors) did not make any decisions
in relation to the exercise or termination of the option or the right of
first refusal or take up or waive any Business Opportunities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a risk management and internal control
system in accordance with the requirements of paragraph D.2 under
Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code, which is responsible
for independently reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the Company,
and continuously monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of its
operation once a year. The system aims to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, promote
effective and efficient operations, reasonably ensure the reliability of
financial reports and comply with applicable laws and regulations
and protect the assets of the Group. The Board can only give
reasonable but not absolute assurance that there will be no material
misrepresentation or loss.

Characteristics of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Organization System

In accordance with the requirements of code provision D.2.2
under Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code, the Group
has established a sound risk management and internal control
organization system which includes the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Supervisory Committee, the management of the Group, the
Office of the Board, the audit and inspection center, the legal
department and other departments to ensure that the Group has
sufficient resources, qualified and experienced staff, training courses
and related budget for risk management and internal audit. The
various departments of the Group are the first line of defense for
risk management and internal control; the Office of the Board and
the management of the Group are the second line of defense;
while the audit and inspection center, the legal department, the
Audit Committee and the Supervisory Committee are the third
line of defense. The Board bears the ultimate responsibility for the
establishment and improvement of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system as well as the effective implementation
of the risk management work, and serves as the highest decision
maker for the Group’s risk management and internal control.
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Implementation of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Group reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems every year and assesses all important
monitoring aspects including strategic execution, supervision on
financial, operation and compliance affairs, etc. based on the
elements of internal control such as the internal environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication as
well as internal supervision, and optimizes and updates the risk
control mechanism.

After risk assessment, the Company’s major risks in 2024 mainly
involve business risks, financial risks, compliance risks, inside
information and internal control risks. According to our actual
situation, we have formulated practical and feasible response plans
to effectively manage risks:

. Business risks: The business risks the Group mainly faces
include macro-environmental risks, competition risks, supply
chain risks, reputation risks, sustainability risks and water
source risks. The Board regularly reviews and identifies
potential risks of the Group, and adjusts strategies and policies
in a timely manner, to ensure that the business risks are
controlled and managed.

. Financial risks: The Group has formulated financial risk
management policies to control the Group’s financial risk
exposure, such as taxation risks, currency risks and financial
reporting risks. Also, the Board monitors the financial results
and key operating statistics with the assistance of the Group’s
internal finance department on a regular basis.

. Compliance risks: The Group has formulated internal
procedures to monitor the Group’s compliance risks to ensure
that the Group has complied with the laws and regulations of
the regions where the Group conducts business. In addition,
the Group engages professional advisers from time to time to
keep the Group updated with the latest development in the
regulatory environments. It also arranges compliance trainings
on connected transactions and internal control management for
employees, and conducts several rounds of anti-fraud publicity
and training for the Group’s employees and business partners
to enhance the awareness of integrity and compliance, so as
to further standardize risk management efforts.

° Inside information and internal control risks: The Group
attaches utmost importance to the proper handling and
dissemination of inside information. Internal policies are put in
place to ensure that inside information is properly controlled.
The Group has implemented information management system
control and formulated data privilege management norms to
prevent the leakage of sensitive information.
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Formation of a Long-term Mechanism for Risk Management
and Internal Control

We continue to improve risk management policies and procedures,
specify the risk management structure and responsibilities. We
identify major risks that hinder the achievement of objectives and
control them within acceptable levels to ensure the achievement of
business objectives, the improvement of operational efficiency, the
reliability of financial reports and compliance with national regulations
and other compliance requirements.

We evaluate and check the effectiveness of our risk management
and internal control systems through channels such as the
management, business units in the risk management system, audit
and inspection teams of the Group, external auditors, and external
legal advisor to improve risk response measures. Meanwhile, in order
to ensure the effective operation of the risk management system, the
Audit Committee reviews and supervises the risk management work.

The audit and inspection team of the Group focuses on business
risks, financial risks and compliance risks. Through agile audits, it
achieves more comprehensive and accurate risk control, identifies
potential risks more quickly, and promotes the improvement in
management and system processes to support the achievement of
the mid — to long-term vision and strategic goals of the Company.

The Group’s management procedures for financial reporting
and information disclosure, etc. are in strict compliance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. Office of the Board conducts
information reporting, reviewing and disclosure in strict accordance
with the Information Disclosure Management System formulated by
the Company. Prior to disclosing relevant information to the public,
the Group will ensure that such information is kept confidential
properly and will perform the obligation to inform and supervise the
insiders of inside information as required.

The Board reviewed the risk management and internal control
during the Reporting Period and concluded that there had been no
deficiency in material risk control nor any weakness in material risk
control based on the outcome of the risk management and internal
control work implemented by the Group as of the Latest Practicable
Date. The Board was of the view that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is effective and sufficient.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established the whistleblowing policy and system,
publicly released the special phone number and E-mail address for
whistleblowing, and emphasized the protection for whistleblowers.
The personal information of whistleblowers and the information
provided by them shall be kept strictly confidential. Any act of
malicious retaliation against whistleblowers will be held accountable
to relevant personnel. The Audit and Inspection Center of the
Group will independently conduct the third-party investigation on
the reported clues to ensure the objectivity and impartiality of the
process and results. The Audit and Inspection Center will report its
work results to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. Particulars of
the whistleblowing policy of the Group are available for inspection on
the website of the Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group has always attached great importance to the construction
and implementation of its anti-corruption systems and has zero-
tolerance towards bribery and corruption. We have adopted the
“Code of Business Conduct for Employees of Nongfu Spring”, the
“Management Measures for Employee Rewards and Punishments”
and other rules to clearly stipulate the illegal behaviors of employees
such as fraud, corruption, etc. and the punishment standards, and
we will terminate the labour contracts of employees with fraudulent
behaviors and include them into the blacklist of the anti-fraud
alliance. Through the “Code of Conduct of Suppliers”, the “Code
of Mutual Supervision on Anti-Commercial Bribery and Fraud”,
the “Letter of Commitment to Integrity of Business Partners”, the
“Distribution Contract”, the “Procurement Contract”, etc., we define
the bribery, fraud and other illegal behaviors of our partners and
the liabilities for breach of contract, and include the customers and
suppliers who violate the agreement into the cooperation blacklist.
Particulars of the anti-corruption policy of the Group are available for
inspection on the website of the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Linyou (E8#k{i, former name: Han Yang (§845)), age 44,
has been the Secretary to the Board of the Company since February
2020 and an executive Director of the Company since May 2023;
and concurrently a Joint Company Secretary from January 2020
to February 2024 and became the sole Company Secretary of the
Company in February 2024. She is responsible for the Company’s
corporate governance, information disclosure, investor relations
and the management of Office of Public Policy & Sustainable
Development. For the biographical details of Ms. Han Linyou, see the
biographies in the “Directors” below.

Ms. Han Linyou has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in 2024 financial year, which is in compliance
with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The Company will ensure
that Ms. Han Linyou continue to have access to the relevant training
and support in relation to the Listing Rules and the duties required
for a company secretary of an issuer listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong Shanshan

Mr. Zhong Shanshan (§£8f%), age 70, is the founder, Chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the General Manager
of the Company. He founded Zhejiang Thousand-Island Lake
Yangshengtang Drinking Water Company Limited (37T T &#&E4
FEEAKAB R A A, the predecessor of the Company, in September
1996. Mr. Zhong was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director in June 2001 and the General Manager of the
Company in May 2005, as well as the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee under
the Board of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
has also been serving as the director of all subsidiaries of the
Company since their establishment. Mr. Zhong is responsible for the
Group’s overall development strategies, business plans and major
operational decisions and direct management of our brands and
human resources. Prior to the establishment of the Company, Mr.
Zhong Shanshan founded Yangshengtang in March 1993 and has
served successively as Director, General Manager and Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Yangshengtang since March 1993. Mr.
Zhong Shanshan had been Chairman of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code:603392) from November 2001 to January
2021.

Mr. Zhong Shanshan is the father of Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, the non -
executive Director of the Company.

Ms. Wu Limin

Ms. Wu Limin ((2%18), age 52, was appointed as an executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in May 2023,
and joined the Group in January 2022 as the General Manager
of the Financial Center of the Company, and is responsible for
financial management of the Company. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Wu Limin served as the Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Yonghui Superstores Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code:601933) from April 2019 to December
2021. Ms. Wu Limin joined Unilever China Ltd. In 1996 and served
successively as the Finance Director of Malaysia and Singapore, and
the Vice President of Finance of Vietnam of Southeast Asia Cluster
and the Vice President of Finance of the North Asia Cluster of the
aforesaid company from 2010 to 2019.

Ms. Wu Limin obtained a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry from
Fudan University in June 1996, an MBA degree from China Europe
International Business School in June 2007, and was admitted as
a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
November 2004.
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Mr. Xiang Xiansong

Mr. Xiang Xiansong (A& #2), age 43, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company in May 20283. He has served as the
General Manager of the Sales & Marketing Center of the Company
since August 2022, and is responsible for sales and marketing
management of the Company. Mr. Xiang Xiansong joined the Group
in June 2009. He successively served as the Sales Representative,
Sales Supervisor, Operation Supervisor and Regional General
Manager of the Company and was responsible for the establishment
and expansion of catering channel of the Company.

Mr. Rao Minghong

Mr. Rao Minghong (#2883 4T), aged 50, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company, and joined the Group in June
1999 and successively served as the Mechanical Engineer, Chief
of the Manufacturing Section, Manager of the Plant and General
Manager of the Manufacturing Base, etc. He was elected as an
employee representative Supervisor of the Company from December
2019 to May 2024 and as the President of the Labour Union of the
Company in April 2020. Mr. Rao has been the General Manager of
the Production and Operation Center of the Company since August
2022, responsible for the production and operation management of
the Company. Mr. Rao Minghong concurrently serves as manager
and legal representative of several subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Han Linyou

Ms. Han Linyou (&#k{&, former name: Han Yang (¥13)), age 44,
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in May
2023 and has been the Secretary to the Board of the Company
since February 2020. She concurrently served as a Joint Company
Secretary from January 2020 to February 2024 and became the sole
Company Secretary of the Company in February 2024, responsible
for corporate governance, information disclosure, investor relations
and the management of Office of Public Policy & Sustainable
Development of the Group. Ms. Han Linyou joined the Group in
November 2019 as the Deputy General Manager of Nongfu Spring
Drinking Water Hong Kong Company Limited (XL R X A/KEH
B FR/Aa]). Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Han Linyou served as an
Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer, a Legal Director and a Senior
Vice President of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code:01115) from April 2013
to November 2019, and an Executive Director from May 2017 to
November 2019. She has been Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee of the Board of the aforesaid company since August
2017. Ms. Han Linyou worked at Jingtian & Gongcheng from August
2002 to March 2013 and became a Partner of such firm in 2009,
and concurrently served as the PRC Legal Adviser of Chiu & Partners
in Hong Kong from May 2008 to May 2009.

Ms. Han Linyou obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Peking

University in July 2002 and a PRC Legal Professional Qualification
Certificate in February 2008.
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Mr. Zhong Shu Zi

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, age 37, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2017, responsible for providing
advice on our business plans, major decisions and investment
activities, and served as a member of the Audit Committee under the
Board from March 2020 to May 2023. Mr. Zhong Shu Zi joined the
Group in January 2014 and has been the General Manager of the
Brand Center of Yangshengtang, the shareholder of the Company,
since January 2020. He has also served as Hangzhou Regional
General Manager of the Sales & Marketing Center of the Company
since September 2023, responsible for the sales and marketing
management of the Hangzhou Region.

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi obtained a bachelor of arts degree in English
from University of California, Irvine in the United States in December
2011, and received his master degree in international business from
Zhejiang University in March 2021.

Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, age 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee under the Board of the
Company from March 2020 to March 2025 and is responsible for
overseeing and providing independent judgment to the Board, and
offering strategic advice and guidance to our financial management,
internal control and external investment. Mr. Chang is currently a
standing council member of China Institute of Internal Audit, and
served as a member of Auditing Expert Panel of Asian Development
Bank, and has been serving as an independent director of Cowealth
Medical China Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code:603122) since April 2019. He was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Audit Committee of Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd. (a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code:0314) from
December 2022 to May 2024 and served as an independent non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of YS
Biopharma Co., Ltd.(a company listed on the NASDAQ, stock code:
YS) from January 2021 to December 2023. Mr. Chang has been
a Professor at Shanghai Advance Institute of Finance of Shanghai
Jiaotong University since July 2018. He was a Professor at National
Taiwan University from August 2016 to June 2018. Prior to that, Mr.
Chang successively served as Partner of Business Risk Services
and Asia Pacific Life Sciences Leader for Ernst & Young, Managing
Partner of China Advisory Services and Global Business Risk
Services Leader for Grant Thornton, and the Chief Operating Officer
of MarcumBP where he also led its China Advisory Services from
September 2007 to October 2016.
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Mr. Chang received his bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
from National Taiwan University in June 1980; his master’s degree
in Accounting from University of Missouri-Columbia in the United
States in August 1983; and his PhD in Accounting from Texas
Tech University in the United States in August 1987. Mr. Chang is a
Certified Public Accountant of Texas, United States.

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob (#5%2), age 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in September 2019 and a
member of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee under the Board of the Company in March 2020, and is
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to
the Board and offering strategic advice and guidance to the Group’s
financial management, internal control and external investment.
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob was an independent director, chairman of the
nomination committee and member of the audit committee of
Shanghai Kehua Bio-Engineering Co., Ltd.( 8k A ¥ T 285
FR /A R], a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code:002022) from May 2017 to June 2020; was a visiting professor
of finance at China Europe International Business School from
January 2012 to December 2012 and from April 2016 to December
2019, and was an adjunct professor of finance at China Europe
International Business School from April 2013 to March 2016. Mr.
Yang, Lei Bob has extensive experience in corporate finance and
financial management. He worked for The Hong Kong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited from July 2004 to March 2010 with his
last positions as the Global Banking and Markets managing director
and head of the China Investment Banking Division, and worked for
Goldman Sachs Asia Limited from August 1999 to June 2004 with
his last position as an executive director of the Investment Bank
Division.

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob obtained an MBA (with a finance concentration)
degree from McGill University in Montreal, Canada in June 1993.
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Mr. Lu Yuan

Mr. Lu Yuan (mJ), age 69, was appointed as an independent non
— executive Director of the Company in September 2019 and the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee under the Board of the
Company and a member of the Nomination Committee in March
2020, and was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee
under the Board of the Company in May 2023, responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board and
offering strategic advice and guidance in relation to the business
and operations management of the Group. Mr. Lu Yuan has been
an adjunct professor at the Department of Management and an
honorary teaching and research fellow at the Asia-Pacific Institute of
Business of The Chinese University of Hong Kong since December
20183, and served as an adjunct professor of South China University
of Technology in May 2023. Mr. Lu Yuan was a chair professor at
the School of Business Administration of South China University
of Technology from February 2019 to January 2022, and was
an adjunct professor at the School of Management of Zhejiang
University of Technology from August 2018 to July 2021, and acted
as an independent director of Sirio Pharma Co., Ltd. ({|LIZ4EERH%
A&7 B R AT], a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code:300791) from April 2015 to July 2021. Prior to that, Mr.
Lu Yuan was the Dean of the Business School of Shantou University
from October 2013 to August 2017, and the distinguished professor
there from September 2017 to August 2018, an adjunct professor,
an associate professor and a professor at the Department of
Management of the Chinese University of Hong Kong from August
1996 to September 2013, the Rothmans researcher at Cambridge
Judge Business School (the predecessor of the Judge Institute of
Management Studies) from January 1993 to August 1996 and an
assistant research fellow at Lancaster University Management School
in the UK from 1991 to 1992.

Mr. Lu Yuan received his bachelor’s degree in Engineering from
Beijing University of Technology in January 1982; his MBA from the
China Europe Management Programme (the predecessor of China
Europe International Business School) in December 1986; and his
PhD in Management from Aston University in Birmingham, the UK in
July 1991.
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SUPERVISORS

Ms. Yu Minyu

Ms.Yu Minyu, age 48, was appointed as a shareholder representative
Supervisor and the Chairman of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company in May 2024. Ms. Yu Minyu acted as the General Manager
of the Human Resources Center of the Company from October 2023
to February 2025. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yu was the Vice
President of the Human Resources of Yum! Restaurants Consulting
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (B4 (/&) AR A]) from April 2017
to September 2023, and prior to that, Ms. Yu held the positions
of General Manager of Human Resources of Coca-Cola Bottling
Investment Group China (RJORJ&4EREEE (FE)) and
Human Resource Manager of Pepsico Foods (China) Co., Ltd. (B %
R (FE) BRAR].

Ms. Yu Minyu obtained a bachelor’s degree majoring in English from
Donghua University in July 1999 and her degree of international MBA
in December 2005 from EMLyon Business School in France.

Mr. Liu Xiyue

Mr. Liu Xiyue (£I1Z1}1), age 51, has been a shareholder representative
Supervisor of the Company since December 2019 and is responsible
for overseeing the Company’s operations and financial activities, etc.
Mr. Liu Xiyue has been the Chief Information Officer of the Group
from November 2017 to March 2025. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Liu Xiyue worked at the software center of the Ministry of Posts
and Telecommunications of the People’s Republic of China (the
predecessor of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
of the People’s Republic of China), UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd. (UT
HrE @I AR A R]), Accenture (China) Co., Ltd. (2% (R E) &
[ A 7)) and Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. (2 A& & AT R A 7))
successively from August 1996 to November 2017.

Mr. Liu Xiyue obtained a bachelor’s degree in computer
communication from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications in July 1996 and obtained an MBA degree from
the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University
in June 2001 and completed the International MBA Program of MIT
Sloan School of Management in the same year.
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Mr. Jiang Xiaodong

Mr. Jiang Xiaodong, age 46, was appointed as the employee
representative Supervisor of the Company in May 2024. Mr. Jiang
Xiaodong, joined the Group in January 2005 and served as the
Manager of the Accounting Department of the Finance Center, the
Manager of the Management Accounting Department, the Assistant
to the General Manager of the Finance Center and the Deputy
Director of the Management Accounting Department of the Company
successively. He had served as the Director of the Management
Accounting Department of the Finance Center and the Assistant
to the General Manager of the Finance Center from January 2014
to October 2020, and has served as the Deputy General Manager
of the Finance Center from October 2020 to present. Mr. Jiang
Xiaodong is also currently the supervisor of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. Jiang Xiaodong obtained a bachelor’s degree in Management
with a major in Accounting in June 2000 from the Department of
Business Administration of Zhejiang University and a MBA degree in
June 2013 from Zhejiang University. He became a non-professional
member of Zhejiang Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
December 2009 and obtained the qualification of senior accountant
in Zhejiang Province in February 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. Zhong Shanshan, Ms. Wu Limin,
Mr. Xiang Xiansong, Mr. Rao Minghong and Ms. Han Linyou, see the
biographies in the “Directors” above.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

For the biographical details of Ms. Han Linyou, see the biographies
in the “Directors” above.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of December 31, 2024,

there was no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group is a leader in the packaged drinking water and beverage
business in the PRC with devotion to providing consumers with high
— quality products. The Group’s major products include packaged
drinking water, tea beverage, functional beverage, juice beverage
and agricultural products. Since its establishment in 1996, the
Group has adhered to the principle that “every drop of Nongfu
Spring has its source” (&—# 2 XL R EE T /FEE). The Group
sources all of packaged drinking water products from natural water
sources. We have obtained access to twelve quality natural water
sources in different regions of China which cover the entire national
market supply. The twelve water sources are all located in excellent
ecological environments and have outstanding water quality. The
Group treats the quality natural water with the necessary process,
including filtration and sterilization. Our packaged drinking water
products contain minerals that are beneficial to human body, such as
potassium, sodium, calcium, magnesium and metasilicate.

The Group has established dual growth engines, packaged drinking
water and beverage, which enhance our competitive advantage
and reduce the risks of fluctuating operating results. The Group
implements a multi-brand strategy, has long-term visions for our
brands and strong brand communication capabilities, and has built a
super brand in the PRC soft beverage market.

Please refer to the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report for a review and the analysis using
financial key indicators on the Group business, major risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, and the future development of the
Group’s business.

RELATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The success of the Group relies on the support of important relations
such as employees, suppliers and customers. The Company
maintains a good relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers in order to ensure smooth business operation.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The analysis of the Group’s performance by business segments for
the year is set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The operating results of the Group during the Reporting Period are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 116 of
this annual report.

ISSUED SHARES

Details of the changes in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

Relevant resolution has been passed at a meeting of the Board held
on March 25, 2025, and the Board proposed the distribution of a
final dividend (the “Final Dividend”) of RMBO0.76 (tax inclusive) per
share for the year ended December 31, 2024, with a total amount
of approximately RMB8,547 million. If such profit distribution plan is
reviewed and approved by shareholders at the 2024 AGM to be held
on Tuesday, May 20, 2025, the Final Dividend will be distributed on
August 27, 2025 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Saturday, May 24, 2025.

The Company will not be liable for any claim or dispute over the
withholding mechanism arising from any delay in, or inaccurate

determination of the status of the shareholders.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have a pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The Board may declare and pay dividends after taking
into account results of operations, financial condition, cash flow,
operating and capital expenditure requirements, future business
development strategies and estimates of the Group and other factors
as it may deem relevant. Historical declarations of dividends of the
Company may not reflect our future declarations of dividends.

The allocations to the statutory common reserve are currently
determined to be 10% of the Company’s after-tax profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the fiscal year determined in
accordance with PRC accounting rules and regulations. When the
accumulated allocations to the statutory common reserve reach 50%
of the registered capital of the Company, it will no longer be required
to make allowances for allocation to the statutory common reserve.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS AND
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group’s operations are carried out primarily in the PRC, while
the Shares of the Company are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. The businesses operated by us are subject to the laws
of relevant jurisdiction in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year
ended December 31, 2024 and as of the Latest Practicable Date,
we have complied with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in the applicable jurisdictions.
Specifically, as a manufacturer of packaged water and beverages,
the Group’s operations in China are subject to the applicable food
safety and environmental protection laws and regulations in the PRC.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
non-compliance with such laws and regulations.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Company
and its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities of the Company (including the sale of treasury shares
(as defined under the Listing Rules)). As at December 31, 2024, the
Company did not hold any treasury shares (as defined under the
Listing Rules).
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

For details, please refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds
from the Listing” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the names, principal places of business, places of
incorporation and issued share capital of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes inequity
on pages 120 to 121 of this annual report and note 31 to the
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company may only
distribute dividends out of its distributable profits of the year (i.e., the
Company’s profit after tax after offsetting: (i) the accumulated losses
brought forward from the previous years; and (ii) the allocations to
the statutory surplus reserve and, if any, the discretionary common
reserve (in such order of priorities)).

According to the Articles of Association, for the purpose of
determining distributable profit, the distributable profit of the Company
shall be the lower of its profit after tax determined in accordance
with: (i) the PRC accounting standards and regulations; and (ii) the
international standards or the accounting standards of the place(s)
outside the PRC where the shares of the Company are listed.

As at December 31, 2024, the distributable reserves of the

Company, calculated based on the above principles, amounted to
approximately RMB20,079 million.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 27 to the
financial statements.

ISSUED DEBENTURE

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not issue corporate
bonds.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group purchased less than 30% of
its goods and services from its top five suppliers and sold less than
30% of its goods to its top five customers.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors or
their associates or any Shareholders who is expected to have 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in
the top five suppliers and top five customers of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained directors’ liability insurance to protect
the Directors of the Company against any potential losses arising
from his/her actual or alleged misconduct.

During the year and up to the Latest Practicable Date, permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in Section 9 of the Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong
Kong)) was and is being in force for the benefit of any Directors of
the Company.
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NON-FULLY EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

As of December 31, 2024, Mr. Zhong Shanshan held approximately
84.0380% interest in our total share capital, including approximately
17.1543% direct interest and approximately 66.8837% indirect
interest through Yangshengtang (Mr. Zhong Shanshan holds 100%
of the total registered capital of Yangshengtang, including 98.38%
direct interest and 1.62% indirect interest held by Hangzhou
Youfu, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan). Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang and their respective associates are
our connected persons.

The Group conducted non-fully exempt continuing connected
transactions in 2024. The transactions set out below are made in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms where, as our Directors expected, the highest applicable
percentage ratios for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
would be more than 0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis.
Accordingly, such transactions are subject to the announcement,
reporting, and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules but are exempted from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The following table sets forth the proposed annual caps for and the
actual transaction amounts of such transactions:

1 BEEENEBEARERY

326.0 273.6

Purchase of goods from Yangshengtang and its associates

2 REEE RSB AR IR 3 KR R

100.0 96.6

Basic R&D and test services provided by Yangshengtang and/or its

associates
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Purchasing Framework Agreement

On August 12, 2020, the Company entered into the Purchasing
Framework Agreement with Yangshengtang, pursuant to which, the
Group has purchased bottle caps for the production of “Scream (4
A" and other products of Yangshengtang Group which are sold
through the Group’s new retail channels represented by vending
machines from Yangshengtang and its associates, with a term
commencing from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022. As the
agreement expired, the parties entered into the New Purchasing
Framework Agreement to renew such agreements on December 14,
2022, with the New Purchasing Framework Agreement for a term of
three years from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2025. For details
of signing of the agreement and the transaction, please refer to the
section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus and
the announcement regarding the “Renewal of Continuing Connected
Transactions” published by the Company on December 14, 2022.
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Pursuant to the New Purchasing Framework Agreement,
Yangshengtang Group has agreed to sell and the Group has agreed
to purchase: (i) some bottle caps to produce certain products of
the Group, such as bottle caps of “Scream (420U)”; (i) products
of Yangshengtang Group (including but not limited to food and
cosmetics products) which will be sold through the Group’s
vending machine business and other channels; and (i) products
of Yangshengtang Group used by the Group as raw materials for
production (including but not limited to fruit raw materials used
for juice extraction). The Group will enter into specific agreements
or place purchase orders with Yangshengtang Group to set out
specific terms and conditions in respect of the supply of goods.
The consideration payable by the Group under the New Purchasing
Framework Agreement for purchasing goods will be paid at the time
and according to the method to be agreed in specific agreements or
purchase orders.

The prices of transactions contemplated under the New Purchasing
Framework Agreement shall be determined on an arm’s length basis.
The price for purchasing some bottle caps of certain products of the
Group from Yangshengtang Group by the Group shall be determined
with reference to the fee quote of bottle caps that the Group could
obtain from the independent third party, but in any event shall not be
higher than the fee quote provided by the independent third party;
and the price for purchasing other products of Yangshengtang
Group shall be determined with reference to prices of such products
provided to other independent third parties by Yangshengtang
Group, but in any event shall not exceed the prices provided to
independent third parties by Yangshengtang Group.

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of
the Company and the connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions under the New
Purchasing Framework Agreement entered into by the Company and
Yangshengtang constitute the continuing connected transactions of
the Company.

The proposed annual cap and the actual amount of the transactions
contemplated under the New Purchasing Framework Agreement
for the year ended December 31, 2024 were RMB326 million and
RMB273.6 million, respectively.
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Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement

On August 12, 2020, the Company entered into the Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework Agreement with Yangshengtang and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research, pursuant
to which, Yangshengtang and/or YST Natural Medicine Research
have/has agreed to provide basic beverage R&D services and test
services of raw material and product to the Company, with a term
commencing from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022. As the
agreement expired, the parties entered into the New Basic R&D
and Test Service Framework Agreement to renew such agreements
on December 14, 2022, with the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement for a term of three years from January 1,
2023 to December 31, 2025. For details of signing of the agreement
and the transaction, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus and the announcement regarding
the “Renewal of Continuing Connected Transactions” published by
the Company on December 14, 2022.

Pursuant to the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement, Yangshengtang Group has agreed to provide basic
R&D services and test services of raw material and product related
to the Group’s products to the Group, and authorize the Group to
use other R&D achievements of Yangshengtang Group (other than
the research achievements of Yangshengtang Group entrusted by
the Group) when the Group needs. The Group will enter into specific
agreements or place orders with Yangshengtang Group to set out
specific terms and conditions in respect of the basic R&D, test
services and R&D achievements authorization. The consideration
payable by the Group under the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement for accepting such services will be paid at the
time and according to the method agreed in specific agreements or
orders.
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Fees of basic R&D services provided by Yangshengtang Group
under the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement
will be determined with reference to the actual cost incurred by
Yangshengtang Group with a cost markup of 25% of the actual
costs, and in any event shall not be higher than the prices of similar
services that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers
by the Group. Fees of test services provided by Yangshengtang
Group under the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement will be determined with reference to the prevailing
market prices, and in any event shall not be higher than the prices
of similar services that can be procured from independent third-
party suppliers by the Group. Fees of authorizing the Group to use
other R&D achievements of Yangshengtang Group (other than the
research achievements of Yangshengtang Group entrusted by the
Group) provided by Yangshengtang Group under the New Basic
R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement will be determined
with reference to the specific intellectual property involved and the
prevailing market prices, and in any event shall not be higher than
the prices of similar services that can be procured from independent
third-party suppliers by the Group.

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of
the Company and the connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions under the New Basic
R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement entered into by the
Company, Yangshengtang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST
Natural Medicine Research, constitute the continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

The proposed annual cap and the actual amount of the transactions
contemplated under the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2024 are
RMB100 million and RMB96.6 million, respectively.
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Review for Non-fully Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of the
Company and the connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions abovementioned constitute
the continuing connected transactions of the Company.

The Company has confirmed that the execution and the
implementation of the specific agreements under the continuing
connected transactions set above for the year ended December
31, 2024 has followed the pricing principles of such continuing
connected transactions.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors had reviewed the above non-fully exempt
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these
transactions had been entered into:

i. in the usual course of business of the Company;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on better terms; and

ii. in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditors of the Company to perform certain agreed-upon procedures
in respect of the continuing connected transactions and the auditors
have reported the factual findings on these procedures to the Audit
Committee.
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The auditors of the Company had informed the Board and confirmed
that the abovementioned continuing connected transactions:

i. were approved by the Board;

i. were entered into pursuant to the terms of relevant transaction
agreements; and

. did not exceed the 2024 annual cap disclosed by the
Company in the section headed “Non-fully Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended December 31, 2024,
there is no other related party transaction or continuing related
party transaction set out in note 36 to the financial statements
which constitutes disclosable connected transaction or disclosable
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules. In respect
of the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules in force from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, we have entered into a contract
with each of our Directors and Supervisors in respect of, among
other things, (i) the compliance of relevant laws and regulations;
(i observance of the Articles of Association; and (iii) provisions on
arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has
entered into any director or supervisor service contract with any
member of the Group (other than contracts expiring within one year
or determinable by the relevant employer without the payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation).
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

REE EIENSAEBEABZENEMNA  Biographies of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management

FEREFTABEZTE80E -

are set out from pages 74 to 80 of this annual report.

WEHARBESZE{THE(BRAT  The list of Directors during the Reporting Period and as at the Latest

SNHIESEZEBENT ¢ Practicable Date (unless otherwise stated) is set out below:
i B FEEHEAR% A H FEEHER A H

Commencement Expiry Date of

Date of the Current the Current Term
Name Position Term of Office of Office
BT WTES 2023554 16H 2026554 15H
Mr. Zhong Shanshan Executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
RFgR L WTES 202355716H 2026558150
Ms. Wu Limin Executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
RS WiTESR 2023F5A16H 2026F5A15H
Mr. Xiang Xiansong Executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
BRI L E WTES 202445421 H (HI3E1) 2026557158
Mr. Rao Minghong Executive Director May 21, 2024 (Note 1) ~ May 15, 2026
B L WITES 2023F5A16H 2026554 15H
Ms. Han Linyou Executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
Zhong Shu Zist 4 FEHITES 2023F5H16H 2026%5F 158
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi Non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
RELt FRTES 2023%5A16H 202445 A21 A (Ki3E2)
Ms. Xue Lian Non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 21, 2024 (Note 2)
Stanley Yi Chang %t £ BAUFHTES 2023F5716H 202654158 (FfizE3)
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang Independent non-executive Director  May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026 (Note 3)
BEEE BUFNTES 2023F5A16H 2026F5A15H
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob Independent non-executive Director May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
=R%E BUEMITES 2023%5A16H 2026557150
Mr. Lu Yuan Independent non-executive Director  May 16, 2023 May 15, 2026
37 Notes:

(1) 2024%5721H
o B SEBREAARRRITES -

C R D023 E B i B oK = #E 1) On May 21, 2024, with the approval of the 2023 AGM, Mr. Rao Minghong
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company.

2 HO024E3F » BB L HIRH B {TIEH{TE 2) Ms. Xue Lian has tendered her resignation as a non-executive Director in

FRFS o B2 BT BE2024F5 21 B AR A
2023 FEMARANGERELENMIEENT

Z HRAER -

March 2024. Her resignation took effect from the date of the 2023 AGM
convened on May 21, 2024 when the new Director to be elected officially
assume his/her duties.

) Stanley Yi Chang %t 4 7220254 3 A B A & (©)] Mr. Stanley Yi Chang resigned as an independent non-executive Director of

FRABEARR B IFNITESRT.

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

the Company in March 2025 due to his personal health.
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MIFEQE10/ - ARIBISHEEABRE
ZE2024F 12 A H L FERE R 2 FH WIS
SRENR

REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS,
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating,
reviewing and advising the Board on the remuneration policies and
packages for Directors and senior management of the Company
(“remuneration” shall include but not limited to all salaries, bonuses,
allowances, benefits (in cash or in kind), pensions, compensations
(including compensation payable in respect of loss or termination of
office or appointment), options and gifting of shares).

Details of emoluments of Directors and chief executive and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group in 2024 are set out in note 9
and note 10 to the financial statements from pages 176 to 181 of
this annual report. Details of the remuneration of the current senior
management of the Company by band for the year ended December
31, 2024 are set out as follows:

AE

Number of

N Range individuals
072 1,000,0007T HKS$0 to 1,000,000 0
75#1,000,0017T21,500,0007T HK$1,000,001 to 1,500,000 0
75 #1,500,001 7T 22,000,0007T HK$1,500,001 to 2,000,000 0
72,000,001 7TA £ Above HK$2,000,001 5
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN
TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the Directors’ or Supervisors’ service contracts, those
disclosed in the “Related Party Transactions” in note 36 to the
financial statements in this report and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this report, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or
its holding company or its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which Directors, Supervisors of the Company or their
connected entities have or had for the year ended December 31,
2024, in any way, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors,
the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries or their respective
associates had any interest in a business, which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Company
and its subsidiaries (except as acting as Directors and/or directors
of their subsidiaries and their respective associates), which would
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
requirements of the Model Code are as follows:
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AR TR Interests in the Company

HEBER  HERORA
R} RAER BEREN
BHEA BHEA
(%) (%)
Approximate Approximate
BENRAHE  Percentageof  Percentageof H&/%A/
()  Shareholding  Shareholding  T#tfE & HIMA

Number of in the Relevant inthe Total  Long Position/
#e A3l ERNE Shares Held Classof lIssued Share  Short Position/
Name Class of Shares  Nature of Interest (shares) Shares (%) Capital (%) Lending Pool
=l NER SEEEREER 6,211,800,000 100.0000 552333 {8
Mr. Zhong Shanshan Domestic shares  Interest held by controlled (Ftszr) Long position
corporations (note 1)
EMMEE Hi& REEEREER 1,310,252,410 26.0246 116503 {78
Mr. Zhong Shanshan H shares Interest held by controlled Long position
corporations
BumEL Hi ERREA 1929,249,240 38.3193 17.1543 38
Mr. Zhong Shanshan H shares Beneficial owner Long position
AELEE Hik EEREA 32,400 0.0006 0.0003  ff&
Mr. Xiang Xiansong H shares Beneficial owner i) Long postion
(note 2)
B R EZREA 59,400 0.0012 0.0006 &
Mr. Rao Minghong H shares Beneficial owner (Hizx3) Long position
(note 3)
TBAEE HiR ESRAA 471,250 0.0004 00042 #F8
Mr. Jiang Xiaodong H shares Bengficial owner Long position

I EEENEEAREEB T4y, The information was disclosed based on the data available on the

(www.hkex.com.hk) FTiIR HEBI 5 Bt - £ website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk).

N[BT EBERENAOB S ]J?  The abovementioned “Approximate Percentage of Shareholding

LA11,246,466,400 8% 3% 10 (BN 2024F12 A in the Total Issued Share Capital” is calculated based on the

31THARNB D BEITHRMER ) AEMTE - 11,246,466,400 shares, being the number of issued shares of the
Company as at December 31, 2024.
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As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held
98.38% equity interest in Yangshengtang and indirectly held 1.62% equity
interest in Yangshengtang through Hangzhou Youfu (wholly owned by Mr.
Zhong Shanshan). Therefore, Mr. Zhong Shanshan was deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Yangshengtang.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Xiang Xiansong has beneficial
interests in 32,400 H shares of the Company, which represents the number
of H Shares of the Company underlying the vested incentive shares granted
under the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of the Company. For details
of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to the “Human
Resources and Emolument Policy” in this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Rao Minghong has beneficial
interests in 59,400 H shares of the Company, which represents the number
of H Shares of the Company underlying the vested incentive shares granted
under the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of the Company. For details
of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to the “Human
Resources and Emolument Policy” in this annual report.
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AEEEE RS Interests in Associated Corporations
REEEEN
BEfiNEst
FiissiEs (%)

BENRAHE  Approximate
(&) Percentage of

Number of Interests in
Shares Held Associated

" HEEE S ERtE or Interested  Corporations
Name Name of Associated Corporations Nature of Interest (shares) (%)
BYRBEE BEE(ME) ERAEA TER 98.38
Mr. Zhong Shanshan Yangshengtang (note 1) Beneficial owner N/A
REEER AR Gyl 1,62
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BEEHEABAR(MH2) ERAEAA Tam 247
Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (note 2) Beneficial owner N/A
REEERAER TER 9753
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERERENEERNERAR (HE3) ERHAA 223,951,071 17.10

Beijing Wantai Biclogical Pharmaceutical Enterprise Beneficial owner
Co., Ltd. (note 3)

REEERAER 705,807,928 55.79
Interest held by controlled corporations
EFEBNBRERERAR(HE4) R g TER 6350
Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (note 4)  Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERFRARREE S ER DA (D) XA TER 60.00
Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology Incubator Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
Co., Ltd. (note 5)
BRI R EMREBRAR (He) REEERAER TER 94.93
JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited (note 6)  Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
EFRBELNRRERAT (M) REEERAER TER 60.00
Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (note 7) Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BrEREA(BK)aBrE(BRAK) (H:T8) ERAEA TER 90.00
Guanzi Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 8)
REEER AR TR 10.00
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BTRERE (BK) B E(BRAH) (M) ERAEAA @R 24.81
Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 9)
SEEERAER il 74.94
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERERFABK)ABER(ARAR) (W10) ERZHAA TER 24.81
Chengguang Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 10)
R R g TR 7494
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
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Yangshengtang, our controlling shareholder, is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liability and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan directly held 98.38% equity interest and, through Hangzhou
Youfu (wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan), indirectly held 1.62% equity
interest in Yangshengtang.

Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B4 £ HE AR A7), a non -
wholly owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang, is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liability and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan directly held 2.47% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang,
indirectly held 97.53% equity interest in Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd.

Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd. (Jt REZREY
2§53 B PR A F), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang, is a
joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liabilities with total
share capital of 1,265,122,774 shares. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held
17.70% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang, indirectly held 55.79%
equity interest in Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co.,
Ltd.

Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (EFE2EFI 8528
AR A7), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
indirectly held interest in Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd.
through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.,
which holds 63.50% interest in Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co.,
Ltd.

Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology Incubator Co., Ltd. (1t = Z=E Al
BRI 82 R A7), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai
Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan indirectly held interest in Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology
Incubator Co., Ltd. through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical
Enterprise Co., Ltd., which holds 60.00% interest in Beijing Tairun
Innovation Technology Incubator Co., Ltd.

JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited (##1Z% (dt7) 4 ¥WEH
AR AT, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
indirectly held interest in JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited
through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.,
which holds 94.93% interest in JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company
Limited.
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(7)  Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EFIEFEEYRIFE AR A
al), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Xiamen Innodx Biotechnology Co.,
Ltd. (EFEFINImEEMTGR A 7)) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing
Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.), is a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liabilities and did not issue any
share. Mr. Zhong Shanshan indirectly held interest in Xiamen Innobiomax
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. through Xiamen Innodx Biotechnology Co., Ltd.,
which holds 60.00% interest in Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd.

8 Guanzi Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(FATEEFENR (BK) 68L%E (ARE%) ) is a limited partnership
incorporated in the PRC, where Guanzi Private Equity Fund Management
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (FFAEEEEE (M) BR2AR]) (a wholly
owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang) acts as its executive partner.
Mr. Zhong Shanshan holds 90.00% and 10.00% interest in Guanzi
Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) directly
and indirectly through Guanzi Private Equity Fund Management (Hangzhou)
Co., Ltd. respectively.

(©)] Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) (%
TREKRE (BK) aB80%E (BRAR) ) is a limited partnership
incorporated in the PRC. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held 24.81% equity
interest and, through Yangshengtang and Guanzi Management Consulting
(Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) indirectly held 74.44% and 0.50%
equity interest in Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership (Limited
Partnership), respectively.

(10) Chengguang Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (X ERHER (BK) ABEE (BRE®) )is a limited
partnership incorporated in the PRC. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly
held 24.81% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang and Guanzi
Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) indirectly
held 74.44% and 0.50% equity interest in Chengguang Management
Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership), respectively.

Saved as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the requirements of the Model Code.

RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

No arrangements to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its
holding company or any subsidiary of its holding company is or was
a party enabling the Directors, Supervisors and the chief executive
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisitions of
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate
subsisted during the Reporting Period.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the interests or short positions of the following persons (other than
the Directors, Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company)
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO are as
follows:

fEREER EERTRA
R REH BEREN
BHEA BHEM
(%) (%)
Approximate Approximate
BENRDEA  Percentageof  Percentageof A/ %A/
(&)  Shareholding  Shareholding i MR A
Number of in the Relevant inthe Total  Long Position/
2% B3R ERiE Shares Held Classof Issued Share  Short Position/
Name Class of Shares  Nature of Interest (shares) Shares (%) Capital (%) Lending Pool
BEE NER SEEEREER 6,211,800,000 100.0000 552333 1A
Yangshengtang Domestic shares  Interest held by controlled Long position
corporations
BEE Hi& REEEREER 1,310,252,410 26.0246 116503 #7&
Yangshengtang H shares Interest held by controlled Long position
corporations

FIEBEEEDREERNE XM E
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The information was disclosed based on the data available on the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk).

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
as at December 31, 2024, no person (other than the Directors,
Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company) had any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this Report of the Directors, (i) no contract of
significance was entered into by, and/or subsisted between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year; and (ii) there is no contract
of significance in relation to provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement (as defined in the Section 6 of Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Cap 622D of the laws of Hong Kong)).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of the PRC which oblige the Company to
offer pre-emptive rights of new shares to existing shareholders on
their shareholding proportion.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver from strict
compliance with the requirements of Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules, provided that the minimum public float of the
Company shall be the highest of (1) approximately 13.66% of the
total issued share capital of the Company; (2) such percentage of
H shares to be held by the public immediately after the completion
of the Global Offering and the exercise of the Over-allotment Option
(i,e. 14.11%). Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the
Company has maintained the aforementioned minimum public float
required by the Stock Exchange since January 1, 2024 and up to the
date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board and the management reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements for the year
and has recommended their adoption by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

There was no contract concerning the management or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
which was entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.
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PENSION SCHEME

During the Reporting Period, details of the pension scheme of the
Group are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

DONATION

During the Reporting Period, details of the donation of the Group are
set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group complies with relevant environmental protection laws
and regulations, including the Law on Environmental Protection
of the People’s Republic of China, the Environmental Impact
Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Water
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Regulations on the
Environmental Protection Management of Construction Projects (&
518 B IR B IR E T IR () and other laws and regulations.

For the protection of the water source environment and the
harmonization with the natural habitat of the water source, the Group
has made best efforts to minimize the impact on the surrounding
environment. In addition, the Group conducts specific monitoring
and management of water resources, packaging materials and
energy usage, sewage and GHG emissions during the production
and operations, and strictly controls the environmental and
ecological impacts during the production and operations. Meanwhile,
the Group has established and been continuously improving the
internal environmental protection and sustainable development
management system. Through building a good health, safety and
environmental management system and order in the factory, the
overall management of the water resources, energy and three
wastes emissions in the factory will be achieved, and the overall
environmental performance will be improved.

For details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
please refer to the “2024 Sustainability Report (ESG Report)” and the
“Sustainable Development Policy (2023)” of the Group.

ENTRUSTED DEPOSIT AND MATURED TIME
DEPOSIT

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had not held any deposits
under trust or any time deposit in any financial institution in the PRC
which could not be withdrawn upon maturity.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of their
holding of such securities.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. Based on
their confirmation, the Company considers that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Emnst & Young has served
as the overseas independent external auditor of the Company and
Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP served as the domestic
auditor in the PRC. The financial statements contained in this annual
report have been audited by Ernst & Young. The auditors of the
Company have not changed since the Listing Date.

OTHER EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no major events that occurred after December 31, 2024
that would have a significant impact on the operation and financial
performance of the Group as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The other chapters, reports or notes of this report mentioned above
all form part of this Report of the Directors.

By order of the Board

Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd.
Chairman
Zhong Shanshan

Hangzhou, the PRC
March 25, 2025
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During the Reporting Period, the election of the members of
Supervisory Committee was successfully completed, all members
of the Supervisory Committee of the Company have complied with
the principle of integrity and earnestly performed their supervisory
duties in accordance with the relevant regulations set out in the PRC
Company Law, the Articles of Association and Rules of Procedures
for the Supervisory Committee of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. To protect
the interests of the shareholders and the Company.

. WORKS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the year 2024, the Supervisory Committee held four
meetings, and the procedures for convening and holding
these meetings were in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The details are as follows:

The “2023 Work Report of the Supervisory Committee”, the
“Proposal on the 2023 Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Group”, the “Proposal on the 2023 Draft Announcement of
Annual Results of the Group”, the “Proposal on the 2023 Draft
Annual Report of the Group”, “Proposal on the Declaration of
Final Dividends”, the “Proposal on Appointing the Company’s
External Audit Agency in 2024” and the “Proposal on the
Resignation of Supervisors and the Proposed Appointment
of Supervisors” were considered and approved at the third
meeting of the eighth session of the Supervisory Committee
held on March 26, 2024.

The “Proposal on Proposed Amendment to the Rules of
Procedures of the Supervisory Committee” was considered
and approved at the fourth meeting of the eighth session of the
Supervisory Committee held on April 11, 2024.

The “Proposal on Electing the Chairman of the Supervisory
Committee” was considered and approved at the fifth meeting
of the eighth session of the Supervisory Committee held on
May 21, 2024.

On August 27, 2024, the Company held the sixth meeting of
the eighth session of the Supervisory Committee, considering
and approving the draft unaudited interim financial statements,
interim results announcement and interim report of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the six months ended June
30, 2024, and agreeing not to recommend the declaration of
an interim dividend.

RXIWRBHHRAT NONGFUSPRING Co.,LTD. /105



= BEEEH204FEAREBERE .

HERNER

WEME  EFEREAZHZER
RaEwpw  REBRTERERE -
ERFTETHEE - BERFERITE
EEeRBBIFRRAGREES
GH - MBAREEH LK ERESET
NEARNRBREEF - MBI~ L
T ATS SR B M A B 5 FH R
FEETTEE  ERATER

1. ARAMRREFERBR - REH
B EEEREBETHEQRRDE
AR ERFE TR ME
% BEEKEHESERER
REPRE - HRRAEMERS
MEBIRREREZE  2RER
BROAEE REEF BFK
BREEANEBENETHRIEE
% R AHIREEL  ERAAE
RREERRMENTR

2. WMEARRRFBER - HEH
M BB ARANTEHE
MEATEARRHETT T EBRE - R
BRABHHEHERS - B%E
ERE - KRR - BAR
AI2024 FF BB AT S MBI %
HAREEE « £ REAOR
BT ARNA R - G
EMEEREBEMN -

106/ BXWLRBHHRAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

EEE 23 % REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

COMMENTS OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE ON CERTAIN MATTERS OF THE
COMPANY IN 2024

During the Reporting Period, the members of the
Supervisory Committee adhered to the principles of fidelity
and accountability to all shareholders and duly performed
their duties and works according to the relevant laws and
regulations. The Supervisory Committee worked actively,
supervised the regulatory compliance and operation, financial
condition, use of proceeds from the listing and internal
control, and other matters of the Company through attending
shareholders’ general meetings and board meetings and the
on-site inspections of the Audit and Inspection Center. The
Supervisory Committee has arrived at the following opinions:

1. Regulatory compliance of the operation of the Company.
During the Reporting Period, the Board earnestly
exercised the rights and performed the obligations
conferred by the PRC Company Law and the Articles
of Association to make decisions in time on material
matters including production and operation plans, and
implemented all resolutions adopted at the general
meetings and board meetings. Senior management
managed and operated the Company in compliance
with laws and regulations. The Directors and senior
management have fulfilled obligation of integrity without
violating any laws or Articles of Association or committing
any action which may be against the interests of
shareholders.

2. Evaluation of financial condition of the Company. During
the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee has
supervised and reviewed the financial structure and
position of the Company. The Supervisory Committee is
of the opinion that the financial structure of the Company
was healthy and standardized and the Company was
in a good financial position. The 2024 Audit Report and
the Independent Auditor’s Report of the Company gives
a true, accurate and complete picture of the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company.
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3. The use of proceeds from the listing raised by the
Company. The Supervisory Committee is of the opinion
that the use of proceeds from the listing complied with
the provisions of relevant laws and regulations and the
Articles of Association without violating the interests of
the Company and its shareholders. The Supervisory
Committee of the Company will continue to supervise
and monitor the use of proceeds.

4. Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company.
There was no material acquisition and disposal of the
assets of the Company during the Reporting Period. No
insider dealing or any action that may injure shareholders’
interests or cause any loss of assets of the Company has
been found.

5. Connected transactions of the Company. During the
Reporting Period, the connected transactions between
the Company and all connected persons conformed
to applicable regulations under the Listing Rules.
The connected transactions were based on fair and
reasonable prices and were carried out in accordance
with the principles of reasonableness, fairness and
justice. No harm to the interests of the Company and
unrelated shareholders has been found.

6. Preparation and review of annual report of the Company.
The preparation and review procedures of the 2024
annual report of the Company conformed to all the
relevant regulations of the Stock Exchange. No breach
of confidentiality provisions by any person involved in the
preparation or review of annual report has been found.

In the coming year, the Supervisory Committee will continue to play
the role of supervising and monitoring with an aim to protect the
interests of all shareholders and the Company.

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Yu Minyu
March 25, 2025
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27/F, One Taikoo Place

ZKEEHRME AT Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
BERBIARREBITIN Fax {&E: +852 2868 4432
Ko th—EE2718 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nongfu
Spring Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 108 to 228, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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A ETEH(E)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

RRETER

Key audit matter

BN FTONNEEFARETSER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

W ar B R 34 & B HTH

Revenue recognition and volume rebates

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue of RMB42,896 million from sale of
goods.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring the control of a
promised good to a customer in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for that good.

The Group also offers volume rebates, including
discounts, rebates and promotional incentives, to its
customers in the normal course of business. These
costs are accounted for as a deduction from revenue.

As at 31 December 2024, certain portion of volume
rebates had not been paid and they were accrued in
other payables and accruals.
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Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition
and volume rebates included:

° Evaluating the design and implementation of
internal controls and testing their operating
effectiveness over revenue recognition and
volume rebates;

° Reviewing customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify terms and conditions relating
to the transfer of control over the products sold
and assessing the Group’s timing of revenue
recognition with reference to the requirements of
prevailing accounting standards;

° Comparing revenue transactions recorded during
the current year, on a sample basis, with invoices,
sales contracts and goods delivery notes;

o Comparing, on a sample basis, revenue
transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date with goods delivery notes
and other relevant documentation;
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A ETEH(E)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BREEBE(E)
Key audit matter (continued)

BRANETNARERRETEE(E)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)

W tER R ELZBITH ()

Revenue recognition and volume rebates (continued)
We identified revenue recognition and volume rebates
as a key audit matter because 1) there was a huge
volume of revenue transactions generated from sales
of different kinds of products to a large number of
customers, including direct customers and distributors
in many different locations; and 2) the amounts of
volume rebates were significant to the Group’s gross
profit and it involved significant estimates in determining
certain volume rebates granted to major customers.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 5
and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition
and volume rebates included: (continued)

° Reviewing underlying documentation on a sample
basis, for manual journal entries relating to
revenue raised during the year;

° Reviewing the Group’s assessment of expected
volume rebates, sales discount, and rebate
payables, checking the Group’s historical data for
volume rebates and comparing the actual volume
rebates recorded by the Group with the current
year’s sales amounts of the current year;

o Selecting samples of volume rebates for the
year and comparing each selected item with the
relevant sales contract and customer agreement,
and recalculating the sales discount and rebate
payable by the Group; and

° Comparing subsequent actual settlement
of volume rebates and credit notes with the
corresponding amounts accrued as at the year
end.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BXRIFRHBERLSE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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B2 E () INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also: (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concemn.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yin Guowei.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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mEEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BZE2024F12831HLEFEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

20234
2023
Bi5E ARBT T
Notes RMB’000
Wz REVENUE 5 42,895,992 42,667,221
SHEAA Cost of sales (17,980,277) (17,260,392)
EF Gross profit 24,915,715 25,406,829
E AU A R I ZE Other income and gains 6 2,128,940 1,841,454
HE MDY Selling and distribution expenses (9,173,297) (9,283,999)
T Administrative expenses (1,962,470) (2,162,401)
EMRY Other expenses 6 (29,561) (13,946)
BI5E A Finance costs 8 (91,469) (99,735)
BRELATRR PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 15,787,858 15,688,202
TS Income tax expense 11 (3,664,554) (3,608,704)
FERRF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12,123,304 12,079,498
[SYNCIEZZ PN Attributable to owners of the parent 12,123,304 12,079,498
BAREEERIZEA  EARNINGS PER SHARE
EEEREF ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
AEXREE Basic and diluted
F AR A For profit for the year RMB1.078 RMB1.074
13 AR¥1.078T AREA1.0747T
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mEZHEBER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BZE2024F12B31BLFEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
F A Profit for the year 12,123,304 12,079,498
Hit2mE ks OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AIRBESRHENSERE Other comprehensive income/(loss)
BarEMmEE that may be reclassified to profit or
Wz, (E518) - loss in subsequent periods:
MEH =R Exchange differences:
BEBINETFEER Exchange differences on translation of
bE 5 =58 foreign operations 409 (340)
AIRBERHENDERE Net other comprehensive income/(loss)
BarEMmEE that may be reclassified to profit or
g/ (E518)F 5 loss in subsequent periods 409 (340)
FREMEEKZ(EE) Other comprehensive income/(loss)
(BRFi8) for the year, net of tax 409 (340)
FREEW AT Total comprehensive income for the year 12,123,713 12,079,158
[SYNCIEZ Y= PN 2 Attributable to owners of the parent 12,123,713 12,079,158

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report
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meBERRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024%F12H831H
31 December 2024

20234
2023
Bi5E ARETFIT
Notes RMB’000
EREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
WmE - BENEE Property, plant and equipment 14 21,083,239 17,179,628
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 1,026,650 946,979
| EE Intangible assets 16 71,557 74,222
FET TR E 2 Deferred tax assets 17 1,087,893 921,333
RAEJIRTTIFK Long-term bank deposits 23 10,630,882 1,510,722
BEMIERBEE Other non-current assets 18 188,217 42,831
IEMEN B EBRE Total non-current assets 34,088,438 20,675,715
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 19 5,013,047 3,091,729
BoEWHIENEWEIE Trade and bills receivables 20 581,372 547,021
FERTFOE - EfER Prepayments, other receivables and
HERHEMEE other assets 21 1,218,292 694,778
RN Pledged deposits 23 7,677 2,677
R& NIRRT Cash and bank balances 23 10,722,048 24,125,210
BAFER AERT Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 22 1,529,438 -
MEVEEMRTE Total current assets 19,071,874 28,461,415
=R CURRENT LIABILITIES
B ENZENENEIE  Trade and bills payables 24 1,499,397 1,770,098
HipEA R IE N ESTE R  Other payables and accruals 25 9,543,746 9,288,983
AtaE Contract liabilities 26 3,565,558 3,584,921
FEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 27 3,625,433 3,120,619
EaE Lease liabilities 15 55,705 58,030
FER R IE Tax payables 1,694,898 2,053,907
mEalEER Total current liabilities 19,984,737 19,876,558
FEN(AfE) EEEE  NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (912,863) 8,584,857
HWEERRBAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 33,175,575 29,260,572

BRIFRKHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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REIEARNER(4E) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

20234
2023
bz AREFIT
Notes RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
EREN S Deferred income 28 319,404 303,061
RIEFTEBE Deferred tax liabilities 17 503,098 355,356
HEAE Lease liabilities 15 65,909 31,250
ERENaEREE Total non-current liabilities 888,411 689,667
EEFH NET ASSETS 32,287,164 28,570,905
R EQUITY
BATEEAEER#ZE  Equity attributable to owners of the
parent
&7 Share capital 29 1,124,647 1,124,647
& Reserves 31 31,162,517 27,446,258
HEm4EE Total equity 32,287,164 28,570,905
Zhong Shanshan Wu Limin
BB RFEIR
Director Director
EF 3
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mEERBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BZE2024F12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BOGER AR
Attributable to owners of the parent
FiEA kit E
e ExRfE FERE  XARR iERE RERE  REEA
Share-
Shares based Exchange

Share Capital held by payment  Statutory  fluctuation Retained
capital reserve* trustee* reserve* reserve* reserve*  eamings* Total
AEBTn  ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'OO0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000

fist (Wi2o)  (W&31) (Was1)  (WaEs1)  (Was1)
Notes (note 29) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
04F1 418 At 1 January 2024 1124647 8426540 (64,931) 34,230 562,323 1816 18486280 28,570,905
EREH Prot for the year - - - - - - 12123304 12123304
EREHRENE:  Other comprehensive
income for the year:
HEGNEHELE  Exchange difierences on
EREE translaton of foreign
Operations - - - - - 409 - 409

EneEkzEEE  Totd comprehensive

income for the year - - - - - 4090 12123304 12,123,713
BERYERSRE  Find 2023 dvidends ceclared 12 - - - - - - (8434850 (8434850
HERRATRARR  Disposal of forfted

restricted shares - - 4,957 - - - - 4,951
BEIROZH Recogniton of

share-based payment K] - - - 5,516 - - - 5,516
BESTRIEEHE  Award shares vested

BRHMERN under an employee

share incentive scheme - (3,305) 59,974 (39,746) - - - 16,923

H204E12R317 At 31 December 2024 1124647 842323 - - 562,323 2005 22,1747 32,267,164
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REERBER () CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

BZE2024F12A31ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BRARE AR
Attrioutable to owners of the parent
KitA i Ed
kx  ERRE FRRG  X6EE ReRR  RBEE RERW &t
Share-
Shares based Exchange
Share Capital held by payment Statutory ~ fuctuation Retained
capital fesenve” frustee’ reserve” resene” resenve’ eamings* Total
ARETL  AREfR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RWMBOO0  RMBIOOO
fizt (ar9)  (Baxs1) (Watat) (W) (sn)
Notes (note 29) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
12023F1 418 At 1 January 2023 1124047 8420611 (134,368) 45,308 562,323 2156 14054379 24,084,076
ERgi Proft for the year - - - - - - 12019498 12,079,498
EREMRENE:  Other comprehensive
income for the year:
WERNERELRS  Bxchange diferences on
EXZE iranslafion of oreign
Operations - - - - - (340) - (340)
EnzElaes Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - - (340) 12079498 12,079,158
BERNERARFE  Find 2022 dividend declared 12 - - 1,284 - - - (1647597 (7646313
HERROTRFRR  Disposalof forfaed
restricted shares - - 9,746 - - - - 9,746
BIRNEH Recogntion of
share-ased payment 30 - - - 25,857 - - - 25,857
BESTRESERNE  Awardshares vested
BRHMERN under an employee
share incentive scheme - (3,071) 58,407 (36,955) - - - 18,381
120235 12R318 At 31 December 2023 1124047 8426540 (64,981) 34230 562,323 1816 18486280 28570905

* ZERERERERAVBKAROGARHE
AR #31,162,517,000 7T (2023 F : AR
27,446,258,000 JT) °

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB31,162,517,000 (2023: RMB27,446,258,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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HBERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZE2024F12B31BLFEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

2023F
2023
iyt AREFT
Notes RMB’000
ReTDMERIRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BRI AT A Profit before tax 15,787,858 15,688,202
FLTFISEEL A Adjustments for:
ME - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 2,727,727 2,522,236
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7 135,676 97,774
B EEHE Amortisation of intangible assets 7 11,298 11,432
BAFEFAERR Fair value gains on financial assets at

EREEATERE fair value through profit or loss 6 (9,438) _
HEZRATEGZAES Gains on disposal of financial assets at

ATABER S A EE RS fair value through profit or loss 6 (50,952) -
HEME  BER Loss on disposal of items of property,

RIBEEMER plant and equipment 6 9,737 5,265
HEEPEEBEANER Loss on disposal of items of intangible assets 6 - 199
FISHA Interest income 6 (866,098) (991,247)
B HRIGERE Impairment of trade receivables 7 2,429 4,169
FBNZIE - EffEWEIER  Impairment of financial assets included in

HMEEFNEREE prepayments, other receivables and

NEREEL other assets 7 2,460 2,158
RERERNELTWZ Deferred income recognised in profit or loss 28 (24,314) (20,505)
BBER Finance costs 8 91,469 99,735
IBREEENRM MY Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 7 5,516 25,857
HNEU 2 Foreign exchange gain 6 (75,092) (46,023)

17,748,276 17,399,252

FEEM Increase in inventories (1,921,318) (983,357)
B ZREUGIIE R EWEEIEI  Increase in trade and bills receivables (36,780) (72,603)
B - EfbfEWEUER  Increase in prepayments, other receivables and

Hi &R other assets (530,149) (177,579)
2 S ENTERENEE (Decrease)/increase in trade and bills payables

(R, /4 (270,701) 345,029
HibERFIERETER (Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals

(R4, /4 (152,180) 3,178,927
ERABCRD),/ & (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (19,363) 907,731
BEERGEM),/H (Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits (5,000) 382
REmBRE Cash generated from operations 14,812,785 20,597,782
B ETEH Income tax paid (4,041,273) (3,395,627)
B UER S Interest received 342,220 202,485
ERFE Interest paid (91,588) (99,709)
RETHMBREEMRETZE  Net cash flows from operating activities 11,022,144 17,304,937
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FEHEMRER (M) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

BZE2024F12A31ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

2023F
2023
k3 AREFT
Note RMB’000
RETEMBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEWE  WMEMREBER Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (6,405,992) (4,714,113)
BERNTEFAER Purchases of financial assets at fair value through

HemEE profit or loss (15,613,000) -
HERANTEFAEEN Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value

CREEEIE through profit or loss 14,143,952 -
HEYE  HmERBREEE  Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

FT{S3UE plant and equipment 40,043 26,528
EEERFEE Purchases of intangible assets (8,633) (27,776)
BEFEREEE - TMEM#E  Purchases of right-of-use assets - land use rights (46,164) (120,861)
WEHE - BERREN Receipt of government grants for property,

DR B plant and equipment 40,657 32,146
RURBER RERIEA A Increase in bank deposits with original maturity of

=EAA FERITERIEIM  more than three months when acquired (21,493,307) (26,873,541)
REREHEHAR Withdrawal of bank deposits with original

={AA L EERITIER maturity of more than three months,

(BFEFEBA) including interest income 24,840,847 17,393,803
RETHFAREHETE  Net cash flows used in investing activities (4,501,597) (14,283,814)
METHAERERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

BEARE Dividends paid (8,434,850) (7,646,313)
BiE:TEEE Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings (15,739,304) (13,471,835)
o BEE New interest-bearing borrowings 16,244,237 14,167,329
HERZ E’]$iﬁ5 Principal portion of lease payments (135,183) (80,981)
BRIAR Repurchases of the Company’s shares = -
HERIR XBE%IJE’J Bt Proceeds from disposal of forfeited restricted shares

BrEsE 3,324 9,746
RMETHTARERETFHE  Net cash flows used in financing activities (8,061,776) (7,022,054)
BERBESSEYHALFE  NET DECREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,541,229) (4,000,931)
FRE LA {E ) Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,875,720 7,821,114
HNEFE RSB R 2 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 81,889 55,537
FRASRBALEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR 2,416,380 3,875,720
REeRBESENEHIN ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITRE Cash at bank 23 2,002,531 3,864,789
S EHRRITIE R Short-term bank deposits 23 8,719,517 20,260,421
REFRITER Long-term bank deposits 23 10,630,882 1,510,722
IR R FIBR & Long-term bank deposits and cash and

RERITFEIIAR bank balances as stated in the statement

B RRITHER of financial position 23 21,352,930 25,635,932
W RNUERREEEBA  Less: Bank deposits with original maturity of

= {8 A A ERRITIER more than three months when acquired (18,936,550) (21,760,212)
RBRERERFIERL Cash and cash equivalents as stated
B4 REESEEY in the statement of cash flows 2,416,380 3,875,720
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MR MY EE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024%12H31H
31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. was incorporated and registered in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 27 June 2001. On 8
September 2020, the Company was listed on the Main Board

1. RAAREEER 1.
BRIURBEMDAERARFHR2001F6 A
27TBEFRFEARLMBA(FE ) FMH
ST RREED o 202059 A8H - AR

RAIRBRBEZSMBRAR(EE
B 32 BT )) 2R LT (AR 157 9638,
HK) o 571 9% 5 52 s 1k 24 45T & AN
M= S RETHE1815% ©

REBSEATEEER

- SERHEEBRSAKERE

e

- HEREmM

ERERR  RAARMEZERA R R&
BRERAFREBEERRAF - ZA
BIRAH BEM AL ©

of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”)
(stock code: 9633. HK). The address of the registered office
is No. 181, Geyazhuang, Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang

Province.

The Group was involved in the following principal activities:

- Production and sale of packaged water and beverage

- Sale of agricultural products

In the opinion of management, the holding company and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Yangshengtang

Co., Ltd., which is incorporated and registered in the PRC.

B AT ER Information about subsidiaries
ARABMEBWBARIFFIBEHNNOT Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:
WAL/ ERR BRTEE/ KATEM
£B LEHERAH EfRAE BRADL TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i M
Direct Indirect
Shanghai Nongfu Spring Drinking Water ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 4 September 1997 and beverage
FRRRIRKAKERAR hE /B AK%1,000,0007T 100% TER  BERRKAKRRE
199749 H4H
Nongfu Spring Hangzhou Thousand- PRC/Mainland China RMB171,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Island Lake Drinking Water Company 3 August 1999 water and beverage
Limited
ERILFMMNTFSHRAK RE /BN AEH171,000,0007C 100% TR AEBERAKRSE
BRATF 19998 A3H
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1. RARKEEER(E)

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
ERAL BER BRITER/ FRRES
£ Rty gk TR BEESNL TEXE
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i 3
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Jiin Changbai Mountain -~ PRC/Mainland China RMB138,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Company Limited 26 June 2001 water and beverage
BRLFERRALBRAT i,/ EA AE#138,000,0007T 100% TNER  EEEFAKREH
200146 26K
Nongfu Spring Zhejiang Thousand-Island - PRC/Mainland China RMB111,800,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Lake Company Limited 23 July 2003 water and beverage
BRLFMITERERAR E,/hEN ARH111,800,0007 100% NER  AERERAKRAH
20037 A23H
Nongfu Spring Guangdong Wanlv Lake  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Company Limited 7 April 2004 water and beverage
EXLRERBSENBERAR B/ BN AR¥%50,000,0007C 100% TER  EEARGAKRHH
200444 A7H
Xinjiang Nongfu Base Manas Food PRC/Mainland China RMB25,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Company Limited 9 February 2006 water and beverage
MERRENEHTRRARRA) i,/ hEN AE#25,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
200652 A9H
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Xin'an River PRC/Mainland China RMB190,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 9 November 2006 water and beverage
EXRLF(BE) RIS i,/ E A AK190,000,0007 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
BRAT 2006%11A9A
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMRL/ BER BRITER/ FRRES
£ Rty gk TR BEESNL TEXE
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Pingshan) PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 95% 5%  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 26 December 2006 and beverage
BRF (2RI ) BRAF /R EA AR#30,000,0007C 95% 5% SREBRKAKRAE
2006F12 7264
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Tea Garden) PRC/Mainland China RMB85,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Company Limited 26 December 2006 water and beverage
BRILUR(FRRE)ERAR E/hEN AR #85,000,0007 100% NER  AERERAKRAH
2006412 A26H

Nongfu Spring Sichuan Emei Mountain -~ PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged

Beverage Company Limited 27 November 2008 water and beverage
BRURINEE LR BRAT RE /BN AR#20,000,0007C 100% TER  EEIRGAKRSH
2008F11 A27H
Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangKou PRC/Mainland China RMB116,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
(Xincheng) Beverage Company Limited 29 June 2009 water and beverage
BRI A G ) gkt i,/ hEN AK¥116,000,0007 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
BRAF 2009%6429A
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1. RARKEEER(E)

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMRYL/ BER BRTEE/ KARELN
£ KewHRAH EfRE BHEADL TEEK
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
B G}
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Fusong Changbai PRC/Mainland China RMB251,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain Natural Mineral Water 4 February 2010 water and beverage
Company Limited
BRIIFELR AL RABRK /R EA AR#251,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKREE
BRAR 2010%2R4H
Nongfu Spring Shaanxi Taibai Mountain - PRG/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 2 September 2011 water and beverage
EXLFERARBLARERAT RE /BN AE#60,000,0007C 100% TER  EEESAKRHH
201199H28
Nongfu Spring (Guizhou) Wuling PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain Beverage Company Limited 23 October 2012 water and beverage
BRILR(EMBRRILKRBERAR  hE/PERM AR #50,000,0007C 100% TER  EERGAKRHH
2012410A23H
Nongfu Spring Guizhou Fanjing Mountain - PRG/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 24 April 2014 water and beverage
BRUSENTFLRAKERAT  FE /BN AE%20,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
201454 5244
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2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. ATREEEE(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
B ATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T : (%) follows: (continued)
EMAYL/ BER BRTEE/ FARELS
£ BeEpURAH AR BEEML TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
B B
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Manas County Beverage ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 21 October 2014 and beverage
ERLFBEHAGEHHERA E/ hEN ARH1,000,0007 100% TNER  HEBRERBKRAR
2014410A21H
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Xin'an River PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 10 December 2014 water and beverage
BRILR(BE)ADIKAKERAE &/ PERL AR¥#30,000,0007C 100% TER  EEIRGAKRHH
2014512108
Nongfu Spring Sichuan Beverage PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Products Company Limited 31 December 2014 water and beverage
BRLSIIRRERAT i,/ hEA ARH10,000,00070 100% TER  EEAEFAKREH
2014%12A31H
Yili Nongfu Spring Fruit Industry PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 N/A 100%  Sale of agricultural
Company Limited 8 June 2015 products
FREEXLIRREBRAT i,/ E A AKH10,000,00070 TER 100% HEREM
201566 A8AH
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1. RARKEEER(E)

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
ERAL BER BRITER/ FRRES
£ Rty gk TR BEESNL TEXE
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i 3
Direct Indirect
Xinfeng Nongfu Spring Fruit Industry PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 N/A 100%  Sale of agricultural
Company Limited 27 July 2015 products
EERRLRREEARAT E/ R AR #10,000,00070 NER 100% HEREM
201557 H27H
Nongfu Spring Wulin Mountain Chengde  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 29 March 2016 water and beverage
BRLURBRILAZHKAKERLR  HE/REAM AR#10,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBESAKRRE
2016637 29H
Nongfu Spring Guangdong Wanlv Lake  PRC/Mainland China RMB15,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 8 December 2016 water and beverage
EXLFERBSAREBRAR B/ BN AR¥%15,000,0007C 100% TER  AEBERAKRAE
20165 12A8R
Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangkou PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
(Junzhou) Beverage Company Limited 11 July 2017 water and beverage
ERLFALATAIM)HH RE /BN AR #50,000,0007 100% TR AEBERAKRSH
BRAE 2017474118
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
B A TR ER () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMRL/ BER BRITER/ FRRES
£ Rty gk TR BEESNL TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i G
Direct Indirect
Xinfeng Nongfu Spring Beverage PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 N/A 100%  Production of packaged
Company Limited 2 August 2017 beverage
EERXLRAHERAT i,/ EA AR#30,000,0007C TEm 100% AEEBEHH
201748 A2H
Nongfu Spring (Fujian Wuyi Mountain) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 29 August 2017 water and beverage
BRLS(BERRL)RAKERAE  HE/ BN AR 50,000,0007T 100% TER  AERERAKRAH
201748 729H
Nongfu Spring (Anji) Smart Life PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 12 December 2017 and beverage
BRLUR(ZE)ERERBRAA RE /BN AE#100,000,0007C 100% TER  HEBRRSAKRRE
20175124128
Nongfu Spring Hubei DandiangKou PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Sales Company Limited 21 November 2018 and beverage
BRUSHLAIOHEERAT E,/hEN AEH10,000,00070 100% TER HERESAKRIH
2018411 A21H
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMRL/ BER BRITER/ FRRES
£ Rty gk TR BEESNL TEXE
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Anji) Food Sales PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 22 November 2018 and beverage
BRR(ZE)RRHERRAR /R EA AR¥1,000,0007T 100% TNER  HERESRKREH
2018117220
Shanghai Nongfu Spring Supply Chain -~ PRG/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Supply chain management
Technology Company Limited 16 May 2019
EERRILREEERRERAR E,/ hEN AEH50,000,00070 100% TER  fERER
2019554 16H
Nongfu Spring (Shaanxi) Honghe Village  PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 12 July 2019 water and beverage
BRILR (PRF) AL AgE /R E A AR#30,000,0007C 100% TER  EEBERAKRAE
BRATF 2019674128
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Industrial PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Development Company Limited 19 November 2021 and beverage
BRIUR(ER)EERREERAR RE /BN AK10,000,0007 100% TER  HEARGRKRHH
2021411 A19H
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MtEARIER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RARHETENEB A RIGFIEHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
EMRL/ BER BRITER/ FRRES
£ Rty gk TR BEESNL TEXE
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i G
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Guangxi Daming PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Mountain Beverage Company Limited 30 September 2021 water and beverage
BRUSFERARLSHERAR i,/ EA AR #50,000,00070 100% TNER  EEAEFAKREH
202149 A30H
Nongfu Spring (Zhejiang) Beverage PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Beverage Research
Research and Development 10 August 2022 and Development;
Company Limited IT Research and
Development
BRILR AT SEHEER /R EA AE#10,000,00070 100% TNER  HRIE TR
BRATF 20226:8A10H
Nongfu Spring (Anhui Huangshan) PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 6 September 2022 water and beverage
BRLR(ZREL)SAKERRR B/ RERXM AR 30,000,0007T 100% TER  EEIRGAKRHH
202269 A6H
Nongfu Spring (Deqing Mogan Mountain) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Beverage Products Company Limited 23 September 2022 and beverage
BRLR(BERTL)RRERAT B /BN AK%10,000,0007C 100% TER  HEBRRSAKRRE
2022069 A23H
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RAREEER(E)
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2024%12831H
31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

ERAL BER BRITER/ FRRES
£ Rty gk TR BEESNL TEXE
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# 3
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Anji) Supply Chain PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% N/A Supply chain management
Technology Company Limited 14 September 2022
BRLR(ZE)HRERBARAT  FE/HEN AR#30,000,0007C 100% TER  HEEER
202269 A 14H
Hangzhou Yaye Agricultural PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A Refined tea processing
Development Company Limited 25 March 2024
MNEERERRERLA i,/ E A AEH10,000,00070 100% TER  BEEMI
2024534250
Guangxi Yaye Agricultural PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Refined tea processing
Development Company Limited 18 July 2024
BRAREREURARAR e/ Rk AR#10,000,00070 100% TER  BEAMT
202457 R 18H
ARAREEMEXELE  PEHITIMHL The English names of the companies registered in the PRC

AR AR BHARRERERK
RENERPXEHERBEMR - &%
SERA/BRBEPEEENINEGRE

[ESSE S

ERNTEERBRIBFEFANERA
HBRAKEEEFRENI DA
REMBLRAE - EERA - BEHEM
MBARNFIEESRIEENITE

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

represent the best efforts made by the management of the
Company in directly translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English names have been registered. These
entities are limited liability enterprises established under PRC
law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, which comprise
standards and interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and International
Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB912,863,000
as at 31 December 2024. In view of the net current liabilities
position, the directors have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the long-term bank deposits in
Mainland China held by the Group, which amount to
RMB10,630,882,000, are freely convertible into cash, the
directors are satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its
financial obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2024%12831H
31 December 2024

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investeeg;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

BXRIFRHBERLSE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

/135



B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

22 BIERSBREE 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

REBERARFET KRR EXIRBA The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting

AN S RT BB A s S et 228 » Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

BIRRBI SRS  EAHOEHE Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

F16TRAERT A& Leaseback
B2 BB EDEET Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
FEREERET B/ E ) Current or Non-current (the
([2020%F (& “2020 Amendments”)
11
B et 4R B 2 FE Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
FRANER] #FE([2022 Covenants (the “2022
FE3T ) Amendments”)
R ERIETSR AEFHELTH Amendments to IAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
Ko BB A 75 IFRS 17
BB
1&57

KISETRIR S st R LB The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting

R BINT - Standards are described below:

@ EERMBmEERE169MIEE] (@ Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
RIABE S —ABAREERHE seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
ERXSEAMEESEREAN in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
BT UWBRES —FEATE lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
R EFTIREE (E AR E that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
A= BE SR - BRAEE has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
TEIA FE A BB B A 3R A5 2RI 28 lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
1655 & B I 8 &= A E R EUAR occurring from the date of initial application of IFRS 16,
R—IEBHESF RN EHERN the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
FHERERRS  ZEER] position or performance of the Group.

I AR B AR R IR
BEIEMZE
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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31 December 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to
apply these new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?

Amendments to IFRS 9 and  Amendments to the
IFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets
IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7,
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Accounting Standards
- Volume 11

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

o

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these revised IFRS Accounting Standards upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these revised
IFRS Accounting Standards are unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and
equity investments at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-
current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO.,LTD. /141



B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

2.4 EREFBEK(E) 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2k ya Related parties
WM — A AT - BIE A A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
ERZRES B A R
@ MMZABUTN—HHUAT—FH (a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
REEOFHKE - Bz - family and that person:
() Tl EEE I A EE ()  has control or joint control over the Group;
iy HAEEEEATE (i)  has significant influence over the Group; or
579
@iy BAEBEIAEETRA (i) is a member of the key management personnel of
MNETEEEERE the Group or of a parent of the Group;
5% or
b) WA BFE TIEMEHNE (o) the party is an entity where any of the following
8 : conditions applies:
) ZEREAEEEBER— () the entity and the Group are members of the same
BHRKE AR group;
(ii) —Faﬁﬁﬁj%%ﬁ BEE(E®S (i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
—EBENSERNGE - EA other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
Al A ?Mﬂ% GIDL): A subsidiary of the other entity);
NEIREEDE
(iy ZEREAEEHAER— (i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
FE=AME R same third party;
vy —HAERBAEF=-FTEN (v)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
BENE mME—EBRA other entity is an associate of the third entity;
ZE-HERNEE NG

v) ZERAAEEFEAE (v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
BEEEENERLESR the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
AR 7 BRI R FETE entity related to the Group;

Vi) ZEEX@FTHAALE (vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
Hll gk HEFEH person identified in (a);

Vi) REOFTHEAMNATHZE (viij  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
BREEAVELBZER over the entity or is a member of the key
(HZEBNE RG] EE management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
BIEBEKE & of the entity); and

Vi) ZEENEBEEBNT (viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
Al Bk B A Al [ 248 & B 5), A part, provides key management personnel services
EEMNERRIREETEE to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
BABRT °
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is hormally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Yl fhEt AT e A SE 1A fhETRIEREE
Estimated Estimated

Category useful life residual value

gx 5-20%F 3%

Buildings 5-20 years

Heas 5-10%F 3%

Machinery 5-10 years

E 5-104 3%

Motor vehicles 5-10 years

B HERERE 3-5% 3%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years

HEMZEEE THEIRS-5F (AR & ALE) 0%

Leasehold improvements
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Shorter of the lease terms and 3-5 years
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

4z 2024 Annual Report



B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 BEXREFTHEGE)

B/RLEE(FERMD) (F)
BREENTEMEFTAIERFHNT

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
The principal estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as
follows:

=l fhET AT e S 5 fAETRIKEE
Estimated Estimated

Category useful life residual value

LS 2-10%F 0%

Software 2-10 years

B RKERIERT AT % LT A EE 2R 0%

Mineral water mining licence Over the licence term

HAh 5-10%F 0%

Others 5-10 years

7t Software

R AR R EE RS - I
REMAF A ERAFH2E10FNERE

TERKIRGE T A8
i SROKBR BB T AT B IR PR DI R - 2 PA
BARRIRA A E BAR B 8E o

Eh

H o (B35 F A J HE U ) 1R K A7)
B WABGEILZE (TR FE A5
FE10F#H -

LI
PR ARELR BERRINR -

MBEMERBAMEENRAXESRE
AEEAEEESRZELEEREL
A fE A BRI TS - A
EERREAENERAIHEZLE
E - REESEERKEENGENT
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RN M SEMAT B - 75
T NERMCRIERE - KRG A Lt
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Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
lives of 2 to 10 years.

Mineral water mining licence
Mineral water mining licence is stated at cost and is amortised
on the straight-line basis over the licence term.

Others

Others include patents and emission right, which are stated
at cost and amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Office premises and plant 2-5 years
Equipment 3-7 years
Others 2-5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(¢)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings and site
fee (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of
office equipment and machinery that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“OCI”), and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit
risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,

other payables and accruals, interest-bearing borrowings,
lease liabilities and derivative financial instruments.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables,
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three
months that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Some contracts for the sale of goods provide customers with
rights of return and volume rebates, giving rise to variable
consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right of
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the transaction
price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead of
revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset
(and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from a customer.

Variable consideration: volume-based rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the customer.
To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold. The selected method that best
predicts the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven
by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a liability for the expected future
rebates is recognised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share incentive scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is computed based on their
most recent post-money valuations.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

4z 2024 Annual Report



B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 BEXREFTHEGE)

B2 32 A3 ()

BN GEE R 2 RIS - T
EBEMBM RE R KIERAXE
R TR A DR TERR © LESN - FRIE AN
ERBM 2Rz X ARG ES L E
BEMzERMmE - REKXBHZF
HHERRMAX -

ERAEEREEHEE - @RS
EHEHRE - Mz RE R ARERZ
ERFX SR o WER/REAR
ENEARE Y EBIENANIERB
fERfF 2 ¥REN - 2AT - A — TR EREA
BREHEZHM - XEE/REER
ZEREM - RIZIAERE R e
a0 b B Pt AR R R B RN 2 (& 2R
BRI

Hittlg 8 &+

RIKEHE
AEBRPEAMGEOHNBARZ
EEAEZEAE T RFEENT R
BAREE - AEEAREETEK
AOETBED AT REAKESFEIE
B o HARRBIRT RB RS E
RAENKERRRME - SHEEX
1 B KA AT A AR R A SR B A R 3R
% BEARHESEER -

BINHEBABIMEREREENRER
BATIRIRERE S T PrEUR BIME
Ho YR ENHEARIERS - 8
BRIk -

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme. Contributions paid for an employee are not available
to reduce the Group’s future obligations even if the employee
leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in
the collective labour agreement, and recorded as an expense
in the period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit
or loss.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess
whether the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting
events after the reporting period and update the disclosures
that relate to those conditions in light of the new information.
For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the
Group will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting
events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a statement
that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. Further details are
contained in note 17 to the financial statements.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included
in the transaction price for the sales of products with volume
rebates.

The Group’s volume rebates are analysed on a per customer
basis for contracts that are subject to a single volume
threshold. Determining whether a customer is likely to be
entitled to a rebate depends on the customer’s historical
rebate entitlement and accumulated purchases to date.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume
rebates yearly and the sales discount and rebate payables are
adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates
are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s
past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not be
representative of a customer’s actual rebate entitlements in the
future.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has five reportable
operating segments as follows:

° the water products segment engages in the manufacture
and sale of packaged drinking water;

° the ready-to-drink tea products segment engages in the
manufacture and sale of ready-to-drink tea beverages;

° the functional drinks products segment engages in the
manufacture and sale of functional beverages;

° the juice beverage products segment engages in the
manufacture and sale of juice beverage products; and

° the other products segment engages in the manufacture
and sale of agricultural products and other beverages.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that interest income, finance costs,
other income and gains, as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement. No analysis
of segment assets and liabilities is presented as management
does not regularly review such information for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. Therefore,
only segment revenue and segment results are presented.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable segment.

BZ2045E Year ended
12831 HLLERE 31 December 2024
23 (fi32s) Segment revenue (note 5)
MNIEEHE Sales to external customers 15,952,354 16,744,537 4,932,110 4,084,857 1,182,134 42,895,992
PHEE Segment results 4970517 7,562,635 2,081,961 1,017,117 302,146 16,024,376
- Reconciliation:
FlEHA Interest income 866,098
ERDEUARYE  Other unallocated

income and gains 1,262,842
TEREMASEHRS  Corporate and other

unallocated expenses (2,273,989)
YBER Finance costs (91,469)
bl Profit before tax 15,787,858
EthrBER Other segment information
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 869,904 912,913 285,086 299,605 77,920 2,445,428
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2024%12831H
31 December 2024

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

DI R A () Segment revenue and results (continued)
KEER HMREEER DESHER RTRNER AthEm a5t
Ready-to- Functional Juice
B E2023F Year ended Water drink tea drinks beverage Other
12A31ALFE 31 December 2023 products products products products products Total
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT AR%ETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERUER (P555) Segment revenue note 5)
mINERPHE Sales to external customers 20,262,256 12,658,888 4,901,553 3,533,612 1,310,912 42,667,221
PREE Segment results 7,347,163 5622266 2,067,738 945,632 396,208 16,379,007
#E Reconciliation:
MEHA Interest income 991,247
EtARARMARYE  Other unallocated
income and gains 850,207
PEREMANEMT  Corporate and other
unallocated expenses (2,432,524)
HBER Finance costs (99,735)
CEThel Profit before tax 15,688,202
At EEs Other segment information
WEREH Depreciation and amortisation 983,720 641,571 257,651 226,668 81428 2,191,038
h B & R Geographical information

7N 5 [ 780 99 % H Ui 2 N 48 & i K| 19 2R
BHREARMNEP - MAKEEI9%
B AT R B EM B B RR B A o

FEEFER

HE2024F 202312 A31H IERE
E BEREAEEE-—TFNHEE
WS (R A B B U 10% 3 A L -
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Over 99% of the Group’s revenue and operating profits are
derived from customers based in Mainland China and over
99% of the Group’s identifiable assets and liabilities are in
Mainland China.

Information about major customers

No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for
each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

5. W 5. REVENUE

WD HTAT - An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20234
2023
ARBET T
RMB’000

KEEFEAIBI Wz Revenue from contracts with customers

HEE G Sale of goods 42,895,992 42,667,221

it M T R ) By D S A R A By P 6
FBITIHE XN mABAIRTS 2B -

BHEIRRNERER KRBTSR
RRANK(EZEEEHNTFRE
S - SR —RNI0RAENE -
ERPAIERE|X) - BOEHET
BEPRENEMNREEEBTH - K

AEBYWERABEHHRBELE —FH
WaRE4H - B ERED &R BRI
BREERFEIGKB TN EREET
% BEFEBEIREZHEREHR
REKREBAEXNBNEENR S
{B1& -
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The timing of the above revenue recognition is when the
performance obligations of sales and delivery of goods are
satisfied at a point in time.

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
goods and payment in advance is normally required, except
for customers with credit terms, where payment is generally
due within 30 days, and extended up to 90 days for major
customers. Some contracts provide customers with a right
of return and volume rebates which give rise to variable
consideration.

The Group has no revenue contract that has an original
expected duration of more than one year, thus management
has applied the practical expedient under IFRS 15 and is not
required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
prices allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied or partially satisfied as of the end of the reporting
period.
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

6. HtWARWZEUREMBIX 6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, AND OTHER

EXPENSES
2023
2023
k=3 ARETFT
Notes RMB’000
Hirg A Other income
FEHA Interest income 866,098 991,247
TR e Bh K i B Government grants and
subsidies
B ZE AR related to income 0} 761,334 505,897
L E R related to assets (i) 24,314 20,505
SHEER Sales of scraps 126,365 103,729
fAEWA Income from compensation 27,310 29,361
Hp Others 117,540 121,036
1,922,961 1,771,775
g Gains
FE H 5 F 58 Foreign exchange gain, net 75,092 46,023
LA ERT ABRER Fair value gains on financial
eRBEEQTERS assets at fair value through
profit or loss 9,438 -
HEUAFEFEREE Gains on disposal of financial
FFAERN S REEW S assets at fair value through
profit or loss 50,952 -
EHAh Others 70,497 23,656
205,979 69,679
2,128,940 1,841,454
Hhpaxx Other expenses
HEME - BER Loss on disposal of items of
HAETE B R EE property, plant and equipment (9,737) (5,265)
HEMBARIREE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - (3,245)
B Donations (15,555) (1,021)
HESLEEEB/ER Loss on disposal of items of
intangible assets = (199)
Efth Others (4,269) (4,216)
(29,561) (13,946)
0] ZNE B B Uk B B 25 AR BB M BRI R B 2 (i) The government grants and subsidies related to income have been
AL ZERRER AT HEIAE received to reward for the contribution to the local economic growth.
B E I E R E R - 2% These grants related to income are recognised in the statement
B S IBEEERA R % E4EE B 5SS of profit or loss upon receipt of these rewards and the related
HEERIEE(NE)BEERRNE conditions associated with the rewards are met, if any. There are no
R o WEEZ S HBNA BRI AR mE 15 unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
HRAEIE o
(ii) NEE DU D ERISE S EEMMEENE (ii) The Group has received certain government grants related to the
FET#B) - BE EREHN BN TEE investments in production bases. The grants related to assets were
BEMMFHEHARIBREERPHER recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the useful lives of
BEERBENZ S/ EENM T relevant assets. Details of these grants related to assets are set out
28 o in note 28.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

7. BRBIATER 7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
REFEGBAEMNTIIG(GEA)T The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
PFIRIEFE ¢ (crediting):

20234
2023
BfaE ARBT T
Notes RMB’000
FEHERK A Cost of inventories sold* 17,980,277 17,260,392
M - BWEREEITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 14 2,727,727 2,622,236
FRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 135,676 97,774
EREERE Amortisation of intangible assets** 16 11,298 11,432
BTEMFEX Employee benefit expenses (including
(BIREEERTE/TH  directors’ and chief executive’s
ABHM(F3E9)) :© remuneration (note 9)):
TERF® Wages and salaries 3,533,293 4,175,692
IRINEETEI T - #& Pension scheme contributions,
B F R B Ath A FI > social welfare and other welfare*** 762,663 729,693
ARG 45 E HOR% 1) ST 1 Equity-settled share-based payment
5 expenses 5,516 25,857
(iR {D % Research and development costs*** 306,436 349,148
EHGHEE - Expenses relating to short-term leases,
AIEHEREEE variable leases and leases of low-
BEHSAEBENER  value assets 15 157,152 192,665
B 5 RWF IR RIE Impairment of trade receivables 20 2,429 4,169
TE{I3IE - Bl Impairment of financial assets
HIERHMEESE  included in prepayments, other
TRIBERE receivables and other assets 21 2,460 2,158
BAFEET AEBZA  Fair value gains on financial assets
SEMEEATFEWRS  atfair value through profit or loss 22 (9,438) -
HeERAFESEH  Gains on disposal of financial assets
ESE T ABEN at fair value through profit or loss
DREEEWE (50,952) -
1% S5 R 55 B Auditor’s remuneration 5,736 6,241
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Sk

B Rk M5 () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Al A ()

FEHEERSREEYE - BERRE
e ERREENERETRANEH
MR - EBREE DB EFE X 05
BEMERES -

HE2024F 2023512 A31 B ILEE
A E R AT AR S B R MTTIR
s o

ANEEEE T A BIERIER A HFUKTE
ZORYAR

MEXRARITEYE BELRET
B ERREENERE TRAEREN
Fz - BMBEE il SRR D B
BROMEERS -

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

*

Cost of inventories sold include expenses relating to depreciation
of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use
assets and staff costs, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above for each of these types of
expenses.

* The amortisation of intangible assets for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 is included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

= Research and development costs include expenses relating to
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of
right-of-use assets and staff costs, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above for each of
these types of expenses.

8. MBEAR FINANCE COSTS
PEERSTIT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
20234F
2023
ARBFIT
RMB’000
FFEEEHFE Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 85,717 95,776
HEABENNE Interest on lease liabilities 5,752 3,959
&3t Total 91,469 99,735
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9. EX ESRIETHAEH 9.

[

FREF BEFERIBTBRABNF
RE EHRA - BAERFRMF
383(1)(@) * (b) ~ (c) K ()i~ A (K&
EE=MAmER) RIS fEHR

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)
(@), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about

[ (N Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
W Fees 957 894

HEie Other emoluments:

e Salaries 15,055 10,920
EREBAEAT Performance related bonuses 18,787 9,941
RN FHEIMER Pension scheme contributions 828 591
AR REEE R B BIFI S Equity-settled share award expense 412 1,877
35,082 23,329
36,039 24,223

@ BIFBTES
FAXNTFELIFRTEENE

(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

SIERAT ¢ during the year were as follows:
20234
2023
ARBEFIT
RMB’000
BRI AE Mr. Lu Yuan 319 298
Bk E Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 319 208
Stanley Yi Chang?t 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 319 298
At Total 957 894

FRERBIENITEE I
E 4 (20234 : M) o
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There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2023: nil).
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. EEX -EBERIEBTHAEH
(&)
(b) EBTHAE -  BITES - #Y

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Chief executive, executive directors, non-executive

TESERESE directors and supervisors
20245 2024
iz
Notes
TEABAE Chief executive and
®UEE: executive director;
BRMEE Mr. Zhong Shanshan 2,044 1,460 - = 3,504
Bi1EE: Executive directors:
R¥lgat Ms. Wu Limin 4,211 4,583 17 - 8,965
AR E Mr. Xiang Xiansong 1,024 4,000 112 112 6,148
Bt Ms. Han Linyou 1,138 1,759 17 94 3,008
BRI LA Mr. Rao Minghong i 729 - 75 103 907
e Non-executive directors:
Zhong Shu Zi% 4 Mr. Zhong Shu Zi 703 308 1 - 1,178
BERT Ms. Xue Lian (i 285 1,565 20 - 1,870
g% Supenisors:
BT Mr. Rao Minghong 529 2,920 59 - 3,508
Bgnt Ms. Liu Min i} - - - - -
IERGE Mr. Jiang Xiaodong ) 571 - 7 - 643
THEat Ms. Yu Minyu ) 1,501 - 91 - 1,682
Aziiss Mr. Liu Xiyue 1,330 2,102 134 103 3,669
15,055 18,787 828 42 35,082
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

9. EE EERFETHAEH 9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF

B (4&) EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) EFETHAE - HTEE - ¥kH (b) Chief executive, executive directors, non-executive
TESEREE(H) directors and supervisors (continued)
E:50 &ihe  HREREN
He  EWeRA SEMT ROMEAR At
Performance- Pension  Equity-settled
related scheme  share award
2023F 2023 Salaries bonuses  contributions expense Total
it ARETR  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TEHAR Chief executive and
RUMES: executive director:
ERREE Mr. Zhong Shanshan 2,044 1,460 - - 3,504
HES: Executive directors:
RAGRT Ms. Wu Limin 2,081 23 91 - 2,395
ML Mr. Xiang Xiansong 1,042 3,000 59 551 4,652
AEERT Ms. Zhou Zhenhua 689 1,428 73 - 2,190
BAhkk Mr. Zhou Li 689 1,006 57 - 1,772
Pt Mr. Guo Zhen 607 830 - - 1437
BREE Mr. Lizo Yuan 552 500 57 - 1,109
LU Ms. Han Linyou 604 - 10 464 1078
FHES Non-executive directors:
Zhong Shu Zi%E & Mr. Zhong ShuZi - 300 - - 300
EEnt Ms. Xue Lian () - - - - -
B Supervisors:
Elirs Mr. Zhong Jigang - - - - -
e Ms. Liu Min ] - - - - -
BRI LA Mr. Rao Minghong 01 1,082 599 122 505 2,308
slins Mr. Liu Xiyue 1,330 775 122 357 2,584
10,920 9,941 591 1877 23,329
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

9. BEE -EERFEITHAEH 9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF

B (4&) EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) EFETHAE - HTEE - ¥kH (b) Chief executive, executive directors, non-executive
TESEREE(H) directors and supervisors (continued)

BE EELTBETRASTFH
IR B AEEALTRIE
AEEKEEHEGERREKR
SEFITNEEERERHZ
Frigtt & BEIRGEHNESRE -
THAEE2024F12A318 1
FEHBRCESNEENERS
5

()  EEBAAL L R 20194F 12
B15HEZTAESRITR
2024521 BELZ T A
WITES -

(i) EEELZLR2023F5H16
BEZTAFNITESL
R20244F2 A29HRIE

@iy BB LHR2023F5H16
AEZTAEET 2024
FE5R21HRT -

vy TEXEERFHIELZL
R2024F5 821 HEZR T

FAMEBEES  EFHETBTH
ABEKF B RETMF A
22 HF (202345 © &) ©
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The amount disclosed as directors’, supervisors’ and
chief executive’s remuneration is the amount related to
qualifying services provided by the person during the
period when he/she served as a director or a supervisor,
pursuant to the labour contracts or employment
agreements with the Group. The following are the
changes of directors and supervisors during this year
ended 31 December 2024

(i) Mr. Rao Minghong was appointed as a supervisor
on 15 December 2019 and was appointed as an
executive director on 21 May 2024.

(i)  Ms. Xue Lian was appointed as a non-executive
director on 16 May 2023 and retired on 29
February 2024.

(i)~ Ms. Liu Min was appointed as a supervisor on 16
May 2023 and retired on 21 May 2024.

(iv)  Mr. Jiang Xiaodong and Ms. Yu Minyu were
appointed as supervisors on 21 May 2024.

There was no arrangement under which a director, a
supervisor or the chief executive waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2023: nil).
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

10. EEBREHFHMES

FANAEERTHEET —RAES
(20235 : fH) c WIEARRESK
FTETRABRIOA(2023F  =4)
EaybliEESFANFIEBRT -

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

One director was included in the five highest paid employees
during the year (2023: two). Details of the remuneration for the
year of the four (2023: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
e Salaries 3,281 3,098
R EBEIEAL Performance-related bonuses 23,797 16,304

A EE D S MBSY  Equity-settled share-based
payment expense - 1,428
BIREETEIfE R Pension scheme contributions 482 353
&5t Total 27,560 21,183

FHNFUTHENFFEERIFEE
TRABNRSHHEE AT

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

EBEAH
Number of employees

20234

2023

5,500,001 7T 26,000,000/ 7T HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 2 -
6,500,001 727,000,000/ 7T HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000 2 -
7,500,001 7L 28,000,000/ 7T HKD7,500,001 to HKD8,000,000 = 3
8,500,001 7T£9,000,000/8 7T HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000 - -
9,000,001 7T£9,500,000/ 7T HKD9,000,001 to HKD9,500,000 - -
a&t Total 4 3
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

hEBREHEMES (&)

N ZRFEFRITETRAR
B % B BN R Bt L i AR SR R A
RIS ERZBBIHRRIDEN - HE
BB B R T RES0M BB
% B ZRBIHARAR D E 10 R FE T
R AHETE - YEREBHAR
BEERRR - M ARFEMHRE
MEBEAALXMFEERIFEE
T BE &= 5 R BB BB A -

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

During the year, restricted H Share units were granted to three
non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees
in respect of their services to the Group, further details of
which are included in the disclosures in note 30 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such restricted H Share units,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.

FR8%4 11. INCOME TAX
20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
BHEf— [ Current — PRC
FEER Charge for the year 3,701,603 3,986,699
BEEEGBRRERE), BB E  (Overprovision)/underprovision
in prior years (18,231) 1,614
EIE(PFIEE17) Deferred (note 17) (18,818) (379,609)
At Total 3,664,554 3,608,704

AEBARBEREAEREEIN KRS
AREBAK B DA M LK EFRERDE
HE LG O3 R B PSR ©
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The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.
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11. 8% (&) 11.

RSB
BREB(PEARAMBEEMBTE)
(TREMBBE]) REEMETEE
HefRpl - AREE A N E AN EE
FTSHIB R R25% RIFFAUT R
TARE °

RAFE - R BB AR #ETE
EMSHBEE B25% o B IE K
2 BRBREERRBERERMNE
ZE A MR L P 5 R
BEMSHBEEH A S (BBUEL
BHem - BIRBERMNEZEE D
H2020F 8235k ) + Az A B 7 & i
ERTE  HUSBEEXAFEE
BETEEBRAMGDEWARE
B0%LA F3 - 7202141 A1 B E2030
F12HA31B10FHfH - BEZHE15%
REBMESHRHE - Bt - HFR
PR HEAOHBARNATFESR
EZB15%HFTFIHILE -

H E2023F K 2024F 12 A31 H IFF
G AEBEETHENB A ERA
BlEpfitz]  YRALEEESE
15%MEBEMEHME - BEEKH
FEERE R S T = T — Xk -

AEEETHEMBARNERE
VTERFAERERRHY

EBFBH

HE2023F R2024F 12 A31 B IFF
E - REBEENFTERB AN A
E16.5% K EE R R BB BFSH -
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

INCOME TAX (continued)

PRC corporate income tax
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT
rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% unless subject to
tax exemption set out below.

The statutory PRC enterprise income tax for the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for the year. According to the
Announcement on Continuing the Enterprise Income Tax
Policies for the Large-Scale Development of Western China
(Announcement No. 23 [2020] of the Ministry of Finance, the
State Taxation Administration and the National Development
and Reform Commission) jointly issued by the Ministry of
Finance, the State Taxation Administration and National
Development and Reform Commission, enterprises located
in the western region of the PRC whose principal business is
within the encouraged industry while the principal business
revenue accounts for over 60% of its total gross revenue were
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for 10 years
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2030. Accordingly,
certain subsidiaries located in the western region of the PRC
are entitled to an income tax rate of 15% for the year.

Certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are accredited as “High
and New Technology Enterprise” and were therefore entitled
to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years end 31
December 2023 and 2024. Such qualifications are subject to
review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for every three
years.

Certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are engaged in
agriculture and entitled to the tax exemption on agricultural
products.

Hong Kong profits tax

The statutory rate of Hong Kong profits tax was 16.5% for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

1. FrBH (&) 11. INCOME TAX (continued)
BARNBIREKZ SN E QR M A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
RS E R AR A E B R tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the
HERBRB AT HE AR IER S E Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
BRERBERAENHIBER SR and/or operate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as
N follows:
20234
2023
ARBTFT
RMB’000
R A BA A Profit before tax 15,787,858 15,688,202
125% M B> SEFT1SHE Tax at the PRC corporate income
HMEAERTHIA tax rate of 25% 3,946,964 3,922,051
BEEMEMEEHIER  Lower tax rate for specific provinces
BIRM X or enacted by local authority (94,846) (186,065)
HEENTE Effect of tax concessions (113,735) (95,118)
R FIFR R 2 Expenses not deductible for tax 1,624 12,746
BT HAR GREERE) (Overprovision)/underprovision in
BEIE respect of prior periods (18,231) 1,614
RS EEEAVIREFIIER  Effect of tax rate changes on the
FE opening deferred tax (9,402) (1,605)
T EE InET AR Research and development super
deduction (43,924) (47,316)
R IEER Tax losses not recognised (3,896) 2,397
TSt f sz Income tax expense 3,664,554 3,608,704
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13.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

DIVIDENDS

The dividends paid by the Company in 2024 and 2023 for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 amounted to
RMB8,434,850,000 and RMB7,647,597,000 respectively.

The proposed 2024 final dividend for the year of RMBO0.76 per
ordinary share, equivalent to an aggregate of approximately
RMB8,547,314,000, is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 11,245,815,054 (2023: 11,243,908,441)
outstanding during the year.

The impact of shares granted to employees in relation to
employee share incentive scheme was included in the
computation of dilutive earnings per share for the year. A
calculation was done to determine the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market share price of the Company’s shares during
the period) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights.
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B Rk M5 () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12A31H

31 December 2024

13. BRI EERSRAARGE
RE2F (&)

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(continued)

BEZ12B310LLEE
Year ended 31 December
20234F
2023
ARBF T
RMB’000
&R Earnings:
BN B AR A AEIR %A Profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent 12,123,304 12,079,498
Sl - FEEAR SRR IR HIAR (D AYER  Less: Cash dividends attribute to the
BB ERE shareholders of restricted
shares expected to be
unlocked in the future (1,283)
HESRERBITANZT Earnings for the purpose of
calculating basic earnings per share 12,123,304 12,078,215
EEBTEBReTE Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares:
A0 FEEAR SRR IR HIAR{H AR Add: Cash dividends attribute to the
EIRIREIRE shareholders of restricted
shares expected to be
unlocked in the future - 1,283
ATHESREERNETRNET Earnings for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share 12,123,304 12,079,498
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

13. BAAEEREFEARGE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

IREZR (&)
(continued)
BEZ12B310LLEE
Year ended 31 December
2023%F
2023
g8 - Number of shares:
TEEREARBFFTENTENR Weighted average number of
BT T MR T8 ordinary shares in issue during
the year, used in the basic
earnings per share calculation 11,245,815 11,243,908
EEBTEBRNTE Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares:
NN T ERLT R HI AR 1 B 2 Effect of restricted shares
issued by the Company 891 1,697
STEBREERAANE @R Weighted average number of ordinary
IR 8 shares for the purpose of calculating
11,246,706 11,245,605

diluted earnings per share
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14. Y% BERRE

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20245128318 31 December 2024

R2024F1A18 A1 January 2024

s Cost

ZiHERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

FE¥E Net carrying amount

HOO4EIAIR - A1 January 2024, et of
MBZARERAE  acoumulated depreciation
and impairment

AE Additions

it Disposals

ERAEER Depreciation provided
during the year

B Transfers

HO024E12831H At 31 December 2024, net of
MBZARERAE  acoumulated depreciation
and impairment

HO04E12A31R  At31 December 2024

A Cost

ZNERAE Accumulated depreciation
and imparment

BEFE Net carying amount

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

6211280 19018963 5666195 407182 214015 1699471 33217107
(004501 (10326583  (3248561)  (47241)  (210599) - (16037479
420780 8692380 2417634 150,041 3422 169941 17179628
420780 8692380 2417634 159,041 3422 1699471 17179628
43845 194528 971,793 19,234 1472 543997 6681118
(178 (43543 (3815 (636) - - (49,780)
(26053  (1491307)  (855,146) @) (125%) - @
40153 3013879 171,492 76,105 8676 (3,670,305) 5
432008 10365932 2701958 211,043 14304 3466163 21,083,299
6652487 2114749 6650113 4BT506 2347 3466163 39,608435
(0320548  (1,748817) (3948155 (275563  (23119) - (18525,19%)
432008 10365932 2701958 211,043 14304 3466163 21,083,299
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

14, Y% - BERRZE(E) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

il
g7 KE  RERRR g HEMERE fEIR At
Fumiture,
fixtures and Motor Leasehold ~ Construction
Buldings Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total

ARBTL  ARETn  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR
RMBOOO ~ RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOO

2023125318 31 December 2023

#2023E1 A1H A 1 January 2023

KA Cost 5,250,477 16,722,517 4,906,701 340,350 213,171 1,738,015 29,171,291
ZiHERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (1,746,061) (9,085,586) (2,531,448 (223,349 (187,262) - (13,773,706)
FEFE Net carrying amount 3,004,416 7,636,991 2,375,253 117,001 25,909 1,738,015 15,397,585

R2023F1A18 At 1 January 2023, net of
TRZHAERAE  acoumulated depreciation

and impairment 3,004,416 7,636,991 2,375,253 117,001 25,909 1,738,015 15,397,585
AE Additions 17,178 348,872 828,188 13,070 844 3,127,920 4,336,072
b Disposals 3927 0% (1498 1606 ; 030 BT
FNERE Depreciation provided

during the year 0815 (135230 6299  B9sl)  (33) Y]
2 Transfers 949,928 2,061,681 82,128 70,337 - (3,164,074) -

P003E12A31A + At31 December 2023, net of
TBEERAE  accumulated depreciation
and impaiment 4206780 8692380 2417634 159,941 3420 1699471 17,179628

Ho03E12H318 At 31 December 2023

A Cost 6,211,281 19,018,963 5,606,195 407,182 214,015 1,699,471 33,217,107
ZHERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impaiment RO0AS0Y (10326583 (3248561 4124 (210599 - (18037479
EE%E Net carying amount 4206780 BAO3B0 24176 150,041 3422 1699471 17179628
MR2024%F 12 A31H » AEBIEEGIR At 31 December 2024, the Group was in the process of
I F{E A A R 19,346,0007T (2023 applying for the ownership certificates for buildings with a net
F: AR¥12,012,00070) EFHE carrying amount of RMB19,346,000 (2023: RMB12,012,000).
EEFTEREE - P2024%F12A31H - And at 31 December 2024, the fully-depreciated property,
HEEEEEA AR 6,658,910,000 7T plant and equipment with the gross carrying amount of
(20234 : AR¥5,515,576,0007T ) HY RMB6,658,910,000 (2023: RMB5,515,576,000) were still in
BEINENYE  BEREEDES use.
o
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15.

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

HE

AEEEREHEA
FEECHSERAEWELEE
REREGETANEMER T LA
EAR - TiFAEHA0F - EER
— RN R TR E B WA
EERENT - MAEMERBENE
EHBEA2ESTF - RFBHEEHN T
3E7F - H(BESHAE - B
ETREE)WHAERA2ESF - Hi
HeEmznBEERRE A 12@ARE
52 EREERE -

@ EEREE
AEENEAREENEEER
FREBIT :

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
premises and plant, equipment and others used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of
50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the
terms of these land leases. Leases of office premises and plant
generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Equipment
has lease terms between 3 and 7 years, while others including
venue rental, vehicles and staff dormitories have lease terms
between 2 and 5 years. Other rental agreements generally
have lease terms of 12 months or less and are individually of

low value.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

2024%12A31H 31 December 2024

2024118 As at 1 January 2024 859,587 56,122 768 30,502 946,979
= Additions 46,164 31,888 48 137,247 215,347
NEER Depreciation charge (21,432) (42,639) (83) (71,522) (135,676)
R2024%12A31H  Asat 31 December 2024 884,319 45,371 733 96,227 1,026,650

/NS
MELH  WENERE B Hty CEH

Office

Leasehold premises
land and plant Equipment Others Total
ARETT  ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

2023%12A318 31 December 2023

1202341818 As at 1 January 2023 757,320 62,265 2,227 31,676 853,488
NE Additions 120,861 40,135 - 30,269 191,265
TEEBH Depreciation charge (18,594) (46,278) (1,459) (31,443) (97,774)
202312318 Asat 31 December 2023 859,587 56,122 768 30,502 946,979
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

15. HE (&) 15. LEASES (continued)
AEBIERABEAE) The Group as a lessee (continued)
(@ (EHEEEE) (a)  Right-of-use assets (continued)
R2024F12A31H » AEEA As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in the process
BR T FE A AR ¥3,590,0007T of applying for the certificates for land use rights
(2023 %F : A R % 63,360,000 with a net carrying amount of RMB3,590,000 (2023:
TC)E T E AR EE RS i RMB63,360,000).

ERERE -

) MHEEE (b)  Lease liabilities
FRAHEEEENEREEENEEE The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
AR movements during the year are as follows:
20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
M A1ERNEREEE Carrying amount at 1 January 89,280 99,857
A New leases 167,517 70,404
FNTERAFE B0 Accretion of interest
recognised during the year 5,752 3,959
(B Payments (140,935) (84,940)
M2 A31 BREREE Carrying amount at 31 December 121,614 89,280
DA Analysed into:
BNER Current 55,705 58,030
JERNER Non-current 65,909 31,250
20245 » REERZFEIER R A In 2024, the Group renewed the lease in respect of
NETHEYESEHRNIEAREA certain leasehold properties from the ultimate holding
EME - PHEYOMRABBEY  KEE company as office premises. At the commencement
REAREERHEAGARE date of the lease, the Group recognised a right-of-
29,789,5807T  M2024F12A31H - use asset and a lease liability of RMB29,789,580. As
AEBRENEERERAFNEES at 31 December 2024, the Group had a lease liability
BEiEeh B AR 24,164,8127T (2023 to the ultimate holding company with a balance of
F : AR¥20,530,0007T) ° RMB24,164,812 (2023: RMB20,530,000).
HEBEYNDE B DR BRE M The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
FIB8H R © note 38 to the financial statements.
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B Rk M5 () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

15. HE (&) 15. LEASES (continued)
REBERARBA(E) The Group as a lessee (continued)
€ REmAEZTHE L5800 (c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
o leases are as follows:
2023
2023
ARBT T
RMB’000
HEBGEFE Interest on lease liabilities 5,752 3,959
FREEEMNITEER Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets 135,676 97,774
IS HATAE « A E R  Expense relating to short-term leases,
KEEBELEMRERMBAY  variable leases and leases of
E=g=2 low-value assets 157,152 192,665
N8 NI R B RE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 298,580 294,398
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MR &ML (%) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

16. B EE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2024%12AH31H 31 December 2024

A2024FE1 818 - At 1 January 2024:

B A Cost 21,826 155,318 7,765 184,909
RETE Y Accumulated amortisation (7,035) (97,451) (6,201) (110,687)
R HE Net carrying amount 14,791 57,867 1,564 74,222

20241818 - At 1 January 2024,

kR Rt net of accumulated
amortisation 14,791 57,867 1,564 74,222
NE Additions 74 6,661 1,898 8,633
F R Amortisation provided
during the year (1,099) (9,694) (505) (11,298)

202412 A31H + At 31 December 2024,
PR 25 net of accumulated
amortisation 13,766 54,834 2,957 71,557

A2024F12A31H © At 31 December 2024:

B Cost 21,900 161,979 9,663 193,542
EXqE 41 Accumulated amortisation (8,134)  (107,145) (6,706)  (121,985)
BREVFE Net carrying amount 13,766 54,834 2,957 71,557
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16. B EE(HE)

B Rk M5 () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

R K
PRUEET Al 3% LIS EHth a5t

Mineral

water

mining

licence Software Others Total
ARBTFT ARETRT ARETT ARBTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2023512 A31H
R2023F1 A1H
BN

R

RREFE

2023F1A18 -
OB RETEESY

NE
HE
F B SH RS

A2023FE12A318 -

kR Rt

M2023F12A31H -

BN
Rt #H

BREFE

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report
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At 1 January 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2023,
net of accumulated
amortisation

Additions

Disposal

Amortisation provided
during the year

At 31 December 2023,
net of accumulated
amortisation

At 31 December 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

10,042 140,409 6,971 157,422
(5,987) (87,686) (5,672) (99,345)
4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077
4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077

11,784 15,198 794 27,776

- (199) - (199)

(1,048) (9,855) (529) (11,432)

14,791 57,867 1,564 74,202

21,826 155,318 7,765 184,909
(7,035) (97,451) 6,201) (110,687

14,791 57,867 1,564 74,222
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Bt 8RR M=E (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

17. EEBIIE 17. DEFERRED TAX
FRREHEEEZSHUT : The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as
follows:

TAR

BHERR

EHEAR ERBRNN
BEhs BERNE AERER

Losses and

deductions

available for
Accruals offsetting
Impairment and deferred against future  Unrealised
of assets income taxable profits profits Others Total
AR®TE ARETR ARETR AR¥Tr ARETn ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

72023F1 A1H At 1 January 2023 13,989 376,215 16,483 15,086 11,332 433,105
FERPMEREFRTA/  Deferred tax credited/(charged)
(1% ERERRIR to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (8,192) 432,355 4,681 56,686 (2,302) 488,228

002312 A31A4)  Deferred tax assets at
EERELE 31 December 2023 10,797 808,570 21,164 71,772 9,030 921,333

72024F1 A1H At 1 January 2024 10,797 808,570 21,164 7,772 9,030 921,333
FERPMEREFRTA/  Deferred tax credited/(charged)
(1B ERERRIR to the statement of profit or
loss during the year 592 123,918 28,145 22,935 (9,030) 166,560

8202412 A31H Deferred tax assets at
HELRERE 31 December 2024 11,389 932,488 49,309 94,707 - 1,087,893
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

17. EEBIH (&)

FRRERIRB ERSHMT -

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

17. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows:

202351 A1H

At 1 January 2023

FRNEBRETETAH  Deferred tax credited to the
IEERIR statement of profit or loss

during the year

A2023%F12A31HH)  Deferred tax liabilities at

EREBHIRAE

202441 A1H

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2024

FRNIBRRTIMBE  Deferred tax charged to the
IEERIR statement of profit or loss

during the year

A2024%F12A31HHE)  Deferred tax liabilities at

EREBIREAE

PTABRRPEREEENARE
16,040,000 & ( 2023 & @ A R #&
33,456,0007T) M IEE 18 (2 S E18
15— 2 A A R B HI A A R R
JE SR Fm A ) K AR #18,129,0007T
(20234 : AR#18,129,0007T ) #yA]
MR EREERRLEHBEEE - I
AR B BE LM AR 3,995,000
JC (20234 : AR #4,605,0007T) H
HEEBRERELHREBEE @ AIER
HIA MR IREER B E IR 2 R R R R IER
Bas o« WARRITABEENA
R #80,835,0007T (20234 : AR ¥
78,842,0007T ) B 18 BT 18 MERRRIE 7
THEE  nERAREEREER
ZNRARRERT T o

P 5 L 3 0 TR S 8 e A AR B = AR
DBREBREEE —BERZMEBEQ
A BT RAHB AT RE#S R R B F)
PR SH R TR B 18 e AT IR B AR
B AR EREEELHRAEE °
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246,737 - 246,737
108,619 - 108,619
355,356 - 355,356
355,356 - 355,356
144,922 2,820 147,742
500,278 2,820 503,098

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of tax losses of RMB16,040,000 (2023: RMB33,456,000)
which will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits and deductible temporary differences of
RMB18,129,000 (2023: RMB18,129,000) arising in Mainland
China. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB3,995,000
(2023: RMB4,605,000), that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of tax losses arising in New Zealand of
RMB80,835,000 (2023: RMB78,842,000), that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the above tax losses and deductible temporary differences as
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

18. HWERBEE 18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
20234
2023
ARBTFT
RMB’000
YE - BE N RETENZIE  Prepayments for property,
plant and equipment 188,217 42,831
19. & 19. INVENTORIES
20234
2023
AREF T
RMB’000
JEM R Raw materials 4,432,795 2,342,233
R Work in progress 297,980 279,937
RIK Finished goods 282,272 469,559
a5t Total 5,013,047 3,091,729
R2024%F12A31H  AEBHRAGFE The Group recognised impairment of inventories
BB AR #3,260,0007T (20234 = A of RMB3,260,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
R #3,260,0007T) ° RMB3,260,000).
20. EZREWFEREKRERE 20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
20234
2023
ARBT T
RMB’000
B S E Trade receivables 618,481 578,001
R E I Bills receivable - 3,700
VERIEL Impairment (37,109) (34,680)
&3t Total 581,372 547,021
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20.

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

BEZRWHREREBRREE (&)
AEBENRZHEARERERRXMNAN
F o HEEREENERHEERTPR
Sho FEEHAEA—EA  EBER
HERPARERE=[A - BUEF
BERREERE -  AEESRERE
2 AR EEBYHIBBAREEER
R o BMBERBHEREEEEHE
B o X LRI R ARE R E 5 &
WHELREERERSZIRATFA
B Ay EEXEPNEERR -
RE I L E E 5 WA MBI
SEEHRFH T ERRIEMER
KR - B 5 RIFIARERREE
RIS TR -

NEEE 5 EWRRENERSEE
FHEKRRMBEATREAA
R # 866,000 7T (2023 F @ A R #
1,682,00070) @ fELHEEAEEEE
ERRENEEETBLUNIERERE -

BERSHPRENBZAHLNGRE
BEENE 5 R YGR MR IREE R
g

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trading terms are mainly cash before delivery,
except for direct sale customers where credits are granted.
The credit period is generally one month, extending up to
three months for major direct sale customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade and bills receivables related to various
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade and bills receivable
balances. The balances of trade and bills receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of RMB866,000 (2023:
RMB1,682,000), which are repayable on credit terms similar to
those offered to the major customers of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

20234

2023

ARBTFT

RMB’000

90HMA Within 90 days 522,376 506,235
912180H 91 to 180 days 48,511 28,158
181HE14F 181 days to 1 year 10,485 12,628
&3t Total 581,372 547,021
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2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

20. ESRBWFERERREE(R)
B 5 YRR (B R 1R R s e E 4

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

T receivables are as follows:
20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
F4 At beginning of year 34,680 30,511
B 1EF 58 Impairment losses, net 2,429 4,169
FR At end of year 37,109 34,680

AEBRABOET REBRMBRE
ERIZSSFARENEMEEEE B
RFRABEZREFIAER A
HMEERREE -

FEN R IE AR RITIOHIR A | IR MR
MEIRITAERIE - AX TR
SERBER TR BRI

FREABEREETREDT - A
AFEESRUGANEHREERS -
BEZXDERABRUBEEANS
%P AR B A BEEE - %
AERRTERINEER  BFEE
BEARFERAESHNEARBES
AT B R SR B AR FERI Y
BIENAIIFER

EREMERBRDEFRRBEEN
WE B W mERWOIAT AL - ANEE
ZHE B S EWHR - NAEETER
BREERZEZRER M ZHEFE
WERKCEABERT  UREE
I o
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The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all trade
receivables.

Bills receivable are bank acceptance bills that are
unconditionally accepted by banks within the maturity period,
and there is no loss allowance for impairment of bills receivable.

An impairment analysis is performed at year end using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at year end about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulties and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. The
Group also takes into account legal advice where appropriate,
e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
sooner.
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

20. ESRBWFERERREE(R)

ATESBRASEE 5 R YRR
REERENEERRNER

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

20245 2024
90HA Within 90 days 3.85% 543,312 20,936
91£E180H 91 to 180 days 12.49% 55,437 6,926
181HZE14F 181 days to 1 year 44.15% 18,774 8,289
15 Over 1 year 100.00% 958 958
Gl Total 618,481 37,109
TRHIEEEEE FRE4AE TRHEEEE
Expected credit Gross Expected
20234 2023 loss rate carrying amount credit losses
ARETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
90HK Within 90 days 3.52% 520,886 18,352
91£180H 91 to 180 days 13.64% 32,605 4,447
181HZE14F 181 days to 1 year 44.36% 22,698 10,069
1FE Over 1 year 100.00% 1,812 1,812
&3t Total 578,001 34,680
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

21. FAFRRIE - HMEWRRERHE 21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

L& E OTHER ASSETS
20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
YT ER 2 BN B Prepayments to suppliers 100,700 255,530
e R EAMEIWEIE Deposits and other receivables 116,401 106,228
B Prepaid expenses 238,815 209,118
JFE Wi B B 5 FOR Amounts due from related parties 478 897
EdEELE Value added tax recoverable 740,452 109,122
B EEE SRy Corporate income tax recoverable 28,016 17,993
1,224,862 698,888
JEEE Impairment losses (6,570) (4,110)
N Total 1,218,292 694,778
SAREFETE N RIE - H i fE R IE Included in the Group’s prepayments, other receivables
DEMEERNERSLIERAT R and other assets are amounts due from the ultimate holding
FEWREREWB AT RES R A AR company and fellow subsidiaries of RMB200,000 (2023:
200,0007T (20234 : AR % 474,000 RMB474,000) and RMB278,000 (2023: RMB423,000),
7C) B A R®278,0007T (20234 : A respectively, which are recoverable within one year.
R#423,0007T) @ BEtE—FRHTA]
I o
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

21. FAFRRIE - HMEWRRERHE 21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

tEEGE) OTHER ASSETS (continued)
H b fE W R IE BB B R B B & & The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
T - receivables are as follows:
20234
2023
AREFT
RMB’000
=) At beginning of year 4,110 1,952
B RS 5 Impairment losses, net 2,460 2,158
FxR At end of year 6,570 4,110
BERAEEF ATERNFUIE - Efb g The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s
HEREMEENSREERSERR financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
BRHE BRI TS R IS8 o other assets is disclosed in note 38 to the financial statements.

22. RAFETFTAEENEREE 22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

20234

2023

ARBTFT

RMB’000

ERBETTR Structured deposits 1,348,085 -

AR A FERRE Brokerage income certificates 181,353 -

1,529,438 -
202412 A31H + LI B E 15 As at 31 December 2024, the above wealth management
AN ESREEET - AR products are issued by licensed financial institutions in
EAENBRenEYHFEAINTETER Mainland China. They were mandatorily classified as financial
FIB - Has DB AR AT ERA assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual

EEeREE - cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

23. RHIBTERREREESREBITHE 23. LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND

B NEHER BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
RHERITER Long-term bank deposits 10,630,882 1,510,722
RITIE® Cash at bank 2,002,531 3,864,789
w2 EARITIE K Short-term bank deposits 8,719,517 20,260,421
Re MIRTTHEH Cash and bank balances 10,722,048 24,125,210
HHFER Pledged Deposits 7,677 2,677
RHERITFR MR RRITEBRIU KL The long-term bank deposits and cash and bank balances and
BEREFATIEEE - pledged deposits are denominated in the following currencies:
20234
2023
ARBT T
RMB’000
REARITIE R Long-term bank deposits
AR RMB 10,630,882 1,510,722
e MIBTTEBIAN Cash and bank balances and
BT pledged deposits
AREE RMB 5,605,648 19,355,092
ETT usb 3,597,091 3,353,175
BT HKD 1,526,896 1,418,718
EAth Others 90 902
&t Total 21,360,607 25,638,609
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23.

24.

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RUBTERRASRRITE
BREAR E 17 ()

Ba RIRTTRERBRES BRITERN
FIRF YN EREFE - BT AEHE
MREER  RITERNERANTF
—EAE=%F  AREBRTHERF
RERIMA B o RITAE R T RIF R
=8 R o BT B R SRR SRV IR
T RELRRSESROFEDMERLR
HERE °

202412 A31H » H#HEFERA
R 7,677,0007C (20234F : AR
2,677,0007T) IEEAZERES LA
HEERBEABERTIANTHE
WETH - BREMESTRERE -

EEENREREBNRERE

EIRNFRANENZRE/THE
B—RANOB RS -

FRENEZAHNEZENFAR
FENRIRRREDITAT

23.

24.

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND
BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
(continued)

Cash and bank balances earn interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. Bank deposits are made
for varying periods of between one month and three years
depending on the cash management of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates. The bank
balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the
cash and cash balances approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2024, the pledged deposits of
RMB7,677,000 (2023: RMB2,677,000) represented deposits
for letters of credit which are non-interest-bearing cash
deposits paid to commercial banks for purchasing equipment
and will be returned upon the completion of such activities.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and normally
settled on terms of within 90 days.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end
of the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

20234

2023

ARBT T

RMB’000

90E X Within 90 days 1,394,397 1,598,162
91%180H 91 to 180 days 49,258 130,883
181HE—4F 181 days to 1 year 32,112 28,910
—FEP Over 1 year 23,630 12,143
&5t Total 1,499,397 1,770,098

B RNRBERENZERHESR
I B A EFA A A R 24,005,000
TL(20234F  FEN S EIER A R FIA
A AR ,517,0007T M FE A B R B8
A FFRIE A ANREE23,263,0007T) © 5
AERE - TE B RBRANERE -

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

Included in the trade and bills payables are amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries of RMB24,905,000 (2023: RMB1,517,000
to the ultimate holding company and RMB23,263,000 to fellow
subsidiaries), which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
within 90 days.
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31 December 2024

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

25. HitfENERESER 25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

20234

2023

MI5E AREFIT

Note RMB’000

e Deposits ) 1,967,429 2,038,031
BEWE MEFER Payables for purchase of plant and

e RRIE equipment 1,504,616 1,077,716

ETTENEMNER] Staff payroll and welfare payables 1,292,910 1,753,949

FEEtFS Accrued expenses 957,941 1,004,717

JRE A<t 8 &5 0 K 3R R Sales discount and rebate payables 3,012,709 2,613,658

TSR AN ERBIIE  Tax payable other than income tax 709,037 628,567

FEA BB 75 TR Amounts due to related parties 69 1,175

Efth Others 99,035 171,170

&5t Total 9,543,746 9,288,983

BiAE Note:

(i) RETBERMCHME R TR HER
B UER H) AR AR TR 2 A B 1 OL AR 2R BRI 7K
Emifg e

Hi N7 R BT ERATEE

HipEMFELESEAPOENR
IR AR MR R ERRRIES
A R # 48,000 7T & A K ¥ 21,000 7T
(20234 : AR¥1,175,000C R E) -
ZEFEABEER - TRFERER—
FREE -

204/ BRXWRBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

(

) Deposits are mainly deposits for refrigerators charged to distributors
and downstream points of sale as well as deposits for the 19L
bottled drinking water products.

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing.
Included in other payables and accruals were amounts due
to the ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of

RMB48,000 and RMB21,000 (2023: RMB1,175,000 and nil),
which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within 1 year.
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26.

27.

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

aHaE 26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
20234
2023
ARBT T
RMB’000
BUERFTEMNRK Advance received from customers 3,565,558 3,584,921

AEBHNAEHNABIZRERHARE
HERBEPMENTANTIR - FIA
REVNBENRNBE-RIVARKI2
AR S -

AHEERIEREMNR XK BRI ZHIE
AREET72,0007T (20234 « ) » %K
EERAKA2ME A RERBWA o

STEEE

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from advance
payments made by customers while the goods have not been
provided. All carried forward contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year were usually recognised as revenue in the next 12
months.

Included in contract liabilities were amounts due to the fellow
subsidiaries of RMB72,000 (2023: nil), which were recognised
as revenue in the next 12 months.

27. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

2023
2023
BIRFIE %) HERE  AR%TR
Effective
interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB'000

AN Current
BB -EER Bank loans - unsecured
EtiEE-BEH Other borrowings -
unsecured
=H Total

A BEERARKFERER —
FABE -

.

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

340 2024 - 310 2024 100,119
030-2.70 202 362543 090298 202 3020500
3,625,433 3,120,619

All interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in Renminbi
and repayable within one year.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

28. EEW S 28. DEFERRED INCOME
20234
2023
ARBTFT
RMB’000
TR Government grants 319,404 303,061
FAREENBTHBERWT - Movements in government grants of the Group during the year
are as follows:
2023%F
2023
ARBTFT
RMB’000
FH) At beginning of year 303,061 291,420
BB A 47 B Government grants received 40,657 32,146
SFAFRERE Credited to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (24,314) (20,505)
FR At end of year 319,404 303,061
NEBGRHEELH HEMRBELS The Group received government grants for capital expenditure
WERS DESBITME - ZE3E incurred for leasehold land, plant and equipment. The amounts
ABRAE E R ET P2 A F B AR T are deferred and amortised over the estimated useful lives of
T HESH o the respective assets.
29. IRA 29. SHARE CAPITAL
20234
2023
ARBTFT
RMB’000
BEETREHT - Issued and fully paid:
11,246,466,4000% (20234 :  11,246,466,400 (2023: 11,246,466,400)
11,246,466,400% ) & i@ L ordinary shares 1,124,647 1,124,647
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30.

B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ETRERETE

202291 4148 BHAMERERE X
CEZBA AQFICHEME THIE
HENET B ([ 358l ) - UBBE A E
EREFEENMRREEBIESZER
EE A BFZORITER - BIE)A
EEMES  EEEME T UR)E
EHHNEE MG EPEHAER M E
RERHWELEEERARRENBA
R EEEER]) —THENETL -
A E RN AR+ FEREA R -

REMZA B ARBRFEABERE
AEEARBILE=7)ERXE
A BERRTHERBSARXZE
B AR RIHAE A RUBI AR 19 5 ©

RIEZFTEIRRE] - RRAREFEE
FEBTCERRLERODBERARSE
—HETIREMEEIEEIE) R
(BRILEBRHBRARE—HET
RE BN R &% F 5 %) + 6,636,400
EXRHHRER ([ RS RMDE
fiZ ) R2022F3 29 ([#®FH 1) %
BETA&H108%51828HE 48
HREZARNABEITES(RERHE
#108,000 * 90800 K 99,000 1 5 R
FIRR D EAL) « —RANF)EEE (ER
99,000fEX% R HIAR D BERL) « —REE
HEEEE T (ZE8IE H2023%F1 AN
AREE ) (39,6001 2[R HIA% {7 B A1)
#1035 £ [E B T (H£26,200,0001E
SR FIRR D ERL) ©

RIERARTBEAN20EESR S
BARRZAHRKKREEHESNIO °
Et - Z108 %1 E2 A HRERIES
B BRH D B 13228 T IR T
6,636,400 1B 5 BR il A% {7 B8 (i 1F i 52
e

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

30. EMPLOYEE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

As approved in the extraordinary general meeting held on
14 January 2022, the Company has adopted the Employee
Share Incentive Scheme (the “Scheme”) to incentivize
management personnel and core technical experts who play
an important role in the Group’s business performance and
future development, including (i) the Directors, Supervisors
and employees of the Group; and (i) certain number of
employees of Yangshengtang Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the
“Yangshengtang Group”) who make significant contributions
to the Group in the projects and co-operations between
the Group and Yangshengtang Group. The Scheme will be
effective for ten years from the adoption date.

In order to operate the Scheme, the Company entrusted
a qualified agent, an independent third party, to act as the
trustee with the H Shares of the Company which were acquired
through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price as
the source of award shares.

Pursuant to the rules of the Scheme, the Board of the
Company approved the “Administrative Measures for the First
Tranche of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of Nongfu
Spring Co., Ltd.” and the “Grant Proposal for the First Tranche
of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of Nongfu Spring
Co., Ltd.”, 6,636,400 restricted H Share units (the “RSUs”)
were then granted to a total of 108 scheme participants on
29 March 2022 (the “Grant Date”), including three current
directors of the Company (108,000, 90,800 and 99,000 RSUs
to each of them), one supervisors of the Company (99,000
RSUs), one employee of Yangshengtang Group (the employee
had joined the Group since January 2023) (39,600 RSUs) and
103 employees of the Group (the remaining 6,200,000 RSUs).

The grant price was 30% of the average closing price of the
Company’s H Shares in the 120 Hong Kong trading days
immediately prior to the Grant Date. Thus, the 108 scheme
participants then paid for the grant of 6,636,400 RSUs based
on HKD13.22 per RSU.
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2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

30. ETREHET8(E)

RIBZ AT IR TR B ELLFE
RIBEARARRORIIZIAT B

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

30. EMPLOYEE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

(continued)

The granted RSUs under the Scheme shall be vested, subject
to the performance of the individual and the Company,

RS according to the following schedule:

BBt
BETH wEAH Vesting
Vesting arrangement Vesting date percentage
F—H5RE R2022F 4 A&k —AR 5 A 40%
First tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2022
FE_HREB 2023F4 ARz — B 5 H 30%
Second tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2023
E-HEE M2024F4 Ax%—AR S A 30%

Third tranche vesting

FRRBZETBIETEIMNIBMIT

Last trading day in April 2024

The following shares were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

REZTERTEMRS
Outstanding shares under the Scheme

REFED 20245 20245

BTH KE T 1518 EnER ERRl 12R31A

Share price As at Vested Forfeited As at 31

as at the Exercise ~ 1January  duringthe  duringthe  December

Grant Date Grant Date price 2024 year year 2024
B B
HKD HKD

20223 A29H 29 March 2022 39.80 13.22 1,886,208 (1,837,234) (48,974) -

FRN - AEEBERABROITRAIA
R ¥5,516,0007C (20234 : AR
25,857,00070) * B BIEEALNF =
HEER—REETHENASIARE
309,0007T & A R #103,0007T (2023
FHEMEZEEMWEEEHABNR
= AR¥1,015,000 & A R #862,000
JL) °

208/ RXWRKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

During the year, the Group recognised share-based payment
expenses of RMB5,516,000 (2023: RMB25,857,000), including
expenses of RMB309,000 and RMB103,000 in relation to
three directors and one supervisors (2023: RMB1,015,000 and
RMB862,000 in relation to two directors and two supervisors)
of the Company.
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31. #1E
AEBMEESEREE R ER
EHEAEREBHELT -

(@) ZEERE

REFEARKMEARE - &
Bl AR A A TR TR B
10%E BT LTEHE  EEMHG
I RFHERED QR EMEARRN
50% ° fF BB It &R -
SETE R RIS A 25T
BEIENARMEMER - EAE
E TR BR R BB A EA
R IRALE ©

(b) EXEE
AEENEAFHREREEZERA
A R SR B B B R A (BT 1 UL
BRI REEM D o

) ERRBRHE
B RB R RREETEE
BEAKEZIEE RSN
KB IR M E LA E L=
B o

d) ROZSRHE
R AR R R A R R B 2 X
DB AT E - FRIHREM
2 AB R ST 2 B RTEUR ©
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2024%12831H
31 December 2024

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity in the financial statements.

(@) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the companies in the PRC are
required to allocate 10% of the statutory after tax profits
to the statutory reserve until the cumulative total of
the reserve reaches 50% of the companies’ registered
capital. Subject to the approval of the relevant PRC
authorities, the statutory reserve may be used to offset
any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital
of the companies. The statutory reserve is not available
for dividend distribution to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries.

(b) Capital reserve
The capital reserve of the Group represents the
contribution from the ultimate holding company and
shareholders and the excess of the consideration over
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests
acquired.

(c) Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve represents exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations whose functional
currencies are different from the Group’s presentation
currency.

(d) Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair
value of shares awarded which are yet to be vested, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

. REREREBRMEE

(@)

(b)

FERHFRERS
FA - AEEREE R

ZEEE
AEEELREEAENIERS
I R A A R 169,183,000
JL (20234 © AR #70,404,000

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

7T) & AR 167,517,000 T
(2023 F : A R # 70,404,000

L) e

METHELENEERS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets of RMB169,183,000 (2023:
RMB70,404,000) and lease liabilities of RMB167,517,000
(2023: RMB70,404,000) in respect of lease agreements.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

M2023%1 818

BMERSRELH)

iR

FLEIE N

DI ERSREN
ERFE

MR2023F12A31H

#2024F1 A1H

RERD TR
HiiE4
R

DIINEREREIRERN
EfNFE

7202412 831 H

At 1 January 2023

Changes from financing cash flows

New leases

Accretion of interest

Interest paid classified as operating
cash flows

At 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2024

Changes from financing cash flows

New leases

Accretion of interest

Interest paid classified as operating
cash flows

At 31 December 2024

210/ RXWRKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

2,425,093 99,857
695,494 (80,981)

- 70,404

95,776 3,959
(95,744) (3,959)
3,120,619 89,280
3,120,619 89,280
504,933 (135,183)
= 167,517

85,717 5,752
(85,836) (5,752)
3,625,433 121,614

4z 2024 Annual Report



B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12831H
31 December 2024

32. MERERERMT(E) 32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) HERLSHRHAE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
HenerkTmHERS TR The total cash outflow for leases included in the
EER(I N statement of cash flows is as follows:

20234

2023

AREFTT

RMB’000

LETREN Within operating activities 162,904 196,624
AR Within investing activities 46,164 120,861
BEEEIAN Within financing activities 135,183 80,981
&t Total 344,251 398,466

33. HAREE 33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
20245 2 2023F 12 H31H + A&EE As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have
WA ERKNARE - any significant contingent liabilities.

34. EEEH 34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
AEEEEDHNFBHRNIABEHRE Details of the Group’s pledged of assets are included in note
fizE23 o 23 to the financial statements.

35. & 35. COMMITMENTS
REBRREHRES T ERFGE - The Group had the following capital commitments at the end

of the reporting period:

20234
2023
ARBTFT
RMB’000
MEEWE - WEREE Contracted, but not provided for
EEEREGESEY purchase of property, plant and
equipment 3,576,498 4,436,852
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

36. BEARS 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@ KBYEBRERMFE15M30F F4 (@) Inaddition to the transactions detailed in notes 15 and 30
AR N NEBRAFE to the financial statements, the Group had the following
AR T ETRRR ST ¢ transactions with related parties during the year:

20234
2023
BfaE AREFT
Notes RMB’000
M EEAIEEE  Sales to related parties
b Sl /NI The ultimate holding company:
HEEM Sales of products () 1,637 1,639
RIERS Provision of services (i) 5,288 11,528
HAth Others (i) 2 -
RRKB AT : Fellow subsidiaries:
HEEM Sales of products 0] 17,991 12,717
MRS Provision of services (ii) 13,127 19,837
Hth Others (iii 43 -
CEl Total 38,088 45,721
REEE TR A Purchases/services provide by
g IR related parties
AR AT The ultimate holding company:
BEEM Purchase of products 0] 109 34
BUBRT Receipt of services (i) 63,569 44,469
EHh Others (iii 12 244
GESIEACIE Fellow subsidiaries:
EEED Purchase of products* 0] 284,231 267,117
B AR Receipt of services* (ii) 103,923 89,422
HAith Others (iii) 14,471 30,470
CEl Total 466,315 431,756

212/ BRXURKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

36. BEEAERS (&)

B B 75 R R B 515 X 307 5F 4
SREARZ SO - AR B AF R
B TR ST - (48)

(@)

Mo

HER T M E B IREEAE
B &R QT RFE RN E
AR ZRAERITHEET

BERBERDE  AEEF
NERRMBARBEMRE X
HWEahEKERARE
273,606,000 (20234 : AR
#262,094,0007T) °

BEESRISERGZH - K
BEEASERIERARSINE
A R # 12,308,000 7T ( 2023
& ARE#6,811,0007T) - £
ZRBIBTHEET -

RIEGE RISER G - 2t
TRBEEEERE  ATER
R - EREERG REMAR
HHEE B AR36,143,000
JL (20234 : A R25,358,000
TO) B X FRLERAR - A
EEERBSREMEEREH
EIE B AR 19,0007t (2023
& AR#4,463,0007T) B X
FRAEKMBRAR - &AFEHBK
KNI ITREE - FA - AR
RINER A B AR EIEE A
R#181,0007T(2023%F : &)
RIS & TH2RBIBITHEET °

BIBTAEERGZ  BERfK
BB AR ZNHTAIBARE
8,870,000 7T (20234 : AR
7,400,0007T) « 2BRENAEE
ERHFAPHAENERRA
EE - B Rlm&HAIERA A
N R R B A a) A ITE & & AR
% & AR ¥2,330,0007T (2023
£ AR#4,900,0007T) & A
R #6,478,0007T (20234 : A
R #12,388,0007T) ° FARE W
FEER AR RRRHEBARIT
Em & AR 7% & A K #2,080,000
7T & A R #1,452,000 7T (2023
0 A\R#3,546,000TKE)
ITEm&RBHRE TH2RBIRIT
TEEE -
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 15 and 30
to the financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:
(continued)

Notes:

(i) The sales to and purchases from related parties were made
according to the prevailing market price with the Group’s
ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the purchasing framework agreement, the Group
purchased from fellow subsidiaries bottle caps and other
products for vending machines of RMB273,606,000 (2023:
RMB262,094,000) during the year.

(i) Pursuant to the advertising service framework agreement,
expenses of RMB12,308,000 (2023: RMB6,811,000)
were paid to the ultimate holding company for media
advertisements. The charge was determined with reference
to the prevailing market price.

Pursuant to the comprehensive service framework
agreement, management fees of RMB36,143,000 (2023:
RMB25,358,000) for providing engineering project
management service, HR management service, e-commerce
operation services and other services were paid to the
ultimate holding company. Management fees of RMB19,000
(2023: RMB4,463,000) for personnel management service
and other operating services were paid to the fellow
subsidiaries. The charge was determined using the cost plus
method. Management fees of RMB181,000 (2023: nil) were
received from fellow subsidiaries during the year. The services
charge is determined with reference to the prevailing market
price.

Pursuant to the IT cooperation framework agreement,
licensing fees of RMB8,870,000 were paid to the ultimate
holding company (2023: RMB7,400,000), determined with
reference to actual costs calculated based on the number
of the Group’s users of each software. IT products and
service fees of RMB2,330,000 (2023: RMB4,900,000)
and RMB6,478,000 (2023: RMB12,388,000) were paid to
ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries respectively.
IT products and service fees of RMB2,080,000 and
RMB1,452,000 (2023: RMB3,546,000 and nil) were received
from ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries
during the year. The IT products and services charge were
determined with reference to the prevailing market price.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING GO, LTD. /213



2024%12H831H
31 December 2024

36. BMEATRXZ (&)

() FYBRERME15R307 &+ 48
SREARZ SO - AR B AF R
B TR ST - (48)

s - ()

(i) (%)

1R PR B T A 2 R %R AR S AE 4R
ek CREKR AR ER
B 5% Ko R AR B E R R A IR 7
MERNBRARSZNEAAR
#£96,599,0007T (20234 : AR
®&72,571,0007T) ° B AFEAK
IR AR TE ©

iy WEEEEZHZE AEER
FRAZRIZEBRARKRZRMN
BARBE ARK12000T
Ko A B 14,471,000 7T ( 2023
F 0 AR#244,000T R AR
30,470,00070) WM % ~ WiRE &
BEARBREEE - &R K
EEAHRRIZERARRRRM
BRARHEARE2000TRA
R #43,0007T (20234F : T
TINWE - BE REEURE
AR -

* LaE TR R 5 AR
MHRADE +OAZ TR E 2B
RBZHBEREZTETRENRE

=
b) FEEXEEEASHH

AEETZERABHM(BE
EEMe) RENMBERRME
Qo

() MRBEAEBEES &
AN ES B RS 5 A S R HAR A
B &R IB R RN I T = M
5F15 22021~ 24525 -

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

214/ BRXURKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 15 and 30
to the financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) (continued)
Pursuant to the basic research and development (“R&D”)
and test service framework agreement, expenses of
RMB96,599,000 (2023: RMB72,571,000) were paid to
fellow subsidiaries for the basic beverage R&D services and
raw material and product test services. The charge was
determined using the cost-plus method.

(iii) Pursuant to the asset transfer agreement, the Group
purchased from the ultimate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of RMB12,000 and RMB14,471,000 (2023:
RMB244,000 and RMB30,470,000) during the year. The
Group provide the ultimate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries with property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of RMB2,000 and RMB43,000 (2023: nil
and nil) during the year.

* Certain of the above related party transactions also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and their
details are disclosed in the Report of the Directors.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group
Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group, which comprises the remuneration of
the directors, is disclosed in note 9 to the financial
statements.

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group’s trade balances with its related
parties as at the end of each reporting period are
disclosed in notes 15, 20, 21, 24 and 25 to the financial
statements.
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BREREsWERmMIA 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

NEREEKR  EHEASH T ENE The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

HEWT : instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:

20245 2024

TREE Financial assets

B 7 A kR R
A ATERFIR - AR KERIA R
HibEENSREE

e RBTEH
R
SRR

K>
]
o

Trade and bills receivables 581,372
Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and

other assets 110,309
Cash and bank balances 10,722,048
Pledged deposits 7,677
Long-term bank deposits 10,630,882

22,052,288

Financial liabilities

BB RENFANENREE

At AR IR R ERT B R A
TRAE

AHEEE

HERRE
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Trade and bills payables 1,499,397

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals 4,529,090
Interest-bearing borrowings 3,625,433
Lease liabilities 121,614
9,775,534
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37.

RERESHNEHMITAE)

REREHR - FEFIERTENK
EEWT : (&)

(continued)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as

follows: (continued)

20234 2023
TRBE Financial assets
R HEK AT =8
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
ARBT T
RMB’000
B 5 FEURGROA K R I R I Trade and bills receivables 547,021
ESTATENFRIA - EAthEWGRIA R Financial assets included in
EMEENTCRIBEE prepayments, other receivables and
other assets 103,015
e MIRITAERR Cash and bank balances 24,125,210
EHER Pledged deposits 2,677
RAEJIRITIF Long-term bank deposits 1,510,722
26,288,645
TRIBE Financial liabilities
RESER NG 2R
TRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AREFIT
RMB’000
B ORNFEBERENER Trade and bills payables 1,770,098
STAHMERTIE R ETE R Financial liabilities included in other
SRBE payables and accruals 4,292,809
FEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 3,120,619
HEaE Lease liabilities 89,280
9,272,806
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise lease liabilities, interest-bearing
borrowings, cash and bank balances and long-term bank
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and
bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

The Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are
set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Foreign currency risk

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
cash at banks denominated in foreign currencies and was
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to USD and HKD. Foreign
exchange risk arises from cash and bank balances in USD and
HKD.

Details of long-term bank deposits and cash and bank
balances denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 are disclosed in note 23.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against USD or HKD, the
foreign currencies with which the Group may have a material
exposure. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts
their translation at the end of each reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates.

38. ¢REMEEEERBE(E)

S LR ()
TRAMAEEHARE L ZTHE
TC(AREE ] e RE AR R INE)
FTHERRZES %M BURE - ZBRED
TESRAIMNEHENREEZSHT
B REREMRACINEEXRES)
5% AREE o

20244 2024
AR AT EREEE If RMB weakens against
-7 -uUsD 179,855 134,891
—BTT - HKD 76,068 57,051
WARBHATEREAE If RMB strengthens against
—E7T -UsD (179,855) (134,891)
— BT - HKD (76,068) (57,051)
FR A AT ) [i& 12
=, Cld) & O
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in profit (decrease)
before tax in equity
AREFIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
20234 2023
MARELATEERE If RMB weakens against
—ETT -uUsD 167,659 125,744
—BTT - HKD 57,871 43,403
WARBHEATERAE If RMB strengthens against
—E7T - UsD (167,659) (125,744)
—&TT - HKD (57,871) (43,403)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, trade and bills receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

B SR E Trade receivables*
STATEN R - Financial assets included
HinEUEa R in prepayments, other
HEHuEENSREE receivables and other
assets
—E®" - Normal**
BEREX Pledged Deposits
— R HA - not yet past due
Re RiRiThe Cash and bank balances
— R Hf - not yet past due
REFTEN Long-term bank deposits
— K@ - not yet past due
At Total

F ¥}z 2024 Annual Report

- - - 618,481 618,481

116,879 - - - 116,879
1,677 - - - 7,677
10,722,048 - - - 10,722,048
10,630,882 = = - 10,630,882
21,477,486 - - 618,481 22,095,967
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

12187
HHEEER 2HEHEEER
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
R FERE =R HHlez3 At
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ARETT  ARBTR AREBTT ARBTT ARETE
RMB'000 ~ RMB'OO0 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000

B SR Trade receivables*
EUEE Bills receivable
BYNEGER Financial assets included
HinElsa Rk in prepayments, other
HEENSFREE  receivables and other
assets
— & - Normal**
BRER Pledged Deposits
—REH — not yet past due
ReRBITHH Cash and bank balances
— R Hf - not yet past due
REIRITIER Long-term bank deposits
— K@ - not yet past due
At Total

* RAEERAMCEATERENE SE
WHIBMS @ BN REEEHEREE
REA SR MIFE20 ©

- ERFATANFOR - Rt EERGA R R
TEREEB BRI EERR
ERELAR  HEEERWRAIE
Bl B EREENERERER
AT AEE] »

220 / BXRLRKRHERAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

- - - 578,001 578,001

3,700 - - - 3,700
107,125 - - - 107,125
2,677 - - - 2,677
24,125,210 - - - 24125210
1,510,722 - - - 1,510,722
25,749,434 - - 578,001 26,327,435

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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38. &EEAKEEBEZERBEE) 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

RENE SR Liquidity risk

AREBERTHEBAEETIEERE The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
EHNIRERIRESEEBYKE - AK equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the
EEHREESWRRIBERERE Group to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of

B/ 48R
VR E o

fluctuations of cash flows.

REEBRSHERROS A EDE The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
5 (A XREBER N AEE) T ¢ the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

20244 2024
FFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 3,625,433 - - 3,625,433
B G ENFIE R Trade and bills payables
AN 1,499,397 - - 1,499,397
T AEMENMZIEN Financial liabilities included
FEFHE R in other payables and
TREE accruals 4,529,090 - - 4,529,090
HEAE Lease liabilities 56,857 70,304 - 127,161
A&t Total 9,710,777 70,304 - 9,781,081
DR—F —ZEARF HENE &
Less than 1to Over
20234 2023 1 year 5 years 5 years Total

ARETT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000

AHREEE

B RN R
ANES S

FEAR AR FIA K
FESTE A&
TRAE
HERE
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Interest-bearing borrowings 3,121,292 - - 3,121,292
Trade and bills payables
1,770,098 - - 1,770,098
Financial liabilities included
in other payables and
accruals 4,292,809 - - 4,292,809
Lease liabilities 61,223 42,167 - 103,390
Total 9,245,422 42,167 - 9,287,589
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38.

TREREEBERBEK(E)

BErER
AEBEREENTIRZBERERA
SEFERLENR N AR GRRED
BEARLEE  AXBEEBRBERF
BUEAEE -

AEEZBEBERREC R AEREEE
MR A BORE IR L E A RBAE R
HEAR - BERFIARELRARE
AEBERGFHBEN FTRENRE
RORATFRREETHR - AEE
TREMIPLFERRBIOLR - F
N AEENERNEEBRR - BR%
RFARELEL -

AEBERBERNBBLRE 'Lﬁzli
A RIZEBIR AL A EERFE
EReEteREAREERE éf
RIERRRHA ARG - RS
HIRHBEABELLRMT

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt
divided by the adjusted capital. Debt includes interest-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital represents equity
attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

20234

2023

ARBET T

RMB’000

EEE Interest-bearing borrowings 3,625,433 3,120,619
HEai Lease liabilities 121,614 89,280
&% Debt 3,747,047 3,209,899
NEER AR Equity attributable to owners of the parent 32,287,164 28,570,905
BEAXREELE Gearing ratio 11.6% 11.2%
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B SR 2R FIE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
approximate to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
bank balances, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, interest-
bearing borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of long-term bank deposits and the non-current
portion of lease liabilities have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
management of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the chief financial officer and the board
of directors. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the board of directors for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent
wealth management products issued by banks in Mainland
China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model
based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar
terms and risks.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2024

BAHER ARG ERMEE

MN2023%12 A31H @ AREEI E (]
BAFEAENSREE -

BAFEAERNAERS
R2024F K 2023F 12 A31H - AEE
WETHZ A FEAENSRAE -

TR eREERBBEHRETHAF
Bt EF—REFE R zENEE
TMENESE = A8 A\ s #8 H (20234F -
&) -
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

1,529,438

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2023.

Liabilities measured at fair value
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets and liabilities (2023:
nil).
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

20234
2023
AREFIT
RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M BB KRG Property, plant and equipment 967,100 908,940
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 24,651 49,195
B EE Intangible assets 11,356 7,831
R B ARIMIRE Investments in subsidiaries 2,317,930 2,202,930
BEERIBEE Deferred tax assets 456,715 358,667
RGBT Long-term bank deposits 9,158,666 1,510,722
HMIERBEE Other non-current assets - 2,614
ERENEEARE Total non-current assets 12,936,418 5,040,899
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
=g Inventories 47,076 50,281
B 5 W EE N e EE Trade and bills receivables 134,617 143,218
FERFRIE - B EWRIER  Prepayments, other receivables and
HibEE other assets 19,700,504 15,758,125
B& MIRTTH % Cash and bank balances 10,610,629 17,151,642
BATHERT AR Financial assets at fair value through profit
TRVEE or loss 1,479,438 -
= EUiVER /N Pledged deposits 31 -
MENEEERE Total current assets 31,972,295 33,103,266
nREAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B ENTENRENERE Trade and bills payables 3,999,509 3,239,646
TEEE Interest-bearing borrowings - 100,119
Hih eI RIBRIETER Other payables and accruals 4,237,460 3,342,450
BRBE Contract liabilities 5,756,325 4,717,280
HeEaE Lease liabilities 17,354 31,455
e 1A Tax payables 439,423 726,195
mEE R Total current liabilities 14,450,071 12,157,145
REBEERHE NET CURRENT ASSETS 17,522,224 20,946,121
BEERADES TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 30,458,642 25,987,020
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40. AQ T BRI (E) 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
BREARHRE RN D BT R Information about the statement of financial position of the
ARESAT - (B) Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
(continued)
2023
2023
ARBET T
RMB’000
FRBEME NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
EEW Deferred income - _
EEFIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 271,928 35,713
HEEE Lease liabilities 4,969 17,406
FERBEERT Total non-current liabilities 276,897 53,119
EEFHE NET ASSETS 30,181,745 25,933,901
R EQUITY
Bt Share capital 1,124,647 1,124,647
G Reserves 29,057,098 24,809,254
e Total equity 30,181,745 25,933,901
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B R & M=E () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

40. AR BEIEAR TR (E)

AABRFEFERAT

120241 A1H At1 January 2024

ERER Profit for the year

ERAEYESE  Total comprehensive income
for the year

2ETR2023E K EIRE. Final 2023 dividend declared
HERHERARR Disposal of forfeited restricted
shares
ARGZ Recognition of share-based
payment
RESTRESE  Award shares vested under
SESBOHERA  an employee share incentive
scheme

20245 12A318  Asat 31 December 2024
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

BE  BXGE

Share Capital
capital reserve
ARETT ARKTR
RMB’000  RMB’000

1,124,647 8,418,533

FEA RHOXA
Frs it fifE TR REEN
Share-
Shares based
heldby  payment Statutory  Retained
trustee reserve reserve  earnings Total
ARMTT ARMTRT ARBTRT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB'000

(64,931) 34230 562,323 15,859,099 25,933,901

_ - - 12,655,298 12,655,298

(3,305)

= - - 12,655,298 12,655,298

(8,434,850)  (8,434,850)

4,957 = = = 4,957

5,516 - 5,516

59974  (39,746) -

16,923

1,124,647 8,415,228

= - 562,323 20,079,547 30,181,745
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31 December 2024

40. AQFHBARRE(K)

ARBERFEGANT - (B)

Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (continued)

SFEA )
BA  BAEE  FRRD  XNURE  ATRE  RERA @5t

Share-
Shares based
Share Capital heldby ~ payment  Statutory  Retained
capital reserve trustee reserve reseve  eamings Total

AREFT ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETRT ARETL ARETR
RMBOO0 ~ RMB000 RMBO00 RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

20231 A1H At1 January 2023

FREF Profit for the year

ERAEYESE  Total comprehensive income
for the year

EER022EKERES. Final 2022 dividend declared
HERMEZRARE Disposal of forfeited restricted
shares
R T Recognition of share-based
payment
RESTRESE  Award shares vested under
SEISBOEERY  anemployee share
incentive scheme

Fo023%E128318  Asat 31 December 2023

41, HEPEREH

RELE2024F 12 A31HILFER - #
ERAREAETE -

42, #LERTIEIREK
PR AEEZR2025F3 H25H
HEfE R IR RT3 o

1124647 8421604  (134,368) 45328 562,323 12,397,606 22,417,140

- - - - - 11,109,090 11,109,090

- - - - - 11,109,090 11,109,090

- - 1,284 - - (7647,597) (7,646,319)
- - 9748 - - - 9,746
- - - 25857 - - 25857
- B071) 58407 (36.955) - - 18381

1,124,647 8,418,533 (64,931) 34230 562,323 15,859,009 25,933,901

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material subsequent event after the year ended
31 December 2024.

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2025.
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